


REVOLT ON THE CLYDE






REVOLT ON THE
CLYDE

An Autobiography

William Gallacher, M.P.

ORIENTAL PUBLISHING HOUSE
BENARES



First Published 1n England, 193¢
First Indian reprint, 1945

Price Rs. 3/8 -

Frinted by Tara Printing W orks, Benares and published b3
the Socialist Literature Publishing Company, Agra



CLYDE

CONTENTS
PAGE
INTRODUCTION -~ - - 7
CHAPTER
I Earry Dayvs -~ - - 13
1! Joun McLeaN AND sOME OTHERS 26
I1] Txae FEBRUARY STRIKE - 37
IV “WEeg AreE Not PAvING INCRFASED
ReNT” - - - 52
V THE “JINGOES” TRY THEIR HANDS - 65
VI Tae CLypE IN WARTIME - 73
Vil ConNsSCrRIPTION AND Prisoxn - 103
VIt WorRKERS® AND SoLrLpDIiERrS’
CounciLs - - 131
IX LasT Davs OF Jorn McLlean - 172
X TuHe BaTtrreE ofF GEORGE SQUARE 187
X1 I MEeeT LENIN ~ - 212
XII Apter THE GENERAL STRIKE - 230

APPENDIX - - - 245






INTRODUCTION

EvoLT oN THE CLYDE is a story of the Clyde

workers and of how they carried on the struggle
against employers, landlords, and warmakers from
August, 1914, till the great “40 hours” strike -
January, 1920. Now, after twenty years, we are
facing all the horrors and privations of a new
imperialist war—a war more terrible than anything
ever known before. In such a situation there are
many lessons to be learned from the past, and it is
with the hope that Revolt on the Clyde may contribute
towards this end that this new Edition is being
published.

The present war could have been avoided. By
supporting the forces of peace and progress throughout
the world Britain could have made war impossible -
but because of their class interests the British ruling
class was not prepared to work for geace. To have
sought the support of the millions of working people
through Europe who have a loathing for war woulc
have led to friendship with the U.S.S.R., the strength-
ening of the international working class movemen®
and, thus, towards the overthrow of capitalism,

Since the Russian workers in 1917 seized anc
maintained power, the British ruling class has pursued
a consistent policy of provocation against the first
socialist state. Intervention, blockade, the Curzon
Ultimatum, the Arcos Raid, the breaking off of trade
relations, all these, and other incidents during the
last twenty-three jears, have demonstrated the
undying hatred of the monopoly capitalists for an
e mancipated working class.

It was this fear of losing power to the workers
which made war inevitable. In Hitler’s advent tc

pcwer the rulers of this country imagined they saw
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their saviour ftom “Bolshevism.” ¢*‘Strengthen him,
support him,’’ they said, ‘and let him attack the
Soviet Union—the Soviet Union whose grouwing
prosperity is an increas:ng incitement to the workers
of all lands to overthrow the capitalists system ’ DBut
the Soviet Union was too powerful for Hitler to try
couclusions. The Brtish ruling class in :ts hatred and
fear of socialism sabotaged the opportunity of =2
Russian pact, and now our people have to pay in
blocd and tears.

Night after night bombs are crashing down on
London and other towns and cities throughout the
country, yvet no adequate shelter has been provided.
Money for Hitler to make the bombs was forthcoming
before ths war, but there was no money to protect
the people from the bombs Such is the policy of
our ruling class, who now would bave us believe that
thev are engaged in a great crusade for freedom and
democracy. But not for India and the Colonial
peoples. They must still remamn in fetters to the
Imperialists. And not for Spain, so shamefully
betrayed in its epic struggle, when German and
(talian bombers were raining death and destruction
on th.e people of Spain. “The defence of Madrid is the
defence of London™ declared the Communist Party.
How true that was is now obvious to all.

Nor does the sole responsibility rest with the
Tory party. The Labour leaders kept the National
Government 1in existence. Mr. Greenwood, Deputy
leader of the Labour Partly, boasted that the Govern-
ment ‘“‘couldn’t last a day without the support of the
Lobour Party.” They pursue the same policy n
1940 as in 1914, a policy of collaboration 1n the
militaristic adventures of the ruling class and the
destruction of trade union rights and personal liberty.
At Basle in 1912 the International Socialist Congress
affirmed its determination to give no support for
imperialist war, and to utilize the crisis caused by
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suchk a war for the destruction of cap.talism. At tize
Hastings Conference of the Labour Party {1933) the
Labour Leaders welcomed a resolution ‘‘to take nc
part in war and to resist it with the whole force of
the Labour movement . . . including a General
Strike.” In 1914, just as at the present day, the
workers were not only deserted, but actively repressed
by their own leaders.

Yet there never was a time when there was greater
need of 2 strong independent working class move-
ment. From the earliest days of the war the ruling
class sought to deprive the workers of all their hard-
won rights and liberties. Ministers are given powers
to destroy the free press, to stop public meetings, tc
make conversations in the workshop a crime, Lo enter
and search homes or arrest the occupants without =
charge of any kind. Among the many that have
taken place there is the case of John Mason, the
Mexborough Trade Unionist, who has been for severa?
months in an internment camp with no charge of
any kind preferred against him.

But despite the regulations and the servility of
the Labour Leaders, the movement in the country
expresses itself in many forms. Most important of
all is the powerful shop-stewards’ movement that is
once more coming to the fore. True, the conditions
confronting the workers in this war are different in
many respects from the last war, but, nevertheless,
shop-stewards will now, as on the Clyde, constitute
a most powerful factor in determining the course of
working class history.

Attempts have already been made to hinder the
work of the shop-stewards by compulsory transfer,
but the decision of the workers in certain factories
to take a “prolonged holiday” has for the time being
checked this form of attack. At the same time, the
Purchase Tax and the Means Test, operating as they
do against the parents of the soldiers and against the
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old-age pensioners, have also aroused widespread
feeling throughout the country.

All these currents are now flowing into the great
People’s Movement towards the holding of a People’s
Convention in January, 1941—a Convention which
will mark a turn in history and inspire the forces in
this and other countries to bring this disastrous war
to a speedy end.

The Convention will discuss the following six
points : (1) Defence of the People’s living standards.
(2) Defence of the People’s democratic and trade
union rights. (3) Adequate air-raid precautions, deep
bombprcof shelters, re-housing and relief of victims.
(4) Friendship with the Soviet Union. (5) A People’s
Government truly representative of the whole people,
and able to inspire the confidence of the working
people of the world. (6) A People’s peace to eradicate
the causes of war.

This People’s platform points the way out of the
war and to end capitalist exploitation. We were
tricked at the end of the last war, we must be certain
we are not tricked again. Buat there is one funda-
mental difference between this war and the last, of
which every worker—every man and woman who
desires peace and security, must take note With
the commencement of the last war, there was a
complete collapse of the Second International. All
the Parties of Social Democracy fell into line behind
their respective ruling classes, as is also the case to-
day. There was one notable exception—the Bolshevik
section of the R S.D.L.P., now the Cummunist Party
of the Soviet Union, [5.]. This great Partly, the
Party of Lenin and Stalin, with small groups of loyal
revolutionaries in the belligerent countries, stood firm
against the war and for a2 working class solution of
the war.

But while the party of Lenin had mastered the
theory and practice of Marxism, this certainly could
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not be said of those swho led the struggle in the
Ciyde. In practice we carried out some very effective
revolutionary work, but the value of it was dissipated
because we lacked the necessarv understanding of the
need for a political party which would give theoretical
guidance and direction in the practical day-to-day
work that was being carried out.

But to-day this weakness has been overcome. ' In
our country, as in all countries, the Comimunist Party
leads the struggle of the workers against war and
against war-makers. Unlike the Second International,
the Communist International, based as it is on the
fundamental teachings of Marx and Lenin, stands
firm against the Imperialists—against the destruction
and death they would bring upon humanity. With
such a party and its fighting paper, Zhe Daily
Worker, leading the workers, the Labour leaders will
find all their efforts at betrayal unavailing,

Conscious of this aim the common people will
move forward in ever increasing strength to the
working class solution of the war—tc the destruction
of capitalism

\W.G.
October, 1940.






CHAPTER 1
EARLY DAYS

MY object in writing this book is to tell of my

experiences in the working-class struggle. 1 'do
not intend to go into intimate details about my family
and my childhood. Insofar as I touch upon these
things at all it will be only to mention one or twc
ircidents in my early Iife that had a definite bearing
upon my becoming a working-class agitator.

1 was born—the fourth of seven children—in the
famous thread town of Paisley, on Christmas Day,
1881. My father was Irish, my mother a H'gh-
lander. The former died when I was seven years old.

My mother, who had to work hard while my
father was alive, had to work still harder after his
death. She went out washing ard had to slave for
every penny she got. Often, on my way back from
school, I would go and meet her coming from her
work and accompany her home. I used to feel .t a
terrible thing that my mother should have to toi!
so cndlessly I made up my mind that as soon as [
could work for her she should go out washing nc
more,

1 got my first job when I was ten years old—
carrymng milk-cans every morning from six till about
half-past eight. For this I was paid a shiling
and a few coppers every week. What joy it was
when first I could give my mother something towards
my keep.

When I reached the age of twelve I left the sckool
for ever and got my first full-time job, as a grocer’s
boy. I was a willing worker, a fact of which my
new boss tcck full advantage. 1 spent my days
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carrying heavy loads, but I enjoyed it. It was only
my capacity for hard work that saved me from early
dismissal, for I could never stomach speaking to my
‘“‘betters’’ with the deference my employer thought
I should assume.

But the limit was reached one Tuesday—my half
holiday. On my way home on that day I was used
to. carry a large basket of provisions to the home of
my employer’s sister-in-law. As her house was on
my way home I never objected to this. Her son,
my employer’s nephew, was himself an assistant in
the shop.

On this particular Tuesday however, just as we
were putting the shutters up, a load of smoked hams
was delivered at the shop “Wait a minute,” said
the boss, and he opened the load and took out 2 ham,
which he started to bone and string up.

I waitted in growing impatience to get on my
-vay, not for one minute but for quite a considerable
time. It was nearly half-past two when the boss
finished. He then came to me with the ham. puat
it in the basket beside me, and 1astructed me to
deliver it to a customer who had it on order.

This meant going a long way out of my road
home, so 1 looked up and said to the boss: “Do you
know 1 finish at two on Tuesdays ?”” I have never
seen a man look more astonished than he did then.
‘*“What do you mean ?”’ he gasped. [ told him |
meant that I would deliver the groceries as usual, but
not the ham.

He looked at me as if | were some unusual kind
of insect and burst into a storm of abuse. But I
stood firm. He gave me up as hopeless and tried
new tactics. “‘Go out and get another boy,” he
yelled at his nephew.

I was very young, but not too young to see
through bluff of this sort. You can’t find boys who
will “‘deliver the goods” hanging about on street
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corners. But the nephew went dutifully out.

““Are you going to deliver them or not 2’ the boss
asked in a threatening tone. I repeated what I had
said before. ‘‘Then, out of here,” he shouted. Sol
got out.

The nephew was waiting outside for me. He
pleaded with me to go back and take the load. “If
you don’t,” he groaned, “I’ll have to.”” This did not
worry me greatly, “I’ll take the usual lot,” ] said
once again, ‘‘but nothing else.”” I then went home.

When I told my mother what had happened she
just shook her head. She couldn’t understand very
clearly what it was all about, but she always had a
belief that ‘*‘oor Whullie’ll no’ go far wrong.” This
was the first time I bhad serious {irouble with an
emgloyer.

I went back to the shop next morning. *“What
do vou want ?”  shouted the boss. “I want my
money ” I replied. *“at the same time [’ll carry on if
vou like till sou get another boy ’® Believe it or not,
I held that job down for months aufter. just as if
nothing bad happened. But [ was never asked again
to stop after recognized closing hours

As soon as 1 was fourteen ! left the grocer and
got a job in a sanitary engineering shop. Soon after
this 1 took up with the Temperance movement,
having an awfol, deep-seated hatred of the booze.
This arose from my {family, especially my mother,
having suffered horribly from my father’s over-
addiction to alcohol. He was a good husband and
an exceptionally affectionate father, and in the later
years of his life mastered the booze craving com-
pletely.

1 might mention here that my father was one of
the last men to be branded on the back for desertion
from the Army. He deserted to be near my mother
when she was very ill. For that the branding-iron
was used on him, and he carried a burped-sin D
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between his shoulders for the rest of his days.

When anyone saw it and asked what this “D’
denoted, my father would shrug his shoulders and
reply, “For decency.”” | was still very young when
my father died, but my eldest brother was already a
young man. He was my mother’s favourite child.
She was fond of all of us, but how she adored the oldest
boy ! When he developed a weakness for alcohol it
almost drove her crazy. Her suffering was so acute
that I used to clench my boyish fists in rage every
time I passed by a pub.

In my new job I had a desperate desire tc make
good and get my mother away from the washtub as
soon as possible. I wa-~ nineteen before this was
possible, but by tien the jomnt earnings ot my sisters
and myself enabled my mother to give up her back-
breaking toil. But the long yeurs of arduous labour
had been too much for her. \ few short months
later, at the early age of fifty-four, she collapsed and,
after a few weeks’ illness, died.

Just a typical tragedy of working-class life. A
tragedy I have seen repeated many times in workers’
homes. Nevertheless, a tragedy I shall never forget,
To the last my mother adored her eldest son ; to the
last she maintained—even though in her latter days I
was reading ‘‘strange’’ (Socialist) boocks—*“Oot
Whallie’ll no’ go far wrong.”

But although a keen student of Socialism, always
arguing in whatever factory I was working, as late as
1906 when I was twenty-four years of age, 1 refused
to support Bob Smillie’s parliamentary candidature in
Paisley, because he was a director of a Public House
Trust. The young woman who was later to become
my wife was an ardent supporter of Smillie and nearly
broke her heart at his defeat. I[f she could have got
at me then she would have broken my head.

The election over, I learned to my disgust that
those self-same colleagues of the Temperance move--
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ment who nad weaned me from Smillie by talk of
his association with the Trust, had been busily at
work during the election supporting the candidature
of Sir Thomas Glen Coats in Renfrewshire, in the fuil
knowledge that he was associated with a similar
Trust. That finished me with the organized Tem-
perance movement. [ severed my connection with it
and looked around for new associates.

I joined the Paisley branch of the Independent
Labour Party, which made another new member on
the same night. His name was Pat Machray., We
became the closest of friends and quickly found our-
selves reacting similarly to our new surroundings.
They smacked too much of the Sunday School. They
were too much like what we were both trying to get
away from.

We searched around for somethiny more suited
to our temperaments, and discovered a small group
of Marxists who met 1n a cobbler’s shop. We joined
up with them and soon a branch of the Social Demo-
cratic Federation was in full swing. Machray and I
were on the platform every Sunday night. { was a
heavy, slogging sort of speaker, putting all I had into
the propaganda of socialism. But Machray had a
touch of genius. His speeches, even in those carly
days, were a compound of wit and brilliance.

He kept up a constant string of controversies in
the local paper—the Paisley Daily Express—and his
letters were of a character that a mere mention on the
poster of a ‘“Letter from P.)M.” was sufficient to
guarantee the edition selling out. Added to these
gifts, he had great skill with a pencil and given the
opportunity might well have become an outstanding
cartoonist.

Alas, driven by necessity, Pat took a job on the
Gold Coast. Ten months later he returned to
Scotland broken in health. Two months after his
return he died. I sat all night with him as he gasped
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out his life. We had been very close and dear
comrades and it was agony to watch him passing.
So bright he had been, so rich in ideas, so capable
of doing great things for the cause to which he was
devoted ; yet he was crushed out of existence in the
very struggle to maintain it.

Through the Social Democratic Federation [ came
into contact with John McLean. whose fine revo-
tutionary fervour made a great and lasting appeal to
me, and played a great part in determining the
course of my life.

1909 was a vear of great unemployment in
Scotland. I had trouble with the foreman on the
;ob, trouble which ended with my getting the sack.
I started hunting for another job, but none could
I find. The country was gotng throagh an unemploy-
ment crisis which resulted in the introduction of the
Insurance Acts a year or so later

Just as [ was getting desperate I ran across an
old pal who was a steward on a transatlantic liner.
After a talk with him I went to the docks and tried to
get a ship. When a ship docked the stewards ‘‘wor-
ked by,” loading up provisions, bedding and other
things associated with their department. Often
extra hands were taken on tor this work. I got an
occasional job of this kind before succeeding in
getting signed on as a steward with the Allan liner,
Laurentian.

The job was awful—cleaning. scrubbing and
serving food. I was soon in trouble with my
colleagues because I had refused a tip. They had to
rely on tips to make up their wages, and they were
naturally always on the look out for them. But I
could never accustom myself to accepting them.
The very idea of holding out my hand was repugnant
and, in addition, most of the passengers I came in
contact with were very poor and obviously needed
every penny they had to make a start in their new
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life. However, that is by the way.

Boston was reached. Passengers and cargo were
unloaded and we got ready for the return trip. We
left Boston on a Friday. On Sunday afternoon we
ran into a thick fog. All night we went steaming
through it with but the vaguest notion where we
were. At 5-30 on the Monday morning the ship
came to an abrupt stop. We had crashed into a reef
off the Newfoundland coast We hadn’t many
passengers aboard, fortunately, so with some difficuity
we got them into the boats ; with still greater difficulty
we found a place where we could land.

The cove where we landed was used as a fishing
station in the summer and there was a group of huts
there which provided us with shelter till we were
picked up by a Newfoundland boat on the Tuesday
afternoon, and taken to St. Johns. While waiting
to be picked up I learned that, according to the
Regulations, the company could stop our pay from
the time the ship struck, no matter when we got
back. DBut, everyone was confident the Allan Line
would pav up for the whole duration of the vovage.

On Tuesday afternoon when tne Prospero lay off
the cove to pick us up, we loaded the passengers and
their baggage in the boats and rowed them out. As
soon as we got aboard we got tea, bread and mar-
garine and bully beef. We cleared the tables in
record time. We had to remain at St. Johns a week
before we were picked up by the Allan liner Mongo-
Ziar, which took us back to Glasgow.

Arrived at Glasgow we were handed our pay
sheets just before leaving the ship. What a shock !
Eighteen day’s pay! Our pay stopped from the
moment the ship had struck the reef! I, for one,
could scarcely believe my eyes. Eighteen days at
Zs. a day. Thirty-six bob, from which I had to pay
17s. 11d. for the clothes received before leaving,
clothes that were necessary for the job.
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1 got a number of the boys together and proposed
that we make a fight of it. I poiated out that we
had been under orders, and had carried ou:r orders on
the Tuesday, when we carried the passengers and
their baggage to the Prospcro. But the boys
wouldn’t face up to it.

The next day we had to return to the .ongolian
to sign off We formed upin a gueue and proceeded
through the saloor where the chiet purser and several
other officers were seated with the representative of
the Board of Trade. One by one we were paid what
money was coming to us and were duly signec cff.

*“When it came to myv turn [ put down my wages
sheet, and pointing to the deductions, asked, *“What
do you mean by this ©° They all slared at e, then
the purser barked, ‘\Woiat do ;ou wean P I mean,”’
I replied, “‘that thirty-six bob is due to me from the
company, and thirty-six bob is wrat I want.”

The purser tried a tone of sweet reasonableness.
“Bat,” he said ‘‘you’ve got to pay ror the goods
you’ve had.”

“All right,” said I, “but that’s my business and
vou can leave it toc me. In the meantime the Company
owes me thirtv-six shillings and I do3’t sign off till
I’ve got the thirtv.six shillings ”

That seemed to stump him. The purser looked
to the Board of Trade man for assiscance in his
plight but received none. As the latter sat silent I
thought I had better give him a jog. “You’re here,”
i1 said, ‘‘to see that we get proper treatment, so please
get me thirty-six shillings.”

By this time the purser had somewhat recovered
his composure and said : “Well, we can’t do anything
here about it. You’d better come to the office on
Monday.” 1 passed through the saloon without sign-
ing off. On the deck the boys gathered round me.
“You won’t get anything by this,” was the general
tenor of their remarks. *Well, I wor’t sign off uatil
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. do,”” 1 replied

On Mondaxr ! went to the office in Bothweli
Street good and eariy. I sent my name in and the
manager came out In full view and hearing of the
clerics he started to teil me what he thought of me—
ard 1t wasn't much. 1 retorted in kind, so he sent
for the police to have me removed. Two policemen
;amre and persuacded me to leave. [ made my way down’
to the dccks and had to stand a lot of chaff from the
ocovs who were hanging around for ancther ship.
But at two o’cleck a clerk came down from the office
‘cok’ng for Gallacher. The Shere Superintendent
-vanted to see me, I was toid.

So to see the Shore Superintendent 1 went. ¢“1
eur you made an awful scene up at Bothwell Street,”’
he said. 1 told hym | had only handed back what 1
was getting. “But,” he said. ‘it was a mistake to
cs& rour temper. Now if vou were to go up again
'n- s~ure it would be ali right.”

: uncerstocd wanat thar meant, so to Bothwell
Strest I went ormce mora. As scun as they saw me
the clerks started whispering, obviously hoping I had
come to pbring a little more excitement into their dull
lives. But theyv were doomed to disappointment,
Instead of the Manager out came the purser, who
asked me to go to the Board of Trade with him,
assuring me that everything was now settled.

At the Board’s office 1 was given the thirty.six
shiliings, the deductions were struck off my wages
sheet and I signed. signing at the same time my ﬁmsh
with the Allan Line

When 1 showed the boys on the dock-side my
thirty-six bob and my wages sheet, they nearly went
cock-eyed.  Their only consolation was the belief
that I would never get another job out of the Port
of Glasgow.

But the next day I was down on the docks good
and early, having heard that the C’alzfornsa, an

[
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Anchor Line boat, was in from New York. Ar
enormous crowd of unemployed seamen had also
arrived with the hope of getting signed on. Included
among them were most of the stewards who had been
with me on the Laurentian. I found out the name
of tne Cnief Steward—a Mr. Wheat—and made as .f
to walk off the dock. A few minutes later I came
back running as fast as 1 could to the Caléforni..
I went up the gangway at a fine pelt. To the
seaman on watch at the top of the gangway I said
breathlessly : “I»e & most 1mportant message for
Mr. Wheat, where can [ find him P’ He directed
me and I knocked at the door of the Chief Steward’s
rocm

On entering I found a pleasant-looxing man
sitting in a very comfortable cabin. e got up as
I entered and oifered me « seat. | opened with :
*Have you heard, Mr Wheat, that the Zawreniian
was sunk a couple of weeks ago P>’ This was near
to him and he was immediately intetested. 1 told hin:
about the wreck and ce¢xpressed the hope that ho
would forgive me for breaking in on him. [ went on
to explain the difficulty I had had 1n getting signed
on in the first instance, and how, after iy first tiip,
I was on the stones once more. He asked me a few
friendly questions, then told me to come up the
following day and ‘ work by,” promising that he
would see that [ was signed on with the old bhands
on Thursday.

So, on Saturday. much to the disgust of my
Laurentian colleagues, I went sailing off once more.
But I never took to the sea and after several winter
voyages in the wildest weather I packed it up and
once more started the hunt round the Glasgow
workshops for a job. 1 had afew jobs, none of which
lasted long, before I eventually landed one in the
Albion Motor Works.

That was in the middle of 1910. I remained
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there for two and a half jears, curing which C
acquired much valuable experience. They were a fine
crowd of boys at the Albion and I was quickly at
home among them. 1 liked tke work and acquirec
a high degree of proficiency at it. That, and the
fact that 1 was an excellent time-keeper, scon made &
good impression. But the main thing was my
willingness to help, advise and defend my mates
against any attempted tyranny of the foreman. I
scon became the recognised workers’ leader in the
factory, acquiring a gpositicn of considerable power
and influence. A group quickly collected arcund me
which was able to keep up a ccntinucus stream of
revoluticnary literature, with regular discussior
classes at the midday meal hour.

Qutsicde the factory, at the week-ends snd in the
evening, 1 was continuously engaged in agitation,
giving particular attenticn to the growing menace
of war arnd ccnducting anti-militarist propoganda.
This brought me an amusing experience in 10912
when I was invited to take the chair at an anti-
militarist demonstraticn organized by Clarion Scouts
in the Pavilion Theatre.

The meeting was to be addressed by Gustave
Hervé, a French barrister, the best:known anti-
militarist in Euiope, scon to become notorious far his
gross betrayal of every pricciple he had ever professed.

Along with Hervé was to speak Guy Bowman,
the English Syndicalist who acted as his agent i
Britain. Already it was beginning to be obvious
that Hervé was preparing to rat, and the Clarion
Scouts cancelled his engagement. A frantic search
for substitutes was made. At last two were found
willing to speak—two Anaichists— Madame Sorge
and Guy Aldred.

Madame Sorge was an impressive lcoking female
who affected a huge sombrero hat and a bright red
sash around her shoulders. She thought herself the

2
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greatest show on earth. She was Napoleon—or
thought she was. But Aldred had similar ideas about
himself. And how could the lady be Napoleon if tne
gentleman were really he ?

And this was the question that was fought out
at the meeting. Instead of being chairman at an
anti-imperialist meeting I found myself refereeing at a
personality contest between two of the most childish
egoists I have ever seen.

I was campaigning closely with Joha McLean
during this period. This brought me into close con-
tact with masses of workers, not only on the Clyde
but throughout Scotland as a whole. In Lanarkshire
and Fife socialist propaganda was making great
neadway and already in those early days West Fife
was justifying its splendid fighting history, a history
~which included the winning of the eight-hour day for
the miners of Britain.?

But I wasn’t campaigning alone, so far as Paisley
was concerned. A new Socialist propagandist made
his appearance, a pale, sallow-complexioned boy of
sixteen or so. His name was John Ross Campbell,
and he was a shop assistant employed by the Paisley
Co-operative Society. I have never met anyone who
so cagerly devoured all the Socialist literature that
came his way, nor one who profited so muca by what
he read, ¢‘‘The Boy,” as he was called, started off
by taking the chair for me, but very soon he was
fully capable of taking the meeting himself.

One incident stands out in my mind in this con-
nection more clearly than any other. It concerns the
presence in this country of the deported South
African strike leaders. A great protest meeting in
T 11In 1870 when the fight for the shorter working day
was being waged in the mineflelds, the men of West Fife
sook an historic decision. They decided to cease work at the
end of eight hours. This deocision they carried oub and despite

every effort of the owners they stuck to it. It is this greab
victory which is celebrated at the annual Fife Gala.
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<heir support was held at Paisley, and several of the
deportees were present.

We of the S.D.F. had been Iinvited to send a
speaker to the meeting, and “The Boy’’ was chosen
as our representative. Two Labour Baillies were the
“Top of the Bill.”” They both did their best to appear
statesmanlike, but failed miserably. Then J.R.C.
came on. His clear, logical reasoning. coupled with
his obvious sincerity, carried the meeting to the
highest pitch of enthusiasm. Amidst thunderous
applause he sat down and the deportees stepped across
the platform and one after another warmly shook him
by the hand. We were all very proud of ‘“The Boy.”

in the first months of the war he was swept from
the grocer’s shop into the Army. But throughout
the period of his military service I kept up the closest
contact with him and when, as a result of wounds
and frost-bite he was discharged early in 1918 we took
up where we had left off in the early days of the war.
He is now one of the best and most loyal comrades in
the leadership of the Communist Party.

At the beginning of 1913 I decided to visit
America to see two of my sisters who had made their
homes in Chicago. Before going I persuaded jJean
Roy, wino was then and has been ever since my most
loyal comrade, to marry me. It is a matter of
common knowledge among my comrades that the
never-failing support of my wife, her unfailing
courage in times of the greatest difficulty and danger,
has been one of the most important factors in my life
as a revolutionary agitator.

Ireturned from America in January 1914 and
after working for several months in Belfast at steel
structural erecting for a Glasgow firm, I got back
into the Albion. I received a great welcome from
all the boys and by the time the war broke out I
had won for myself an established position as the
leader of the workers in the factory.



CHAPTER 1II
JOHN MCLEAN AND SOME OTHERS

N July 1914 the shop stewards, who were in
general the advance guard of Socialism in the
factories, went off for their annual summer holidays
determined on their return to make the engineering
shops 100 per cent trade union in preparation for
the struggle that lay ahead in the November of that
year. Notice had been given to the employers that,
with the termination of the three years’® agreement
in November, a demand would be made for an
increase of two pence per hour That meant Os. extra
in wages for the 54-hour week, which at that time
was the rule, or an increase of weekly rates from
36s to 453s.

But that 1914 summer was to prove the last care-
free holiday for thousands of Clyde workers. Already
when we returned to work towards the end of July,
the clouds of war were heavy over Europe; and
then in the first week in August we were swept
into the maelstrom.

What terrible attraction a war can have ! The
wild excitement, the illusion of wonderful adventure
and the actual break in the deadly monotony of
working-class life ! Thousands went flocking to the
colours in the first days, not because of any “love
of country,” not because of any high feeling of
“patrictism,” “but because of the new, strange and
thrilling life that lay before them. Later the reality
of the fearsome slaughterhouse, with all its long
agonv of filth and horror, turned them from buoyant
youth to despair or madness.

That the same illusions could be created again
was made evident recently by the Jubilee Celebrations
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‘n London and some proviacial centres, Attention
was drawn in the Press to the fact that in the most
poverty-stricken areas the greatest amount of jubilee
decorations was evident. What a chance in these
unspeakably drab and miserable streets to get some
colour, to get achange, to finish if only for a day or
two with the sordid monotony of life and live free
from police interference and restrictions, as the
“‘great ones” live! For a little moment, as in the
first days of a war, all barriers are broken down, it was
“their” king as well as that of the dukes and finan-
ciers, exactly in the same sense as it was ‘‘ their”’
country.

But the Clyde was not altogether taken by sur-
prise when war broke out Apart from the general
propaganda for Socialism which had for long been
conducted throughout the West of Scotland by the
Social Democratic Party, the Independent Labour
Party and the Socialist Labour Party, there had been
carried on for a number cf years an intense anti-war
and anti-militarist propaganda which continually ex-
posed the war intrigues of the British Government.
In the forefront of this campaign was that indomitable
and irrepressible revolutionary fighter, John McLean.

It is not possible for anyone to understand or
appreciate the events which took place in Glasgow
and the Clyde throughout the years of the war with-
out a knowledge of the part played by this great
Scottish revolutionary ; yet because of the most wilful
and unpardonable neglect, the story of his life, which
would have been an inspiration to workers everywhere,
has never been published.

When he died, the I[.L.P.ers, with whom he had
never associated when alive, took an active part in
organizing a ‘‘Testimonial Fund.” For the purposes
of this fund, they persuaded Mrs. McLean to hand
over to them all Mclean’s papers and records on the
promise that this material would be used for publish-
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ing a life of McLean, the proceeds from which would
go to the fund. The material was handed over to
Maxton. When [ heard of this, many months later,
I called on Maxton and offered him my assistance.
He told me the book was just about finished and that
he would let me see it when it was completed.

Since that time I have made several attempts to
get the material, as has also J. Figgins of the N.U.R.,
who was secretary of the Mclean Committee, but
without avail. The LL.P. which had no time for
DicLean when he was alive, has succeeded in sup-
pressing his biography since his death.

John McLean was a schoolmaster, but unlike the
group of Glasgow schoolmasters attraclted to the
Labour Party and the opportunity for a “brilliant
career’” by Ramsay MacDonald, McLean became an
earnest, energetic disciple of Marx.

His whole life centred in the fight for revolution-
ary Socialism.  Night after night he was on the
streets or in the halls. In the summer the long school
holidays gave him new opportunities. Everywhere
he went he carried the torch. Ajyrshire in the West,
Dumfries in the South, Fife in the East, Dundee and
Aberdeen in the North. All over Scotland he went,
rousing the workers for war against capitalism.
Of medium height and sturdy build, he was a living
dynamo cof energy, driving, zalways driving towards
his goal—the revolutionary struggle for power—the
realization of the Socialist Commonwealth.

But he was not only a great mass agitator, masses
of workers eagerly crowding to hear him wherever
he went; he was above all a great Marxian teacher.
His classes, established throughout Scotland, brought
crowds of young workers into contact with Marxian
Socialism for the first time.

He was the actual founder of the Scottish Labour
College, and it would be difficult to travel to any part
of the world where the English language is spoken
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without coming across someone who had been .n one
of John McLean’s classes.

When war was declared his energy and activity
surpassed anything we had seen before. From the
first moment he declared his DMarxian faith—swar
against the war-makers. Breathing hatred for the
capitalist class and the destruction with which it
ihreatened humanity, bhe went about the streets of
Glasgow rousing the workers to a fury of anger
against the war and the war-makers. Very soon
after the outbreak of war he was arrested, and pro-
secuted in the police court in a minor charge. This
was enough for the school authorities, He was
sacked. From that moment all his time was devoted
to the fight. Day and night he gave to the cause.
He was certainly the greatest revolutionary figure
Scotland had produced, and we will meet him again
many times later in this book.

Another striking figure, but of an entirely differ-
ent character, was John Wheatley., Wheatley was a
small business man, of miner stock, with a round,
pleasant face and a very broad, attractive smile,
He wore thick glasses which added to his miid,
benevolent appearance, but behind the glasses was
a pair of keen, watchful eyes that spoke of a brain
ever active and subtle,

He was a Catholic who had outgrown religion.
He used to say in a cynical way: ‘““You fellows get
terribly excited about God. Why don’t you leave
Him alone and instead of allowing the others to use
religion against you, use it against them ?” It was
with some such idea that he started the Catholic
Socialist Society.

Soon several priests in Glasgow were in full cry
against him. He polemized against them to such
effect that they started attacking him in the Church.
Mob feeling was worked up against him to such an
zxtent that one evening a huge crowd assembled
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In Shettleston and marched to his house, threatening
to stone it and set fire to it. Just as the crowd was
approaching the house from one end of the street,
the postman arrived at the door from the other.
Against the advice of his friends inside, who could
[aear the roar of the crowd, Wheatley walked to the
door, took a letter from the postman, slit it open,
and read it calmly on the steps; then, with a casual
look at the astonished crowd, he walked in and shut
the door. It was as though every ons had been
drenched with ice-cold water. Not another shout.
They scattered ingloriously and disappeared.

That was Wheatley—always able to keep his
head, always calm and calculating ; but sometimes,
when hard pressed, showing the fires of venom that
were always banked up.

While there was n2ver open enmity batwesn
McLean and Whaatley, there could never be any
‘riendship or collaboration. McLean was utterly
ancompromising in his fight for the revolution ;
Wheatley could see progress only through =2 con-
tinuous series of compromises and iatrigues

But what of the engineers when the war broke
out 2 Wages which had been inadequate bzfore,
rapidly became worse From the very first days the
profiteers were on the job. “There’s profit in
blood” ; more, a thousand times more, than in any
booze racket in Chicago; and where there are
profits the Al Capones of all sizes will be found.
Prices first, then rents. The difficulties of the house-
wives increased daily. In the workshops we agitated
continually. Meal-hour discussion circles, with a big
sale of revolutionary books, pamphlets and periodicals,
had for long been a common feature in most of the
Clyde factories, but following the outbreak of war
these increased vastly in range and importance.

There is a common illusion that the [.L.P,
which was the largest Socialist party numerically in
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Glasgow and the Clyde area, played a leading role
in the fight against war. Nothing could be farther
from the truth. The ILL.P. was thoroughly oppor-
tunist and, with its traditional adaptability to
circumstances, very carefully dodged the issue.
About a month after the start of the war the Scottish
District of the I.L.P. issued a circular advising I L.P,
propagandists to avoid all controversial questions
about the war. It never at any time formulated
and carried through a decided policy, but left its
members to find their way as best they could, some
of them specializing as patriots, while others,
especially the younger members, moving towards
“Quaker” pacifism,

Typical of the many-sitled opportunism of the
I.L.P. were P.J Dollan! and ZForward, the weekly
ijournal run by Tom Johnston. Dollan, now Glasgow
City Treasurer, was at first a “patriot,’” who
¢‘did his bit’> in the columns of the Daily Citizen,
until conscription was introduced. That was carry-
ing the war a bit too far, sc P.J. developed a
conscience. He went to the Home Office scheme
at Wakefield, where he spent most of the time in
hoepital. Later he was allowed a visit to Glasgow
ou sick leave, He never went back to the scheme

But while P. J.”s patriotism and pacifism appeared
at different stages, Forward presented both together.
Clever journalistic snippets from the pen of Tom
Johnston appeared on the front page, providing

1When P J. was in Waketield gaol in 1917, 1 wasin
Tieeds fulfilling an engagement and ftook the opporsumty of
going to Wakefleld. I succeeded in slipping into the prison
with a group of C O. prisoners who were out for the afternoon.
The locks had baen removed from the cell doors and the
prisoners were allowed to freely associate eifher in the cells
or in the hall.

I spent the evening in P. J.’s cell, entertaining a company
which included P. J and Bailie George Smith with selections
from Shakespeare and the I. W. W. song book,
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revelations about the profiteers, and the sort of people
who were fighting for democracy and high ideals,
such as the Tsar and some of his Russian, Freanch
and British pals; pacifist articles appeared on other
pages. But week after week the leading article was
filled with the wildest ravings against the Germans.
This was the work of Dr. Sterling Robertson, a
Glasgow Fabian who wrote under the pen-name of
Rob Roy.

While the rank and file of the I. L P. played their
part in the struggles that developed, the party itself
was incapable of playing any decisive role in the
fight against the war. The most energetic and
consistent agitators forming the leadership of the
Shop Stewards movement, were a group of S.L.P.ers
who had succeeded in breaking through the paraiysing
influence of De Leoaism,1

Two of these, now dead, were Arthur McManus
and J. W. Muir. The former was physically under-
sized and not strong, but he had a magnificent head
and a most attractive personality. He was an effec-
tive agitator, volatile and witty, and continually ir
demand all over the Clyde. “Johnny’’ Muir was the
complete opposite. He was one of the best comrades
in our movement for preparing and arguing a case.
In less arduous times he would have been a tower of
strength, but his extremely sensitive nature was quite
unfitted for the rough times that lay ahead. The
ordeal of a year’s imprisonment in Calton Jail in 1916
broke his spirit and lost him to the revolutionary
movement.

Of those still alive, Tommy Bell, a hard, never-
tiring worker, stands out. Dour, sometimes to the
point of stubbornness, when defending an opinion,

1De Leonism, called aifter Daniel De Leon, an Americar
Soclalist, the founder of the Socialist Labour Party, which
spread from U. S. A. to Scotland, but is now virtually extinet
in both countries.
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his apparent harshness and intolerance have often
created the impression of a lack of human sympathy.

But such an impression is entirely wrong. Behind
the rough exterior there is the deepest human feeling
and a wonderful fund of humour. I have been with
him, on what, without his company, would have
been long and tedious journeys. I have been witk
him in prison, and participated with him in the
early days of building the party and the Com-
munist International and always he was the loyal.
dependable comrade, who stood strong and firm nc
matter how the tide might flow against him.

Then there was Tommy Clark, Glasgow’s
greatest declaimer of De Leon’s petty bourgeois
phantasies. At one time, Tommy aspired to be
known as a sort of trade union iconoclast, a terror
to the bureaucrats; but now alas, he sits at the
headquarters of the Amalgamated Engineering Union
in Peckham Road, surrounded by icons in the form
of rules and regulations, and woe betide the unhappy
mortal who fails to bow down to them. Supported
by the mulitants, he got elected to the A.E.TU.
Executive, since when he has moved farther and
farther away from his former associations.

Another outstanding figure was David Kirkwood.
who finished with the S. L. P. early in the war.
Johnny Muir, who was editor of the Socialist, the
S.L.P. organ, was trying to argue a case for a
Socialist defending ‘“his own’ country, at a special
meeting in their hall in Renfrew Street. In the midst
of the discussion, and while Johnny was arguing a
certain point, Davy jumped up and shouted, “Naw,
naw, Joanie, that’ll no dae, the workers have nae
country. Ah’m feenished wi’ ye.” He shook the
dirt of Renfrew Street from his feet and found a
new haven and ultimately an empire in the [.L.P.

For myself, I was a member of the B.S.P., and
at that time a disciple of Jobn McLean. The B.S.P.
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was supposed to be a Marxist organization, but it
was dominated by the top-hatted Hyndman, who had
a special Marxist brand of his own.

For many vears a fight for genuine Marxism had
been carried on by McLean against the Hyndman
group, but this question was resolved by the war.
Hyndman was an imperialist and came out in
support of the war. This led to a split in the party:
the minorty, with Hyndman, formed the patriotic
National Socialist Party, the majority carried on the
party with a definite anti-war policy.

I swas already well-known as a revolutionary
agitator, and although I was on fairly good terms
with the I.L.P. in Glasgow, I never missed an
opportunity of exposing the opportunism of the
I.L.P. leaders. On one occasion, several years
before the +war, while speaking at a meeting
in Clydebank, I referred to MacDonald as the
“Pecksniff” and Snowden as the “Uriah Heep”’
of the Socialist Movement. This caused coasi-
derable anger in LL.P. and Labour Party circles.
After the first Labour Government in 1924, a
woman spoke to me after a meeting in the City
Hall, Glasgow. She reminded me of that earlier
meeting and of what 1 had said, and told
me she had been very angry, calling me every
name she could think of. “Now,” she added,
““I recognize you were quire right.”

On the first Sunday of the war, while John
McLean was rousing Glasgow, I, with the help of a
few comrades, organized a mass demonstration in
my home town, Paisley I went all out against the
war and against the young fellows joining up. There
were a few uneasy ‘‘patriots” in the crowd, but
on the whole the meeting favoured the line I was
advocating. This was brought out more clearly a
few weeks later when, at one of our regular Sunday
meetings, I was challenged to a debate. The
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challenger was a ‘‘patriotic” Socialist, who lived
in Renfrew, a town three miles from Paisley.

When the debate took place he served up the
usual stuff about Germany being the aggressor and
how necessary it was for the salvation of mankind
that German militarism should be destroyed.

«] have a dark road to travel home,”” he said.
«If someone on that road attacks me with a big
club, I want to ask Mr. Gallacher if I would be
justified in using a big club to defend myself 27’

I showed how all the countries had been preparing
for war for years; how the whole of British diplo-
macy had been directed towards isolating Britain’s
great trade rival, Germany; how Edward the
Seventh, called the Peacemaker, had really been
the ‘‘Pacemaker’” for war, and that what we had
to destroy was capitalism, beginning in our own
country. As for the ¢big club,” I said; ¢“If any-
body attacks you with a big club, I’ve no objection to
you using a big club, or even two if you can handle
them. And if Bethman Hollweg uses a big club
to attack Sir Edward Grey, I’ve no objection to
Sir Edward Grey using a big club on Bethman
Hollweg ; but one thing I’'m damned sure of, I'm
not going to be the big club and I'm going to do all
I can to prevent the working class being used as the
big club. We are accustomed to hear Irish National-
ists declare that ‘England’s adversity is Ireland’s
opportunity ;> I’ll paraphrase that and say the
adversity of the capitalist class is the opportunity of
the working class. Let us take advantage of it and
go forward for a victory, not for the imperialist
allies, but for the working class.”

When my opponent got up the second time he
gave himself away completely. He appealed to the
young men to volunteer for service. ‘“If you don’t,”
he cried, ‘‘conscription will be introduced and those
of us who are married will have to go.”> The crowd
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laughed him off the platform. He never showed
Ip any more.

But it was not only on Sunday nights that
meetings were held. Far from it. Every night in
the week was utilized for anti-war propaganda.
With John McLean leading, every available agitator
was brought on to the job. Rents, prices, wages,
wholesale slaughter—and for what ? The fameocus
Kitchener poster affirmed that “Your King and
Country need you,”” but wherever you read this
you could also read:

“Your King and Country Need You,
Ye hardy sons of toil.
But will vour King and Country need you
When they’re sharing out the spoii 27
Already in the earliest days we could show that
avery “‘racketeer,” big and little, was on the job;
<hat the slaughter was going on not in the interests
of the workers but in order to suppress working-
zlass rights and intensify exploitation. Great sup-
port was gained in all parts of the Clyde, but the
majority of the workers, so long under the influence
of the Yellow Press, still huang in the balance. It
aceded the fight on the wage issue to open their eyes
and show them what was actually going on.



CHAPTER 111
THE FEBRUARY STRIKE

Y November the campaign against the war, against

high prices and rents and for increased wages was
a full blast. Housewives as well as factory workers
-vere being brought into political activity. The Clyde
area was beginning to wake up—but only beginning.

And in November negotiations with the em-
olovers were begun on the tuppence-an-hour increase.
! was an executive member of the United Brass-
Jounders’ Association, one of the smaller unions which,
-vith some others, amalgamated with the Amalgamated
Society of Engineers after the war, forming the
Amalgamated Engineering Union.

As an executive member of my union I was
siected to the Allied Trades Committee, which conducted
megotiations with the emplovers on behalf of the
Boilermakers, Joiners, Pattern-makers, *‘Brassies,”
General Labourers and several other sections.
Another committee, composed of the A S.E , Plumbers
and two or three other unions, carried on separate
negotiations with the same employers for the same
demand. The negotiations were scandalous and
orovided new fuel for setting the Clyde ablaze. I
reported all that happened to the shop stewards and
thus it reached the factories and branch meetings.

The employers offered each committee an increase
of a halfpeany per hour, and then, after long dis-
cussions with the Engineering Committee, raised
the offer to three farthings. Qur Committee then
had another go at it, and we got the three farthiags
offer. This was followed by more discussion with
the Engineering Committee—then a deadlock.
Then a suggestion was put forward in our com-
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mittee (the Allied Trades), that we should try tc
induc: the emplovers to spring another farthing and
settie with them for a penny an hour increase. Thus
the smaller unions were to be used to ‘‘double-
cross’” the A S.E. and at the same time betray the
fight of the workers for the tuppence an hour.

I launched a violent attack on the originator of
this proposal Bailie Whitehead, the secretary of a
small West of Scotiand brassworkers’ union. JMlost
of those on the committee -iere prominent «flicials,
and it was obvious that they sympathized with the
proposal, although they were careful nct to commit
themselves opsealy. But it was clear that if the
emplovers cffered a penny thev would jump atit.
1 was still working in the Albion Motor Works and
they tried every dodge to keep me from attending
the meetings. They even went so far on one
occasion as to close the meeting, disperse, and then
by a prearrangement meet again without my know-
ledge. But my suspicions had been aroused, and
when one of my colleagues left me with a mumbled
excuse and I noticed he was going back the way
we had just come, I decided to follow him and, to
the consterpation of the committee, came breezing
in just when they had all got comfortably seated.

As we were to meet the employers the following
day, this manceuvre had been carried out so that
they could go ahead with an agreed policy of “a
penny and we’ll settle” My appearance upset
their little plan. YWe met the employers next day
with our original demand and no agreement on
anything else. But the employers were adamant and
would not advance on the three farthings. It was
clear to them that our side was not prepared to make
a fight and all they had to do was sit tight and talk
“patriotic.”’

One of them, representing a Paisley firm, let
himself go om the ¢‘plight of the boys in the
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trenches,” and how it was the duty of all of us tc
work and work and see that they bad everything
required for victory. Our side chipped in with
“hear-hears’’ and gave full approval to his patriotic
zeai. Then I told him and the others that he had a
damned cheek to talk to us in such a manner.
I said: “You’re not concerned about the ‘boys ing
the trenches’; they can be blown to hell for all
sou care. It’s profit youre after! There are twc
big guns at Greenlaw Goods Station ; they’ve been
lying there for three weeks and your firm refuses
to touch them till the price is raised fifty per cent.
Will you go out and tell the ‘boys in the trenches’
that? All right,” I continued, “I'll tell you some-
thing. We’re concerned about the ‘boys in the
factories.” We want twopence an hour and we’re
prepared to fight to get it.,”

There was a general hubbub when 1 finished.
Tre employers were indignant, whispering to one
another and obviously preparing to break off
negotiations. Thomson, the Blacksmiths’® official,
muttered to some of the others, “For Christ’s sake,
get him out of here, he’ll spoil everything.”” But he
was too late. The ‘‘spoiling” had been done.
The employers proposed to adjourn the meeting,
so there was nothing left to do but to retire and lick
our sores.

What a time we had then! Whitehead, Thomson
and several others were wild. Whitehead maintained
that the employers were on the point of conceding
the other farthing until I intervened.

“We can’t carry on negotiations with this man
present,”’ he declared, ‘“the employers won't meet
us any more if we have him with us.”

“Well,”” I replied, ¢*“you may not be able to
carry on mnegotiations with me, but you’re going tc
have a hard job negotiating without me. For where
you are there will I be also.” The significant thing

3



40 REVOLT ON THE CLYDE

about this meeting, however, was the fact that
Whitehead and Thomson were left with a very small
minority. The majority of the officials supported
+he line I had taken and strongly opposed any further
attempts to settle apart from the A.S.E., which
was insisting on the full demand.

. November and December passed, and we ware
maw in January 1915. Towards the end of Janaary
2 meeting of members was called by the Drass-
‘cunders’ Association in the 3t. Mungo Hall. The
hall was packed, everybody being in fighting
nood. The general secretary of the society, John
‘effers, had come up from Manchester. 1 made
3 spsesh in which I outlined the character of tne
-egotiations and the cynical attitude of the em-
ployers. < They think wa're a‘raid to take actioa,”
= said, ‘““and the condact of some of the officials
22s certainly encouraged that idea  They think
“hat because there are two committees negotiating,
“ne forces are solit. We must show them different.
1“¥e must declsre our solidarity with the A.S.E. in
he fight for the full demand. We must declare
sur readiness to take whatever action the circum-
stances demand.”

John Jeffers made a cautious speech in which he
sxpressed the hope that nothing rash would be
done ; at the same time he stated that the union was
“ehind the men in the fight for the tuppence-an-
Aour increase.

One of the members asked what our Glasgow
organizer had been doing during the discussions on
the Allied Trades Committee and in the negotiations
with the employers. “Is he a dummy?” The
organizer jumped to his feet: “No, I'm not a
dummy,” he declared, “I supported Gallacher in
everything he said.”” This meeting unanimously
declared for solidarity with the A.S.E. and for action
to secure the full demand.
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As wiil be readily understood, the issue was now
the subject of everyday discussicn in the factories
and union branches. By far the most powerful union
was the A.S.E. Its district secretary, Sam Buntin,
and district organmizer, Brodie, were anxious to get
a settlement and would have made big concessions
to secure it. But the membership, the branches and
the District Committee were strong for the fuil
cemand. If Whitenhead and company had succeeded
in pulling off a settlement at a penny an hour, thea
of couarse Brodie and Buntin could have used this as
a reason for settling on tae same terms for the
enzineers. Nothing could have been better for
weakening the opposition of the engineers than the
ability to point out that all the other unions represented
in the Allied Trades nad given up the fight and
accepted a settlement. DBut now the majority of these
uniorns, through their cfficial representatives, had
~eciared themselves not for a separate settlement,

b.t for solidarit; behiwnd ine engineers. This
strengthened tne whoie character of the struggle and

the agitation arourd it.

John McLean, through kis Marxist classes, vas
supplying a cont’auous stream of material for the
agitation. McLean never deait in “abstract”
Marxism of the Kautsky wvariety. He applied his
Marxist knowledge to the events arocund him and
used all that wés happening to show the truth of
Marxism. He demonstrated in the clearest manner
that the war was a war for trade and brought out
into full relief the sinister robber forces behind it.
He gave example after example of the financiers
and big employers pointing a gun at the head of
the Government and demanding increased profits,
and of other firms selling war material to neutrals
with the full knowledge that they were being re-sold
to Germany.

These examples, with instances of increased prices
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for ordinary commodities and higher rents, were
carried day after day into the factories. “The boys
at the front” were being slaughtered for profit, and
the very slaughter of the workers at the front was
being used for increased robbery of the workers at
home. War against the employers, against the
“‘profiteers,”” against the “rent-rackers” was now
beginning to overshadow the ‘‘war against Germany”’
in the minds of the Clyde workers.

Then, early in February. while the employers
were still adamant in their refusal to grant the tuppence
increase, a new *“incident™ occurred, and the whole
Clyde area was brought into action. As a conse-
quence of the rush of recruits in the early days of the
war and the great demand for output with which the
factories were faced, there was an actual shortage of
skilled workers for the engineering shops.

Weir’s, of Cathcart, which specialized in air-feed
and discharge pumps for the Admiralty, had a large
body of engineers, turners and fitters of a very high
quality. But Weir’s were short of men, so they
engaged some in America. They gave them a
return ticket from America to DBritain, 10s. more a
week than their own men were getting—although
these latter, because of their experience in this
particular class of work, were far ahead of the
Americans—and a guaranteed bonus of 410 at the
end of six months besides the higher wages. The
consequences of such an action might have been
foreseen. But, because of the ¢ patriotic ’ posturings
of the national trade union officials, who were vying
with each other in declarations of servility to the
war-mongers, and the weakness of some of the
district officials, the employers were convinced that
there was no possibility of the workers taking action.
They were prepared to put across the rawest kind
of deal.

But while the national officials of the trade union
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movement were truckiing to the Government and
¢ agreeing” that trade union rights should .be
« suspended,” while they were, in fact, being parties
o the crime of weakening the trade unions at a time
-wvhen it was more than ever necessary that they
should be strong, the workers in Cathcart faced the
juestion quite otherwise. For the very life of trade
anionism was at stake. If the employers had got
away with what they tried at Cathcart, trade
un.onism in this country would have received its
ieaviest blow, one from which it would not have
cecovered easily. Whatever else happened at that
period, one thing is sure: the engineers at Cathcart.
by their prompt action in declaring a strike when
faced with such a situation, maintained in the face
of all the betrayals of the national officials the right
of the unions to determine the conditions to be
operated in the factories. They demonstrated to
the Government and the employers that, war or
no -var, tne workers were going to see that the trades
anion~ did not go out of existence, but would have
to be reckoned with as the fighting organs of the
norking class.

£ 2 % * e

Weir’s was one of the best organized shops in
Glasgow, with a fine body of shop stewards, all of
whom had been taking the keenest interest in the
discussions with the employers.

On Tuesday, February 16, following the intro-
duction of the higher paid Americans, the shop
stewards called a meeting and a decision was taken
‘or immediate strike action. The following morning
a mass meeting of the strikers was held in the St.
Mungo Hall, where a decision calling on the other
shops for supporting action was expected. But before
the meeting came together, the movement was already
spreading The morning following the decision to
strike we had a consultation of shop stewards in the
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Albion Motor Works, where I was employed. We
decided for action with Weir's and as a consequence
calied a mass meeting for 9 a m., the breakfast
meal-hour. The meeting unanimously supported the
proposal for a stoppage and a delegation was
appointed to attend Weir's meeting at St. Muango
Hall, with a declaration of solidarity. We also go*
into touch with Yarrow’s and Meechan’s to ensure
that they also took action.

When the delegation from the Albion, of which
I was the leader, arrived at St. Mungo Hall, we
witnessed a strange signt. The hall was packeda
with strikers, tense ecaase of the very circum-
starces of the strike. On t:e platform addressing
ther: was a small ;s gnitcant figare, cbviously
very oeri.rbed at tue s:taatica in shuca ke foand
himseif. Tnos was Counciilor George Kerr, who,
wit: one or two of his Labour colleagues, had been
in*lted to speak at the meeting and had come
without being actually alive to what was going on.

The worthsy Councilior was talking about housing
and how important it was to vote Labour at the
Municipal Elections in November. There was
muttering all over the hall as our delegation passed
through to the platform room. Tommy Clark
came forward with his hand out, “Thank Christ,
yo ‘re here,” he said; ‘*this fellow” (meaning
Councillor Kerr; “*will start a riot”’

I was introduced to several shop stewards whom
I hadn’t met before, one of whom, J. M. Messer,
became afterwards secretary of the Clyde Workers’
Committee. I was then taken toc the platiorm.
The Councillor finished his house-building and
hurried off,

I said that T brought greetings from the Albion
and 2 pledge of solidarity so long as the fight lasted,
I told them Yarrow’s and Meechan’s were on the
move and that before the day was out we would
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have tke wkole of Clydeside closed down. What =z
scene there was as they jumped to their feet and
cheered ! That morning they had been alone, now
all tne others were marching into line. What an
inspiration 1t was to them. And what an inspiration
ther were to the other delegates now arriving from
the cther factories, at the hall. It was as I had said.
By tie evening all the principal factories had decided..
Tre great Clide Strike of February 1915 was on.

The strike was, and still is, wrongly referred tc
as an ‘‘unofficial” strike. Such a term is entirely
misleading. Branch officials, district officials and
in some cases, executive officials (like myself} were
involved. The more correct term for such a strike
is *'spontaneous strike,” Such strikes have played
an important part in the development of the trade
union movement and are often recognized and sup-
poried by the national officials. Such a strike is
necessary when something occurs, leaving only the
opt'an of submitting or fighting. It may be the
introauction of a non-unionist, where trade unior
memodership is insisted on by the union as a con-
diticn ot employment. It may be a cut in a recog-
nized rate or, as was the case at Weir's, the introduc-
tion of privileged workers from outside at the expense
of Weir's own employees.

It ever there was a ‘‘spontaneous’’ strike that
called for the support of the national officials, this
was the one. We had no objection to American
engineers or any others getting jobs; we had nc
objection to their getting high wages, but we cer-
tainly did object, as trade unionists ought to object,
to working ourselves at the same job for lower
wages.

At the St. Mungo Hall meeting we decided to
hold mass meetings in all the areas round the
principal tactories the following morning and to
send in the afternoon a representative from each
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area to a meeting at which a Central Strike Com-
mittee would be formed.

These mass meetings were tremendous and gave
everyone a great feeling of power. The representa-
tives met in the afternoon at the Herald League
Bookshop, George Street, which was run by an old
comrade, W. McGill, and his wife, and was the
headquarters of a semi-anarchist group associated
with the Weekly Herald.

In order to escape the threats of the Defence of
the Realm Act, we formed, instead of a ¢‘Strike”
Committee, a “Labour-Withholding” Committee,
with myself as chairman and J. M., Messer as
secretary. At our first meeting we had to take note
of the fact that the Government had hurriedly
called together the national officials of the bigger
anions and had given them tneir instructions—
*Call off this strike ”’

Representatives of the national committees rushed
to Glasgow and did their utmost to break the strike.
But thev got a rough reception What a spectacle
they presented! Not an argument of any kind
against the strike; intimidated by the Government,
they were merely maudlin in their pleading to us
to give it up.

An old friend of mine, who had gone to work
with me for many years, and had later been elected
from the area to the A.S.E. executive, said to some
of us: “It’s all right for vou fellows, but we’ve
been called up by the Government and, while they
were very suave and courteous, we could feel the
threat behind all they said.”’

“What threat ?”’ we asked.

“«“The threat of imprisonment,”’ he replied.

“Who for ?”

““For us,” he moaned.

Did we laugh! We were like the absentee Irish
Jandlord who refused to be intimidated by threats
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against the life of his bailiff. Old “Sanny’” got no
sympathy from us.

The @lasgow Herald of Friday, February 19,
-eported a meeting at the Palace Theatre, in the
south side of Glasgow, at which Brownlie, Gorman
and Burton, from the Executive Committee of the
A.S E. were present. The report reads as follows ¢

“The men were very adverse in their criticism of’
the Executive Council and interrupted Mr. Brownlie
a good deal when he attempted to persuade them
to act on the advice of their council and resume
work. One of the other Council members they
ceclined to hear. In the end they passed a
unanimous resolution in favour of remaining idle
until the advance of Zd. per hour was granted.”

But I do not think it would be possible now to
et anything like an understanding of the atmo-
sphere which surrounded this great strike. All over
the country the Press, platform and pulpit had
see: used to wh'p up 2 frenzy of hate. War-fever
was s<preading hke an evii plague. Atrecity stories
and propaginda l'es of every kina were being served
out and eagerly taken up Apyvone who dared to
raise his voice 1n protest was a ‘* pro-German,” if not
an actual hired agent of the enemy. Into the midst of
all this madness, ail these lies and hypocrisy, burst the
strike on the Clyde  What a roar of rage went up
from the war-makers ! The Press shrieked for action
against the leaders; evervwhere in the ranks of the
bourgeoisie and petty-burgeoisie we were cursed and
condemned. Of all the multitude of Press organs, with
the exception of one or two weeklies with very small
circulations, there was not ope to say a word for us.
Forward remained discreetly silent. Dollan poured his
daily dose of * patriotism *" into the Datly Citizen.

When two weeks later the time came to call off
the strike, a group of journalists was waiting outside
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the bookshop for our decision. Amongst them was
Dollan. Tommy Clark and the others asked me to try
to persuade him to come in. [ went out and used all my
persuasive powers [ told him we wanted to give him
the first information. It was no use. P.J knew that
what was waiting for him was not neus, and decided
to remain in the vicinity of his fellow journalists.

. Traveiling around tne area in tram or traita you
could hear the strike discussed. S.:opkeepers anc
small business men were venomous. “The leaders
should be shot’ ‘¢ It's obvious they’re in the pay
of the Germans >> ** This man McLean is the cause
of all the trouble; way doit c-eylock himup 7?7
These and sinular remarks couid be heard every where,
as well as references tu thiz personal appearance anc
character of { - ctrike leader-. But w1at I coulc
never understand was the fact that no matter w .az
might be said about the otaers, one thing was arways
said about me—in tram and train ! neard it dozzns o
times. Some littie shopkeepers going from Glasgow
to :iridge-of-\Weir or thereibouts would get talking
in a railway carriage. ihe strike was condemaed,
McLean was condemned, some of the othe.s would
get their turn, and then—* This Gallacher, I under-
stand he’s just a drinken black-guard” How such
a rabid prohibitionist as | was shouid always be
referred to 1n such a way was a mystery to me. As
day followed day and the strilke continued, the attacks
on us became terrific.

Before the strike began the A S. E. in the West
of Scotland area had decided to take a ballot of the
members on the employers’ offer of three farthings
per hour. A few days after the strike broke out the
figures were published as follows:

For Againsg
Glasgow 50+ 6,439
Dumbarton 23 310
Greenock 91 693
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Lor Againsi

Paisley 180 988
Mid Lanark 37 356
North Asrshire 14 140

829 3,926

Yet, despite this vote, the A.S.E officials did
everything to break the strike. Failing in other
directions they tried to penetrate the ranks in an
exceptionally despicable way, While the committee
as a whole represented the A.S.E., I, as chairman,
was not 1n that union but in the Unrited Brass-
founders. Iasidious suggestions were made about
the “brassies” being out to injure the A.S.E. and
the strike being used by me for that purpose. Of
course I knew this was not likely to have any serious
effect, but at the same time I knew that in such a
critical situation everything, no matter how small,
couanted, and <o [ insisted that an A.S.E. man should
figure as tha chairman. Tommy Clark vigorously
opposed tn.s and declared that mobody would pay
any attent:on to tnis latest effort at disruption, but I
succeeded in persuvading them to make tne change,
altbough it was only formal and did not affect in
any way the conduct or the strike.

Every morning mass meetings were held in the
areas and the discussions and decisions of the
previous day’s committee meeting were reported.
Every afternoon and evening the committee was in
session, taking reports from the areas and considering
ways and means of strengthening and extending the
strike. For a fortnight, under the most terrific
barrage ever directed against a strike, we kept going
without a break of any kind, despite the fact that not
one striker was receiving a penny of strike pay or
relief. But we knew we couldn’t carry on much
longer without a measure of disintegration setting in,
and that we wanted to avoid at all cost.
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So we made preparations to call off the strike.
We went to the area meetings and reported our view
of the situation and the importance of all going back
as we came out, organized and strong From every
meeting we got a resclution of confidence in the
committee and a pledge of support for whatever steps
we decided to take. The night we called it off the
meeting place, as I mentioned before, was besieged by
reporters, all eagerly awaiting our decision.
Inside we had a very serious discussion, after which I
drew up a short resolution embodying our decisions.
This resolution recognized the magnificent response
made by the workers all over the Clyde and the
determination of all to maintain the fight for the
full increase. But in the circumstances confron-
ting us it was impossible to continue the
strike any longer, and we called on the workers
to return as they had come out—as one man.
So far the resolution was good news to the
enemy and his Press, but the conclusion of the
resolution sent them into an even more violent
paroxysm than the original strike-call itself. ‘The
strike continues,”” the resolution ended, ‘“but now
inside the factories. We call on all workers to
operate a ‘stay-in’ strike.” Ca’ canny was the
order of the day.

It was a great strike. The loyalty and solidarity
of the workers could not have been higher. The
organization and contacts between the factories and
the areas and between the areas and the centre was
almost perfect. It ended, not on a note of defeat,
but with a feeling of something achieved—the
workers of the Clyde had broken through the rotten
atmosphere of war-jingeism and stood out, strong
and unafraid, ready to defend their class against
their class enemies.

Commenting on the strike, the Heraid of March
20, said :
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¢The Labour-Withholding Committee can
congratulate itseif on having fought well It can
be sure that in the near future its efforts will again
have to be exerted. Despite insults and threats,
despite official pressure, the Clyde men have kept
the flag of revolutionary trade unionism flying and
that itself is something.”™

Later, in dealing with the fact that the Liberal
Government was now being faced with a rising
stream of opposition, the Herald remarks: -‘If one
asks what event disillusioned the Liberal syndicate’®
(Government—W.G.) ‘“the answer 1is the Clyde
dispute— that and nothing else.”



CHAPTER 1V
‘“YSWE ARE NOT PAYING INCREASED RENT?”

HE strike was over. YWe were back once more

in the factories. But the strike had made a
deep political change Any hope the war-makers
might have had of spreading the war fever through-
out the Clyde was now gone for ever. The workers
knew their enemies, and that they were not across
the North Sea  Revolutionary agitators, under Mec-
Lean’s tuition, were iancreasing in number day by
day, and were warmly chesred at mass meetings
wherever they went. It became increasingly difficult
fcr the “‘patriots™ to get a hearing. From the
very Dbeginning the Socialists of Glasgow took
a firm stand against the war. This was evidenced
when Ben Tillet, the first of the big “Defend our
Country”’ demagogues to visit Glasgow, came to
fulfil an engagement with the Clarion Scouts. The
meeting was in the Pavilion Theatre, which for
many years had been used by the Clarion Scouts for
winter lectures.

Ben, who from the back of the Front’’ shrieked
his undying hatred o the Hun and proclaimed his
intention to return to Britain to preach ¢“bloody
murder,”’ tried to put across “defence of our
country,’’ “our noble war aims,” and the rest of it,
but the audience of Socialists hooted him off the
platform.

Now, following the strike, the great mass of the
workers were prepared to give the same short shrift
to the ‘‘patriots” ; in every factory literature
distribution and discussion were going on with
greater intensity than ever. And what was of first-
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slass importance for the development of the struggle
in all the principal factories, workshop committees
representing all departments and all workers were
now functioning.

These were a direct outcome of the strike. While
certain of the unions had always had shop stewards
tunctioning more or less actively, these in the main
were only corcerned with their own members and’
quite often many departments or many sections of
workers had no shop stewards at all But with the
strike, as each factory came out, a committee was
elected with representatives from each department
or secticn. The Strike Committee represented and
covered every worker in the factory and ob return
to work, remained as a Works Committee, responsible
for the complete organization of the factory. The
Central Labour-\Withholding Committee also kept
together, meeting regularly to discuss the situation
and to take what steps were possible to advance the
struggle for wages and for the protection of trade
union rights.

With the passing of the Munitions Act, made
possible by the collaboration of the trade union
leaders with Lloyd George, daily problems arose
and the need for a permanent organization became
evident. Out of the Labour-Withholding Committee,
therefore, the Clyde Workers® Committee was
born. I was elected chairman and J. M. Messer,
secretary ; one of our first acts was to issue a leaflet
on the character of the struggle before us., A
passsge in the leaflet, heavily underlined, read :

“The support given to the Government by the
Trade Union leaders is an act of grossest treachery
to the working class.”

The leaflet was signed by myself and Messer, as
chairman and secretary of the committee.
At the subsequent Trade Union Congress, Arthur



54 REVOLT ON THE CLYDE

Henderson appeared in all his glory as a member of
the Government, and, waving the leaflet above his
head, demanded action against the signatories Alas
for Arthnr! While miny of the officials present
would willingly have obliged, they were not in a
positior to do so. Expulsions on the Clyde at that
moment would have been disastrous—for those whe
ordered them.

During tne whole period of the strike, the cam-
paign against increased rents had been growing in
volume. Following the strike, greater forces tharn
ever were thrown into it. I[no Govan, Mrs. Barbour,
a tvpical working-class housewife, became the leader
of a movement such as had never been seen before,
or since for that matter. Street meetings, back-court
meetings, drums, bells, trumpets—every wmethod
was used to bring the women out and organize them
for the struggle. Notices were printed by the
thousand and put up in the windows: wherever you
went you could see them. In street after street,
scarcely a window without one: “WE ARE NOT
PaAYING INCREASED RENT.”

These notices represented a spirit amongst the
women that could not be overcome. The factors
{agents for the property owners) could not collect
the rents. They applied to the courts for eviction
warrants. Having obtained these, sheriff’s officers
were sent to serve them and evict the tenants. But
Mrs. Barbour had a team of women who were
wonderful. They could smell a sheriff’'s officer a
mile away. At their summons women left their
cooking. washing or whatever they were doing.
Before they got anywhere near their destination,
the officer and his men would be met by an army
of furious women who drove them back in a hurried
scramble for safety.

Attempt after attempt was made to secure evic-
tions, all of which ended in futility. The increased
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-ent could not be collected, the tenants could not
be evicted. Then some legal genius had a brain-
wave The property owners and factors sat back
and laughed as they thought of it. It was so simple
and so effective. Why hadn’t they thought of it
before ? AMrs. Barbour and her army of women were
a terror to them no longer. They simply walked
over their heads and sued the householder at the.
sssmall debt” court. By this means workers were
summoned to attend the court and show reason why
their wages should not be impounded to liquidate
the debt claimed by the factor in the form of rent.
In such a case the factor could not only get a
decision allowing him to get his rent from the
employer out of the wages of the worker, but he
could also ask for a judgment placing the costs of
the proceedings as an extra burden on the tenants.

After a few such cases, with the workers affected
coming home with only half their wages, the others
would rapidly have become demoralized and the
resistance to increased rent wounld be finished.
This, at any rate, was how the factors reasoned.
it was a great idea and it was sure to work. Sc
summonses were sought and issued to a group of
tenants empioyed in the yards. But they had
reckoned without Mrs. Barbour and the Clyde shop
stewards.

“Will we let them get away with this ?” was the
new war-cry resouading in every street. ‘‘Never !I”
thundered the reply from the women. All day
long, in the streets, in the halls, in the houses,
meetings were held. Kitchen meetings, street
meetings, mass meetings, meetings of every kind.
No halt, no rest for anyone, all in preparation for
the sitting of the court when the test case came on.
As in the streets, so in the factories. “Will we allow
the factors to attack our wages?” “Never !”
Every factory was keyed up and ready.

4
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On the day of the trial Glasgow witnessed a
demonstration the like of which had never been
seen before. From early morning the women were
marching to the centre of the city where the sheriff's
court is situated. Mrs. Barbours’ army was on the
march. But even as they marched, mighty reinforce-
ments were coming from the workshops and the
yards. From far away Dalmuir in the Wess, from
Parkhead in the East, from Cathcart in the South
and Hydepark in the North, the dungareed army of
the proletariat invaded the centre of the city.

At the Albion we formed up at breakfast-time
and were joined by Yarrow's and Meechan’s. In
the main road we awaited the arrival of the con-
tingents from Dalmuir! and Clvdebank. Then on
we went, leaving the factories empty and deserted,
shouting and singing.

As we marched along Argyle Street near the
Central Station, we passed a section of another
army moving in the opposite direction, on the way
to France. Some of the young chaps gave us a
cheer as we passed, but many others looked pathet:-
cally towards us as our fellows shouted “Down
toals, boys!” and gave the impression that very
little persuasion would have brought them over into
our ranks.

Into the streets around the Sheriff’s Court the
workers marched from all sides. All the streets
were packed. Traffic was completely stopped.
Right in front of the court. John McLean was on a
platform addressing the crowd as far as his voice
could reach. In other streets mnear the court others
of us were at it. Our platforms were unique. Long
poster-boards had been picked up from the front of
newspaper shops. These were placed on the shoul-

1Dalmuir, where several of the men were employed, had sent

on & depusation to the Court to inform the Sheriff that if there
was a conviction, they would immediately declare a strike,
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Zers of half a2 dozern husky, well-matched workers
and the speaker was lifted on to tnem. It was a
great experience, speaking from a yielding platform
and keeping a measure of balance while flaying the
factors and the war-makers. Roar after roar of rage
went up as incidents were related showing the
robbery of mothers and wives whose sons and
husbands were at the front. Roar followed roar as’
we pictured what would happen if we allowed the
attack on our wages.

It was put very popularly in the following form:
“What did you do in the Great War, Daddy?”
asked the boy whose father was an engineer. (This
question, by the way. was then to be seen on all
recruiting posters and was intended to shame men
into the army.) “I did munition work, my boy,”
the father answered. ““What did you do in the
Great War, Daddy ?” asked the boy who was the
son of a factor. “My boy,” answered the factor,
“I did manition workers >’

Inside the court the sheriff and his clerks were
white with apprehension. A deputation of workers,
men and women, was demanding to be heard. The
roars from outside were making the windows rattle.
At any momeat the deputation might be followed
by a surging, irresistible crowd of angry men and
women. In such circumstances how was it possible
for a poor sheriff to retain any dignity—how was it
possible to make play with legal technicalities and
trivialities ? There was no hope of the police doing
anything. They were helpless, and what use is a
court, what power has a judge, apart from the brute
force they are able to employ ?

It was obvious to the sheriff that the situation
was too desperate to play with. He telephoned to
London and got put through to the Minister of
Munitions, Mr. Lloyd George. “The workers have
left the factories,” he said, after explaining the
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character of the case. *‘They are threatening to pull
down Glasgow. What am [ todo?’ ¢‘Stop the
case,” he was told, “a Rent Restriction Act will be
introduced immediately.”’

When this news was relayed there was a scene of
enthusiasm that baffles description. Shouting, sing-
ing, cheering, the great demonstration started to move
again All night long the celebration of victory went
on. The ‘‘great idea” of the factors had been blown
sky-high through the determination of the women and
the <ohidarity and organization of the workers on the

lyde and in this way the Rent Restriction Act was
v on for the workers of the country

The Herald offered this tribute to the men ané
women of the Clyde : “Thanks to the fine stand made
bv the Glasgow women and the determined attitude
cf the Clyde munition workers, the Government has
introduced a Bill to legalize pre-war rent during the
war and for six months thereafter.”

But while the Rent Restriction Act was a victory,
the Munitions Act was a continual menace. Day
after day attempts were made to encroach on the
conditions and practices operating in the workshops.
which only the strength of our organization pre-
vented. “Munition” courts had been set up, but
these we turned into a farce Always when a ‘‘case”
was on the court was crowded with demonstrating
workers, with McGill of the Herald League moving
among the seats, shouting his periodicals and
pamphlets. All the time the movement was growing
in strength in the factories and at the centre. Some
of us in the factories, as chairmen of the factory
committees, held positions of extra-ordinary power,
quite immune from any interference from the
management.

Every Saturday afternoon the delegates from the
factories met in a hall in Ingram Street. From 250
to 300 was the usual number of delegates present,
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alih all the principal undertakings represented.
\While I. 2 member of the B. S P., occupied the chalr,
~ith J. M. Messer, a member of the L L P., as
secretary, practically all the other members of the
small leading committee, which met two nights a
= eek. were members of the S. L. P, which had broken
away ‘rom the impossible doctrinaires of De Leon.
One or other of these, therefore, would report for the
‘eading committee on organization or policy.

At the general delegate meeting we had warmly
we.comed John JMcLean and J. D. McDougall, a
voung bank clerk, who was then playing a big part
as a lecturer in JIcLean’s classes and was genera.y
iooked upon as nis first lieutenant. Both were
allowed tull right to participate in all discussions
and on many occasions were helpful and encourag-
ing. Then, suddenly, we were favoured with a
ne v visiter, and with his coming, trouble soon
started

This was a feliow named Peter Petrov 1 had
already met hm in 1912 in DManchester. I was
there a‘tending the first conference of the B.S.P.,
‘ollowing its tormation from the S.D.P., and some
other scattered elements. At this conference there
was a big drive agamnst Hyndman and his policy.
:n which I took a leading part. At lunch-time on
the second day of the conference I went away on my
own to have a quiet snack (I had been in a very
heated scene before the adjournment). As I walked
along the street, ! heard a voice say in a hissing
whisper, ‘“Comrade Gallacher ! I turned round
and faced the revolutionary of melodrama. A sharp,
dark face with black restless eyes, hooked nose, small
dark moustache covering a short upper lip, which,
continually receding from a set of white gleaming
teeth, gave the impression of a perpetual grin.

He told me his name was Petrov ; he was a great
Marxist, he was writing a great book on Marxism ;
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he told me a whole host of things, and then he
started telling me things about Hyndman, about
Quelch, about Rothstein and everybody else of note
in the B.S.P. The more he talked the more irres-
ponsible became his accusations, and the more
pronounced was the grin. He completely ruined my
snack and when at the conclusion of it all, he
expressed the hope that he would see a lot of me, 1
said things to myself. I succeeded in dodging him
the rest of the time; he never got another chance
at me.

Now, here he was in Glasgow, the hot-bed of the
proletarian struggle in the middle of 1915. He
attached himself to John McLean, and John brought
him along to the delegate meeting of the Clyde
Workers’ Committee He Introcduced him and
asked us to receive him as a fraternal delegate, which
we did, following which Petrov said a few words of
appreciation. We accepted him in good faith. But
he played havoc with DMcLean and McDougall.
Nothing but whispering. Something about this
one, something about the otner. Soon McLean
and JMcDougall were suspicious of everybody. At
the delegate meetings they began to throw out hints
about certain of the leaders, with Petrov’s swhite-
toothed grin and nodding head supplying the
encouragement [t was quite obvious tnat some-
thing bad to be done or serious disruption would
follow

Then, one Saturday, Johnny Muir gave a lengthy
report on the campaign we were preparing in con-
nection with ¢“dilution of labour,”” which was then
being discussed. An elaboration of this report was
presented by the same comrade when Lloyd George
made his historic visit to the Clyde. But no sooner
had he finished on this occasion than up jumped
Petrov. With a small group of delegates, amongst
whom was McDougall, cheering him on (McLean
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was not present at the moment) he launched an
aimost incredible attack on Johnny Muir and the
other members of the S.L.P. who were in the
jeadership of the movement.

We were all so taken by surprise, we could only
look at one another and gasp. As chairman, [ called
Petrov to order and after some difficulty got him to
resume his seat. I then said that in view of what had
been going on for some time, we could not view
such an outrageous attack as he had made on
Johnny Jluir other than as a deliberate attempt to
disrupt the committee; therefore 1 would take a
proposal from the meeting that Petrov be not
allowed to attend any further meetings. At this,
McDougall jumped up in a passion and declared
that I was taking advantage of a foreigner. It’s
an example of race hatred,” he shouted.

“All right,” 1 replied, *‘just to show there isn’t
anything racial about it 1’ll ask the delegates to add
your name to the proposal ”’

The motion was put and with the exception of
the small group of half a dozen closely associated
with McDougall, the voting was unanimous. Wheg
the meeting concluded they were waiting for me
at the door. McDougall and McLean, who had
arrived late, amnd ], got into quite a heated argument,
Petrov, with the grin working overtime, kept up a
continual chorus of three words, “Gallacher, you
pig.”" That ended his attempt to disrupt the Clyde
Workers’ Committee, but not, alas, his influence
on McDougall and McLean.

During this period two cases of workers being
imprisoned occurred, both of which aroused conm
siderable agitation. One of them would certainly
have led to a strike had it not been for the inter-
vention of trade union officials.

The first was the case of Marshall, a shop steward
at Parkhead. There had been some trouble and a
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short strike in one section over non-unionitsts, and
Marshall was accused of ‘‘slacking and causing
others 1o slack.” Early in July he was sentenced to
three months’ imprisonment.

A few nights later | attended a meeting of our
leading committee at the Herald League Bookshop.
Owing to a meeting at the factory, I was late in
arriving. I sat down beside Tommy Clark, who
had been acting as chairman in my absence. The
meeting was being addressed by someone I had
never seen before. As he spoke I looked at nim
with amazement. At the end of every other sentence
he would compress his lips tightly, and look around
to see how the others were taking it. He was
reporting on the Marshall case.

“I went up to Mr. Chisholin,”’ he informed us
{I had missed the first part), ‘‘and I said to Mr.
Chisholm. *You’ve got to do something, or there’s
nae saying what’ll happen here’ ‘I can’t do any-
thing,” says Mr. Chisholm. ‘Then I'll see Sir
William.” [ said. Up ah goes tae see Sir William.”
I whispered to Tommy Clark, “Who the hell is this ?**
“It’s Davy Kirkwood from Parknead,” Tommy replied.

That was my first meeting with Kirkwood, as it
was his first entry into the life of the leaders’ group
of the Clvde Workers’ Committee. He was a big,
generous, clean-living fellow, for whom I had, and
have, considerable regard; but his pronounced
egotism, plased upon by other influences, became our
undoing later. But despite all the talk with
Mr. Chisholm and Sir William, nothing happened,
and it was only when he brought the matter before
the committee that steps were taken that secured the
release of Marshall.

The other case, that of the Fairfield shipwrights,
was one of greater moment to the workers of the
Clyde. This was a case where a group of ship-
wrights acting under the union instructions refused
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‘0 o a certain job were hauled before a munitions
court and sentenced to thirty days’ imprisonment or
a £10 fine. Three of them, McPherson, Fleming
and Turner, refused to pay the fine and went to
orison. The union officials immediately took up the
figkt on their behalf and we decided to support
them in the call for strike acrtion, which all of us
expected them to start. Instead, they made state:
ments to the Press, sent deputations here and there
and had interviews with all kinds of important
individuals.

Fairfield's was ready to take action and if Fair-
field's had been called out, the others would immedi-
ately have joined.

So strong indeed was the demand for action that
the officials calied a conference of District Committees
in the Christian Institute. As an official of my union
T atlended. The conference had been called and was
coairo'led by a group of permanent officials, including
Sharp of the Boiler-makers, Brodie and Buntin of the
A. S. E, Lorrimer of the Blacksmiths, and a number
of otners wno occupted the platform.

Sharp, in the chair, opened the meeting and

warned us about the serious situation that confronted
us and about the fact that there was a war going on.

‘“Yes, the class war, ’ the boys shouted.

Sharp tried to evade that and went on about our
responsiblities and how we should not be led away
by irresponsible revolutionaries. It was obvious
some wangle was being prepared All present could
feel that. Sharp could not continue for the noise, so
he called in Lorrimer to rsad a resolution. Lorrimer
did so and it left us gasping. There was a protest
about the imprisonment 1n if, but it was addressed
to Mr. Asquith (the Prime Minister) and appealed
to bim to secure the liberation of the ship-wrights

_ We could scarcely believe we had heard aright.
1 immediately scribbled out a short resolution
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calling on Fairfield’s to stop work and the othe:
undertakings to support Fairfield’s and proposed it as
alternative resolution.

“No alternative resolutions will be accepted,” saic
Mr. Sharp.

“All right,” I said, “1’ll propose it as an addendum:
to your resolution”’

“No addendum accepted,” Sharp replied.

“Can I move an amendment ?’ a delegate asked.

**No amendments will be accepted,” was the
answer.

Then pandemonium broke loose. The trick was
plain. They had been leading us “up the garden”
under the belief that they intended to cail a sirike
and had wused the opportunity given them tc
demoralize our forcss. For over an hour there was
a scene of wild confusion. Sharp tried to get order
and to get his resolution considered, but nobody
would have it.

“Let us try to conduct our meeting a little more
harmoniously,” he shouted during a lull.

¢Mr. Chairman,” I called, “I’ll make a proposal
that should restore harmony.” Everybody quieted
down. ¢l propose the platform party for a song,”
I said. Not very bright, I’ll admit, but it served to
express the disgust that I and others felt. There was
a roar of laughter and cheering and the platform
party gave up, the meeting ending with Lorrimer
holding on to his precious resolution.

Lorrimer came over to me and said, “You’ve a
bloody hard cheek.” “What’s the matter now 27
I asked him. “You propose the platform party for a
song,’’ he repeated, “you think that’s funny.,” What
I said to Lorrimer had better remain unprinted

But they had succeeded in their design. Before
we could get our forces ready for independent action,
the shipwrights had served their term and were out
amongst us once again.



CHAPTER V
THE *‘JINGOES’’ TRY THEIR HAND

HE activity in the factories was but a'part of the

general activity going on everywhere around
Glasgow. McLean had become a figure known tc
everyone His classes were packed with eager students,
his meetings were the scenes of wild revolutionary
enthusiasm | was still one of his closest associates
despite the trouble over Petrov, and spoke with him
at all the principal demonstrations. In spite of the
frenzied attempts of the patriots and the Press, it was
impossible to whip up opposition to McLean. Aay
patriots who were about considered it wise to keep
away from McLean’s meetings

And there were patriots in Glasgow all night
But somenow tiey never could get going. Meetings
were attempted, but these generally ended up in
demonstrations against the war. Then as demobilized
soldiers began to stream back 10 the area, the patriots
felt that at last they had got a weapon they could use
against the workers The Discharged and Demob-
ilized Soldiers’ and Sailors’ Federation was formed to
protect and care for those who had done their bit and
were now released from service.

In the beginning a ‘‘patriot’ got himself elected
as secretary and endeavoured to keep the movement
away from working-class influence, but many of those
who were most active in the Federation had been
active in the workshops up till the outbreak of war,
and now they took up the struggle anew. We soon.
had a majority of “rebels” in the Executive and later
on got the ‘‘patriotic” secretary removed and one of
our fellows elected in his place. There was no help-
for the war-makers from the Discharged Soldiers’
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Federation in Glasgow. It was soon supporting zail
the resolutions of the Clvde Workers’ Committee and
of other anti-war bodies as well as passing strongly-
worded resolutions on its own.

An attempt was made to build a ¢patriotic’
anti-working-class organization, the leader of which
was a rather futile individual named Jamieson. He
used to hold meetings on a Sunday night at the foot
of Buchanan Street, bur the crowd who attended
went there to watch the antics of a very precocious
little fellow named Wratten. This little chap w:s
about fourteen vears of age, but already he kad
imbibed gquite an amount of pacifist and anti-war
ohrases and he let trem go every Sunday mghr at
Jamieson’s meeting. Occasionally ne turned up
with a packet full of crackers, the kind that go off
with a bang when they are thrown on the ground.
He wouald stand in the centre of the ring and when
Jamieson came out with anything particularly force-
ful, he would shout “Ha, ha.”” and bang would go a
cracker. Although worried by the youngster,
Jamieson managed to carry on for quite a while until
he tried to develop an offensive—ot which more later
—which ended in his complete ruin

Following the promulgation of the Defence of
the Realm Act and the many arrests that resulted,
an organization had been formed for the protection
of civil liberties It was to a large extent composed
of intellectuals and petty-bourgeois pacifists. As
there was no strength behind it, the members had to
look to the shop stewards for backing in anything
they might attempt.

Through this organization a meeting was once
called in the Charing Cross Hall, towards the end
of Sauchiehall Street. The principal speaker was
J. R. MacDonald, who was then being everywhere
attacked in the Press, quite wrongly, as a ‘‘defeatist
and traitor.” MacDonald’s position, like Snowden’s,
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was peculiar. While the Labour Party had decided
for support of the Government in the prosecution
of the war, it was impossible for either of these
openly to accept this decision Both depended for
their political existence on maintaining their leader-
ship of the I.L.P. and as the bulk of the active
leaders of the I. L. P. in the districts were young
school teachers or petty-bourgeois pacifists, they
had to choose a very careful path in connection with
the war. MacDonald’s notorious volubility stood
him in good stead during this period. He could talk
and talk without end, creating the impression that
he was saying things of the greatest moment. whilst
actuallv only spreading confusion among his hearers.
Nevertheless, the Press had made him appear as a
great figure against the war, so Glasgow was pre-
pared to give him a welcome,

As the shop stewards had to be brought in to
protect the meeting, I was invited to speak. So alsc
was Shinwell, who was then chairman of the Glasgow
Trades Council.

At this meeting Jamieson saw his chance; he
would attack the hion in its lair., With his sup-
porters around him, he held an open-air meeting at
Wellington Street, just a short distance from the
Charing Cross Hall, and by a frenzied attack on
MacDonald soon gathered a considerable crowd.
He then informed his audience that he and his
supporters were going to march to the meeting and
force their way in [Ihe crowd thought this was a
great idea and gave Jamieson quite a cheer, Off he
set, with a huge crowd following, right to the
entrance to the hall. From the door of the hall in
Sauchieball Street to the hall proper there is a long
corridor. This corridor was occupied by stewards by
the time Jamieson arrived, while the hall inside was
already crowded. MacDonald was in the platform.
ante-room and when the shouts from outside pene-
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‘trated he became very nervous. He had already had
experience of a not very happy character of similar
demonstrations in England. He asked us if there
was a rear way out. I told him there was nothing to
worry abourt ; that the crowd outside was quite good-
natured and would give him a creer if he swent ouat.
But he was very doubtful acout it. Then McGovern
came In and took off his coat. From his inside pocket
he extracted a short, heavy piece of lead pipe. Mac-
Donald looked at tne weapon and smiled. Maxton
remarxed, ‘“He’s a pacifist.”’

“That’s the sort of pacifist like to see,” said
MacDonald.

The roars became louder outside and MacDonald’s
nervousness increased. [ gave a nod to Shinwell
and we went out along tne corridor to the front door.
I opened one half of the door and there was Jamieson
right up agaiast it with his immediate lieutenants
gatrered around him. Right over to the other side
of the istreet a crowd was surging, and thoroughiy
snjoving itself.

Jamieson shouted, to the delight of the laughing
crowd: ‘“As a citizen I demand admittance to this
meeting.”’

¢“Oh, you want in,”’ I said.

“Yes, I want in,” he retorted.

“All right,” I said, ‘“‘come ia.”

But he had got a look inside and the sight had
not been encouraging. Instead of pressing forward
he drew back and then the situation got really funny.
Shinwell and several others made a grab and
got hold of Jamieson and one of his colleagues
and started pulling them in. Jamieson let out a yell
of “Help !” and put up a heroic struggle not to get
in. This was too much for the crowd. They roared
with laughter. Jamieson and his supporters were
only too glad to get away.

Inside the hall MacDonald got a great reception,



T GIINGOES? TRY THEIR HAXND 69

W
t

_aikea a lot in his best and most confusing manner
and the meeting passed off without any untoward
“ncident. But, immediately after the meeting,
Jamieson and a calleague applied for and obtained
summonses for assault, one against Shinwell, the
other against a comrade named Morris Nyman. Very
cunningly, they had chosen two Jewish comrades
-+ith a view to arousing prejudice. But, while Morris
Nvman, who came up before an ordinary bailie on a
charge of assault was fined twenty shillings, Shinwell,
on a charge of assaulting Jamieson, came up before a
stipendiary magistrate who, when he heard the
evidence, told the prosecuting fiscal he had the wrong
man in the dock and dismissed the case.

But Jamieson had another try. A few Sundays
iater he held a meeting at the same spot, Wellington
Street, and after *“piling on the agony,”” he declared
his intention of going along to Charing Cross, where
an oren-air peace meeting was being held, to “finish
“he pacifists.”> He got to Charing Cross all right,
with the intention of making trouble, and he made
srouble—for himself. From Charing Cross he went
zo hospital and after a period of meditation there, he
decided to seek other fields for his activities. Glasgow
knew him and the Scottish Patriotic League no
more. .

Another attempt to get some sort of “patriotic”’
organization going in Scotland was an effort by
Sir Charles B. Renshaw, at one time a very pro-
minent figure in the West of Scotland. This took
the form of the Scottish Food Economy League.
While the decision to set it going had been taken by
Sir Charles and a number of “big-wigs” in Edinburgh,
the actual first effort to approach Glasgow was made
in my home town. Paisley. A meeting was called by
invitation, at the Council Chambers. To this meeting
the_ Trades Council was invited to send two represen-
tatives. This to give it the necessary democratic
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touch, I and another comrade, John JMlercer, werz
appointed as the Trades Council representatives, w.tkh
instructions to do whatever we thought necessary tc
prevent any anti-working-class organization being
formed.

Jock 2Alercer and 1 duly attended and found
ourselves in strange company. A local parson
occupied the chair. He opened the proceedings wita
a few general remarks about the distinguished anc
representative character of the meeting; then he called
on Sir Charles to say his piece. Sir Charles did so.
He talked about the cost of the war, of the sacrifice
we were all called upon to make and how we could
save enormous sums through economy in cooking
food and saving focd and soc on. When he finished,
the chairman, wita all due deference, invited
Sir Thomas Glen Coats to speak. It 1s pot seemiy
to speak ill of the dead, but it may be permitted to
say that Sir Thomas wasn’t too well supplied with
“intellect.”” He stuttered and spluttered but succeed-
ed in making it clear that the workers had got to ke
stopped from wasting food. They were getting toc
much money and were simply throwing it away. He
was followed by Provost Robertson, of ‘“Marmalade’’
fame. He was a typical little sycophant, ready t:
grovel at the feet of the ‘““‘great’” famuly, the cottorn-
thread Coats. He dotted the “i’s’” and crossed the
“t’s” of Sir Thomas and then he gave us this gem.
“A young minister in the town was going around
collecting money for a new Church Hall. He knocked
at the door of a worker’s house in an ordinary
tenement. A woman opened the door and he explain-
ed what he was after. ‘Well,’ she said, ‘you look a
nice young man and it’s for a good object, so ah’li
gie ye something.” She walked over, took something
off the mantelpiece and handed it to him. He looked
at it with astonishment. It was a roll of notes. He
counted them. Thirty. Thirty one-pound notes. ‘My
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gocd woman,” he gasped, ‘this is too much. ‘Tak’
it,” she said, ‘tak’ it, that’s only one week’s pay.’ ”
Mercer and I listened to trash like this for quite
a time. After the Provost came a fashionabie
physician, then a lawyer, then a lady or two and the
sum total of it all was the need for setting up an
influential committee to advise wotkers on how tc
economize in food. -
When the chairman had got off his list of names,
he informed us that we had heard all sides and that-it
now remained for us to appoint the committee.
“Excuse me, Mr. Chairman,”” I interjected, ‘“‘sc
far you’ve only heard one side. I now propose to
let you hear the other side.” Hear, hear,” Jock
Mercer chipped in with very strong emphasis. The
chairman locked round in a helpless sort of way
and then slowly subsided into his seat. I then
sailed into them one after another. Sir Thomas
couldn’t stand it. He jumped up in a rage and
bcunced out of the Chamber. As for the Provost,
1 attacked him roundly. 1 ended by declaring that
if any committee was appointed the Trades Counci.
would see that it was a committee of workers and
that its job would be to go round the Coats’ gang and
the Robertsons, deprive them of their servants, all of
whom could be fcund useful employment elsewhere
ana thus give their “ladies” the opportunity of
practising economy in the kitchen and the wash-tub.
When I finished there was general agreement that
commiitees didn’t do any good. The chairman
lookee 1ound, not knowing what to do, but couldn’t
catch anybody’s eye or get any help from any of
tho<e present, so he abruptly declared the meeting
closed That was the end of that effort. It was never
beard of again, except that on the following day
the local paper gave a report of the meeting. It
gave quite a lot of space to Sir Charles, a fair amount
to Sir Thomas, a little less to the Provost and then

5
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finished by saying: ¢Mr. Gallacher alse spoke.”
Thus the Press “truthfully’ reports.

These are only some incidents of the year 1915
—a year full of activity inside and outside the
factories ; activity that was causing the greatest
concern to the Government and the military autho-
rities. It was towards the end of this year that
word came that the Minister of Munitions, D. Lloyd
George, was going to pay us z visit and we set
about making our preparations to give him a fitting
reception.



CHAPTER VI

THE CLYDE IN WARTIME

HE war was taking heavy toll of the young man-

hood of Europe. Gone was the ‘‘romance’—
the glory of war. Instead, shattered flesh, clotted
blood, slime and filth. Men driven to their death,
driven into a revolting slaughter-house. Military
strategy there was none. The generals, dull and
bovine, knew but one refrain: “More men, more
men.’> The fields of death were hungry, thousands
each day must die. But how to get the men?
Every trick was tried Young men first—the older
ones used to drive them in. Categories, *“non-
essential” and “‘essential,”” used against them
When every method to drive the young men to their
death ‘‘voluntarily” had been exhausted, the need
was greater than ever. Conscription was more and
more openly advocated.

I remember speaking at a meeting on Glasgow
Green and drawing attention to a speech of Churchill.
He had been talking about me, I said, and I didn’t
like what he had to say. His words had been,
“We will sacrifice our last shilling and our Zast
man’ One of the workers present interjected,
*You’re wrong, Willie, he wasn’t talking about you,
he was talking about himself.”

But the drain of men from industry had been
very great. It was going to be greater. The
question of supplying the factories with labour had
become an urgent one. Where could workers be
found ?

The answer soon came—women. “Dilution of
Iabour” was the official title of the process, Lloyad
George, Minister of Munitions, addressed a meeting



74 REVOLT ON THE CLYDE

of employers in Manchester at the beginning of
December 1915, and dealt with this question. Then,
in answer to one of the employers who had drawn
attention to the upions, he said, “You go ahead, and
if the trade unions interfere, P'll deal with them.”
1 took careful note of that statement. and filed it
away for further reference.

. Towards the middle of December we were
informed quite definitely that he would visit Glasgow
for two or three davs at Christmas, in order to get
into personal touch with the ractories, ending with
a conference on ‘*‘dilution” on Christmas Day. The
exact arrangements for his visit were not made
known till the last moment. but on Waedaesday,
December 22, two or three of the permanent
trade union officials f{rom Gilasgow traveiled to
Newcast.e, at the Iiavitation of the Minister, to
discuss tne project he had in view. These officials
had lost all sense of responsibility to the working
class. They asked but onc thing of Lloyd George,
that he should not have anything to do with the
nightmare of their lives, the Clvde Workers’ Com-
mittee. This he readily promised, and a statement
was published in the Press that the Minister of
Munitions during his visit to Clyde would not
recognize, directly or indirectly, the ‘“unofficial®’
body known as the Clyde Workers’ Committee.
He was a great little fellow—in Newcastie!

We called a special delegate meeting for Thursday
night, the 23rd. For this meeting I drew up a short
resolution, which we hurriedly ran off as a leaflet.
The resolution declared the loyal support of the
shop stewards for the policy of the Clyde Workers®
Committee, and the decision to attend the so-called
conference, called by the Minister of Munitions, but
only to participate in it on the lines laid down by
the Committee.

That same Thursday Lloyd George arrived in
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Glasgow. His first visit was to Parkhead. Sir
1William Beardmore sent for Kirkwood and asked
him to call the shcp stewards together to meet the
Alinister. This Kirkwood did, but it was a mistake ;
a mistake that was repeated at a later stage with
disastrous results. When they were gathered to-
gether, Kirkwood iatroduced Lloyd George as an
enemy of the workers, and as a lawyer, ending up
witn the statement that one engineer was worth a
dozen lawyers. Quite unabashed, Lloyd George did
his stuff, although he had quite a lot of difficulty in
getting it over. At the conclusion of his talk a
fellow set up a camera.

Tommy Clark asked in an ominous voice :
#What’s this 27

“We've to get a photograph taken,” said Lloyd
George.

**There’ll be no bloody photograph here
declared Tommy ; then, to the photographer, “Get to
hell out of it I

The photographer got. In his memoirs, Lloyd
George describes Tommy as a “natural savage.” If
only he was to see him now !

From Parkhead he went to Weir’s, He wasn’t
feeling too good, but he looked to his friend Weir
to help him out. The convenor of shop stewards,
Comrade Smith, was sent for. Lloyd George wanted
to meet and talk with the shop stewards, he was
told. To this he replied : ““We have had a meeting
of the shop stewards and they don’t want to meet or
talk with Lloyd George.”

““What ?” they exclaimed “You can’t do this.
Think of what it means. Please go and see them
again. lIt’s terrible, terrible. Get them to change
their decision and meet him, if only for a miaute.”

Smith went away and returned some time later.
“Aren’t they coming ?” he was asked. ¢<No,” he
replied, ‘“they aren’t coming. If Mr. Lloyd George

[EX



76 REVOLT ON THE CLYDE

wants to discuss conditions on the Clyde, he’ll have
to discuss them with the Clvde Workers’ Committee.”

It was a complete knock-out for the Minister of
Munitions. His tour of conquest had come to a
sorry end. The following day he crept into one or
two places where our organization was not so strong,
but to such places as the Albion he gave a wide
bBerth.

At our meeting at night, held in the Central
Halls, Bath Street, there was a full turn out, but I
had to leave before it got started. 1 had a heavy
pight’s work before me  VWhile I was chairman of
the Clvde Workers’ Committee, I was still an execu-
tive member of my union, and therefore had the right
to attend the official meetings. And there was an
official meeting that same night. It was held in the
A.S E.Hall at Carlton Place. When I got along,
they were all gathered there—sixty or seventy of
them.

Sharp, Lorrimer and Buntin were at the table
at the end of the hall, sorting out bundles of tickets.
When they had the tickets sorted out to their liking,
Sharp reported on the visit to Newcastle He told
us that the Minister had asked them to arrange a
meeting of the shop stewards for Saturday, the 25th,
in St. Andrew’s Hall, the tickets for which he had
suppiied, and these were now before us, so many for
each union. The Minister had agreed to pay each
shop steward 7s. 6d. for expenses, so that they would
have to be careful in distributing tickets, as each one
represented that amount.

As soon as he had finished, Harry Hill, of the
Shipwrights, walked up to the table, got his tickets,
and turped to leave the hall. I jumped to my feet
and said, ‘“‘Brother Chairman, before Brother Hill
leaves with those tickets, we’ve got to discuss and
decide whether we’re going to have anything to do
with the meeting.” There was quite a commotion
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stamping out of the hall. But he was scarcely out
when the door burst open and he was back in.

“There’s your tickets,’”’ he shouted. “To hell wi’
them, and to hell wi’ you. By Christ, I never met
sour equal for making trouble !” He slammed the
tickets down and went banging out again. We all
had a laugh at this, after which I addressed the
meeting.

I quoted from the speech at Manchester already
referred to, and then asked: ¢“Have we no sense of
responsibility to the organizations we represent ? Are
we to be at the beck and call of this avowed enemy of
the trade union movement ? To what are we being
reduced when this man can send along tickets and
instruct us to organize a meeting for him ?”’

I followed this up with a series of arguments
against their participation in the meeting. One after
the other, they followed, endorsing my remarks and
opposing any support for Lloyd George or partici-
pation in the meeting.

The discussion went on till ten o'clock, when a
vote was taken ; about sixty voted against partici-
pation and five for., When Buntin saw how the vote
was going, he went dashing into the corridor, got
hold of the ’phone and rang up the Central Station
Hotel, where Lloyd George, with his tame trade union
and Labour Party officials, had his headquarters.

He came back into the hall as the meeting was
breaking up and asked for a hearing on a matter of
great urgency. He then informed us that he had
been on the ’phone to the hotel and that Mr. Arthur
Henderson bad begged him to have the meeting
give him the opportunity of a few words. [ wasn’t
averse to Henderson coming over. In fact I wanted
a few words with him; so, more by way of a joke
than anything, I said, “Tell him we’ll wait if he’ll
provide us with taxis after the meeting’s over.”
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There was general laughter and cheering at this
suggestion. Sam Buntin took it very solemnly, and
after another short interlude at the ’phone, informed
us that “Mr. Henderson thanks you very much,
and he has instructed his secretarv to order a fleet
of taxis.”” Yes, sir, they had money to burn.

In a few minutes, Henderson and a couple of
sthers arrived. After a few words from the chairman
he made a pathetic appeal to us to assist Lloyd
George in the great fight he was making to win
the war.

When he had finished, 1 producad my clipping
of the Manchester speech, and asked him if it meant
that the Cabinet was going to attack the trade
anions. No, he repded, it was a personal expression
on the part of Llovd George. I thea asked if there
were no such thing as Cabinet responsibility, and,
if Lloyd George could publicly voice this personal
expression, would Henderson publicly repudiate it,
aiso as a ‘‘personal expression”? He hzdged on
this, but other officials joined in and demanded that
he, as a trade unionist. publicly repudiate Lloyd
George’s anti-trade-union statement He refused
to do so.

I then said, “Isn’t it clear that Henderson isn’t
nere as a free agent? He is permitted to come and
speak to us as the servant of one of our worst
enemies. How is it possible that a man can fall so
low? Fellow members, let us sead him back with
a message to his master that the Clyde trade unionists
are not the lackeys of the workers’ enemies.” There
were shout of “*‘Hear, hear!” and *Vote!” The
vote was then taken, with the same result as pre-
viously.

Headerson had fallen down on his job. He was
wild, blazing mad; but not as mad as I was some
ten years later, when, at the Liverpool Labour Party
Conference, Aitken Ferguson and I were discussing
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some questions with the Standing Orders Com-
mittee ; Henderson, apropos of something I had
caid, remarked with the lofty air of one whose soul
was unsullied by the follies and misdeeds of lesser
men. ‘“Those of us who have guarded the movement
‘n the past, can be trusted to guard its welfare in
the future.” .

1 looked at Fergie, I looked at the other, then 1
Sarst out with: “By God, you’re brazen You’ve
got the damned impudence to say that to me. Why
vou snivelling humbug, I was guarding and fighting
for the Labour Movement when vou were standing
on the ‘doormat’” He turned chalky white, and
while the other members of the Standing Orders
Committee were still gasping, he got up and left
the room.

That, however, was in 1925, When we finished
with kim that night in 1913, we went out, and there
a Carlton Place the taxis were all drawn up. I had
seven mi'es to go to Paisley ; Prentice of the Brass-
moulder’s travelled in the same direction. to the
“haif-way” betuween Paisler and Glasgow. We
travelled together and had some good laughs on
the way. Prentice tried to open the door, and
smashed the glass 1n the process **What’s that ?”
shouted the driver. *“Just another bob or two on
Henderson’s account,” said Prentice.

When 1 got home, about midnight, I found a
report of the Centrai Hall meeting waiting for me.
Everything had gone according to plan.

The following morning, Friday, the 24th, I was
up at my usual time, 4-30 a.m. That was the hour
at which most of us had to start the day in order to
get across the Clyde for six o’clock.

When I got to the factory, I had to report to the
shop stewards the events of the previous day.
Johnny Muir and I had taken the day off on the
Thursday, and made a tour of the shops ahead of
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Llyod George. All morning there was a buzz of
excitement throughout the departments. The ques-
tion was being continually put by one or another,
“Do you think he’ll come to the Albion P’ | replied
that I didn’t think so, but that we were ready for him
if he should. If he had come, not only would he
have found that the shop stewards refused to meet
him, but that we were all set to stop the factory as a
demonstration against him.

About 845 the manager sent for me. I went up
to the office, and he said, *“There’s a ’phone message
from the Central Station Hotel., Lord Murray
wants you.”’

*On, does he 7 I said.

“Look here, Gallacher,” saild the manager,
“what’s going on at all ? What does he want you for?”

“That’s too long a story for now,” I replied.
“You’'ll hear all about it later.’

I reported the matter to the shop stewards and
then got a tramcar up to the city. When I got tc
the hotel I found a group of officials at the entrance.
I had scarcely joined them when who should come
barging along but Harry Hill, with a pleasant smile
on his broad cheery face. He shook hands aand said,
“How are you, Willie ?” just as though we had
parted the best of friends the night before.

“But what are we here for this morning ?’’ he
continued.

“I suppose they think they’re going to talk us
into changing our minds,” [ said.

“What do they think we are ?’’ shouted Harry.
“Do they think we’ve nothing else to do but run
after them ! Tell them our decision stands, and
finmish with them.”

By this time most of the officials had arrived, so
we went up to our meeting. Liyod George was
absent, so Lord Murray took charge of the pro-
ceedings. Tables were set to form a square. Lord



THE CLYDE IN WARTIME 81

Murray, Henderson and some more of Lloyd George’s
outfit sat along the top. Buntin, Sharpe, Lorrimer
and Whitehead sat along the side to the right of the
chairman, while the rest of us sat around the bottom
and the left or on chairs at the rear of the room.

Lord Murray opened the proceedings with the
customary recital-—about the need for men and for
munitions. He told us what a wonderful man Lloyd ~
George was and how much he sympathized with the
workers; how under normal circumstances he would
do anything for the workers, but now his one thonght
was victory in the war. Would we help him ?

When he finished, he and the others looked at
me, so I took the floor. I started off with, ‘‘None of
us here is prepared to accept the statement that Lloyd
George is, or ever was, a friend of the workers. If
he’s so keen on winning the war, let him tackle the
employers. stop their profits. They're piling up
profits at our expense. However, that’s ousr war, the
war against the emplovers. We don’t mind him being
with them. It’s what we expect, but when he asks
us to assist him 1a carrying through their plans, that’s
treating us cheap, to say the least of it. We stand
for the workers we represent, and while there are
employers reaping profits we’ll carry on the war
against them.”

Bailie Whitehead jumped to his feet and, in his
best City Council manner, addressed the Chair:
“My Lord Murray,” said the Bailie, “‘this man is out
for bloody revolution. He is not here representing
trade unionists. He is here representing a group
of irresponsible revolutionaries like himself, and they
don’t care whether the war is won or not.”

Two or three of the others started shouting
across at Whitehead, and it took some time before
the chairman could get order restored. Then Sam
Buntin slowly raised himself from his seat. He had
something to say and he meant to say it.
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“*My lord.” A pause; then, pointing a finger at
me, “This man has been repudiated by his own
colleagues.” Sam meant to create a sensation and he
succeeded

““What do you mean P’ queried Lord Murray.

“My lord,” said Sam, “while he was at our
meeting last night getting us to turn down the
Lloyd George meeting, his own committee met in the
Central Hall and decided to carry on withit. A
group of them came round to our hall this morning
and took away the tickets.”

Lord MMurray looked at him in consternation. He
immediately realized what the slower-witted Sam had
failed to grasp—Llovd George was in the hands of
the Philistines

“Is this true?’ he asked me. “Have you
tickets 27’

*We have,” I replied.

“Excuse me, gentlemen,” he said; and went into
the adjoining room to consult Lloyd George, who had
just returned to the hotel. In a few minutes he came
back, Lloyd George with him. He gazed coldly at the
company and said, “That’ll be all, gentlemen, good
day.”” And then, ‘“Mr. Galiacher, will yvou please
wait for a moment ?”

So they were dismissed without a word of apology
or explanation. They were “fine fellows” when they
could be of use, but they could now no longer be of
service.

All those who had voted against participation
were delighted at the turn of events. They were
glad to escape any association with the meeting and
they knew what our distribution of tickets meant for
Lloyd George. But Sharp, Buntin and the other
‘“patriots’” went away feeling miserable. Later on,
however, Sharp got a job as technical advisor to the
employers, and Buntin got into the Glasgow office of
the Labour Ministry.
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\Vhen they had all gone Lord Murray and Lloyd
George came over to me.

“Can you get in touch with the members of your
committee ?” Lioyd George asked.

“Yes,”” 1 replied.

“Will you arrange for me to meet them this
evening ?’

“] will,” T answered. ¢We’'ll meet you here at
seven o’clock.”

¢“Thank you, Mr. Gallacher ! Thank you ! He
was very effusive. v

The word was sent round and the committee
met at 630 We bhad a short session putting the
final touches to our arrangements. Then at seven
o’clock we entered the room where the session had
been held during the day. Lloyd George occupied
the central position at the top table, with his col-
ieagues on either side. I was his opposite number
at the bottom table, with Johany Muir, Kirkwood and
Mcllanus on my right; Messer, Tommy Clark and
some otaers on my left VWe had also added to the
committee two women workers.

The first act of the Minister was to pass around a
box of cigars. His own crowd dutifully took theirs
but we refused them. Some of us took out our pipes.
Lloyd George, always ready to take a trick, stuck his
hand in his pocket, brought out a pipe, and said
“That’s right, boys Why should we be formal? If
we are gomg to talk, let us be comfortable; and
what’s more comforting than a good pipe 2”

“What’s the procedure you propose ?’’ I asked.

“Well,” he replied, beaming on us, “I thought
it would be best if I made a statement giving my
views om the situation. Then you could ask what
questions you felt were urgent, following which we
could agree about the procedure for the meeting
to-morrow.””

“We cannot accept that,” I said. “We propose
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that you make your statement. Then we shall
present our views. We shall then see if it is possible
to come to an agreement on the all-important
question of control of dilution. That's our pro-
position.>’ After a short time, this was agreed. It
was either that or finish, before we started.

This much agreed upon, Lloyd George got going.
He gave us a tyvpical propaganda speech. About
the ravages of the war, of the deadly nature of
machine-gunning from pill-boxes, of our determi-
nation to carry on till victory, but that munitions
were the key to victory. We were short of men to
man the factories at present operating ; new factories
had to be built Therefore thousands of new
workers were needed, and we had to find them.
He looked to us for support. As he looked at us he
could see that strong spirit of independence that
would never tolerate the military domination of
Germany. Yes, he knew that we were the very men
to rely upon in a crisis.

Such, in general, was the line he took. Yet only
a couple of days earlier he had stated to the Press
that under no circumstances would he have anything
to do with us.

1 said a few words to the effect that all he had
told us was already well known ; and then called on
Johnny Muir to state our case.

Johnny was masterly in the hindling ot the
subject. He dealt very briefly with the d=velopment
of capitalism and with the fact that the one and only
concern of the employers was profit ; tnat in pursuit
of profit every change in the method of prod iction
was used to cheapen the cost, and that this took the
form of continually introducing new types of <emi-
skilled or unskilled labour at the lowest pos-ible
rate of wages. Thus he showed that diiution bad
always been a feature of capitalist developmeunt.

Now, however, he continued, the specdiag of pro-
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juction necessitated by the war had made an extra-
ordinary acceleration of this process an urgent
necessity. All this we understood. We weren't
trying to stop the process. On the contrary, we
were all in favour of encouraging it. But we had
o take note of the fact that large-scale dilution
would be used by the emplovers to introduce chezp
labour and by this means force a general all-round
lowering of standards. Against anything like this
we would fight with all our power. The position
therefore stood as follows: the Minister wantecd a
large influx of new labour, dilution. We had no
objection to this The only question at issue between
us was: who was going to control the process—the
emplovers or the workers? The Minister had szid
that he held no brief for the employers. His one
concern was to win the war. We therefore proposed
that the Government take over the factories, right
out of the hands of the employers, and put the fuil
control of all matters relating to wages, working
conditions and the introduction of new labour, into
the hands of the factory committees

Such, in short, was the case Johnny so ably pre-
sented. Vhile he was speaking, the pompous little
peacock at the top of the room was doing everything
to distract attention. I have never in all my life
seen such a pitiful example of uncontrollable con-
ceit. He brushed at his moustache, he pawed at his
hair, looking around to see if he was the centre of
attention. His “yes-men’ played up to him. They
had their eyes on him, not on Johnny Muir. Then,
to crown it all, he turned to Henderson, on his right,
and started whispering. This meant that he was
half-turned away from Johnoy Muir,

I suddenly said, “That’ll do, Johnny. Stop ™

Johnny stopped. They all sat up with a start.
Addressing Lloyd George, I remarked, “Excuse me,
Mr. Lloyd George., If you don’t want to hear us,
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we’ll go. We're not here to waste our time.”

““But I’ve been listening,” he hurriedly exclaimed.
“I’ve heard every word.”

‘““¥ou haven’t been listening,’’ { said. ‘‘All the
boys here know you haven’t. As for you, Henderson,
you ought to be ashamed of yourself. You, a trade
unionist, lending yourself to such indifference when
a fellow trade umomst is stating a difficult case.
Either you give Johnay attention or we go.”’

‘“‘Please go on, Mr. Muir,”” Lioyd George begged.
“It’s very mterestmg

““Go ahead, Johany ! 1 said.

So Johnny went on to bis conclusion with the
whole top table’s attention directed towards him.

When he had finished, I called on Kirkwood tc
say a few words Kirkwood said: “I think [ gave
him enough vesterday out at Parkhead, so I’ll content
myself with saying that ! stand by every word
uttered by Johnny Muir He’s presented the rignt
question : Who’s going to control the factories ?
And I tell you, Mr. Lloyd George, Minister of
Munitions, we are.”’

I then asked McManus to speak. He made it
short and very effective. Johnnyv Muir had stated
the committee’s case. Tnere could be no misunder-
standing of where we stood on that question But
in view of the speech made by Lloyd George which
was mostly pro-war propaganda, it would be as
well to let him know where we stood on this, We
knew it was a war for trade and territory, said
McManus, a war carried on for the purposes of
imperialism. We were not supporting any such
war. We opposed it. Therefore, there was no
possibility of getting us to yield in the slightest
degree, on any issue affecting conditions in the
industry, by any appeal based on the need for winning
the war. If that were understcod, we should be in a
better position to face the only question before us:
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“Who is going to control dilution ?

After the two women had each said a few words,
Licxc George took the floor. He was really expan-
sive in his praise of Johnny Muir. Rarely had it been
his pleasure to hear a case so clearly and ably put,
but the proposals were impossible; he couldn’t consider
them.

“Why not 2’ I interjected.

“Because,” he replied, ‘fit would mean a reveo-
lutien, and jou can’t carry through a revolution in
the midst of war.”

It was only a cocuple of years later, however, that
Lenin and the Bolsheviks showed him just how that
very thing could be done.

We were able to show Llyod George that he was
proving our argument. If the employers had toc
choose between losing the war and losing their profits,
they’d stop the war and fight for their profits. He
didn’t like it—not one little bit—and he scon brought
the discussion to a close. The next item was the
meeting on the following day.

He then proposed the following, without a smile.
Henderson as chairman would speak for twenty
minutes ; then Llyod George would speak for about
sixty minutes, after which he would answer a few
written questions, And this was termed on the
tickets a ‘‘conference” on dilution !

We told him he could never get away with any-
tling like that. The shop stewards wouldn’t stand
for a propaganda speech on the war. They were
coming to discuss the conditions under which
dilution would be introduced and they would see to it
that that, and nothing else, was the subject considered.
We proposed two minutes for Henderson to introduce
the speakers. Then half an hour for Llyod George
to state his views on the new labou: forces, and
Jobnny Muir to follow with a statement on our views <
after which discussion would take place on the floor,

6
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This was a ciear, straightforward proposal, if
it were to be a conference such as he himself had
called for. Did he cousider it 7 Not a bit !

“All right,”” we said. ¢‘Nobody can stop you
from having your own way. You can decide what
vou and Henderson propose doing, but you can’t make
the shop stewards listen to you.”

“Oh,” he said, quite cocky ‘‘They’ll listen to me.”

“You’re in for the surprise of youar life,” we
told bim.

But nothing could change his mind, so the
meeting breke up.

We were to have vet further evidence of his
colossal egotism bezfore we finally finished with him.
He had become so accustomed to ‘“‘ves-men’” and
lackeys tnat he had come to believe that a few soft
words, with a hint of favours to come, was suffi-
cient for anyone. We were out of the hali, and were
Zonning our hats and coats, when one of the
secretaries came running out.

““Oh, Mr. Gallacher,” as he got his eye on me,
“Mr. Lloyd George would like to have a word
with you.”

I asked the boys whether I should go. VYes, they
said, see what he’s got to say. So Il went back in.

All the troop had gone, leaving only Lord
Murray with Llyvod George. When I walked over,
the latter put his arm round my shoulder in a
famiiiar manner. He told mel was a great fellow.
That it was obvious } had won the confidence of
my colleagues. He was sure there was a great
future ahead of me. I let him go on for a bit and
then asked what he wanted. He was very anxious
that the meeting the following day should be a
success. It would be a tragedy if anything went
wrong. He wanted to make a personal appeal to
me for my support He would see that [ didn’t
regret it. Would [ come on the platform with him ?
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1 replied that I would go on the platform If he
accepted our conditions: half an hour for nimself,
then Johnny Muir, followed by an open discussion.

He got irritated at this. “Conditions, conditions,
conditions ! You know I can’t accept such conditions.”

“YWell,” I said, “you can’t get our support, and,
believe me, you won’t get anywhere without it.”

“I can’t talk tc you-——yvou’re impossible,” he
barked, and went barging out of the room. Lord
Murray looked the picture of misery

“Now,” | said, *is that the way to behave?
He asks me in, and then treats me like that.”
Murray shook his head and said, *“I'm sorry you
could not come to an agreement.” We shook hands
and I left him standing there, brooding. I got back
among the boys and reported what had happened.
Did we laugh?

%* * * ® £ 3

Saturday, December 23, Christmas Day, and all
eyes turned towards St. Andrew’s Hall, where the
modern St. George was going to slay the dragon of
uarest and conquer the taruly Clvde.

The hall soon filled with shop stewards and when
thev entered what a sight met their gaze! The
balcony of the hall continues right on to the tier of
seats above the platform, so that, under ordinary
circumstances, anyone in the balcony can move
down on to the platform. But—not on Christmas
Day, 1915! On each side of the balcony, a few feet
above the platform tier, which was unoccupied
during the proceedings, powerful barricades had
been erected ; while, Iined right across the hall in
front of the platform, were several rows of policemen.
St. George had himself well protected.

Our boys now started singing. They kept it
going till the platform party came on, and then all
got to their feet and the “Red Flag” was sung, the
platform having to stand tc the finish.
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Henderson then stepped forward to speak, and
the storm broke. Roar after roar at the hapless
Henderson. After vain attempts to be heard, he
made a gesture, and Lloyd George got up. He
pranced up and down the platform; he waved his
arms ; he stretched them out in mute appeal.

In a moment of comparative quiet, ke shouted,
“] appea: to vou in the name of my old friend, the
late Keir Hardie !”

At the menticn of Keir Hardie’s name, the “Red
Flag” was sung again. He stormed and tnreatened,
he screamed and shouted till the sweat ran down his
face, bur it was ail of no use. When he stopped
through sheer exhaustion, the signal was given and
Johnny Muir got up on a s=zat.

There was instantaneous silence as Johnny started
to speak on the actual questions for which we had
been calied together. Henderson, Lloyd George and
the others walked off the platform, leaving the
meeting in our hands. Immediately after the meering,
the Ministry of Munitions issued an “official’’ report
to the Press. The Glasgow Horward published a
true report and was immediately suppressed.

Comment has often been made by British jour-
nalists regarding the slavish conditions of the Nazi
Press, as if it were something entirely foreign to the
British conception of journalism. But the British
Press can be just as venal and submissive as the
German. That is one of the lessons learned from the
last European war.

But while Tom Johnston, who owned the
Forward, published that story and paid for doing so
with several weeks’ suppression, he looked with
great disfavour upon the Clyde Workers’ Committee,
except of course, when it was providing protection for
pacifist meetings. It had been obvious for some time
that we had to get a paper of our own. The Llyod
George meeting provided the opportunity. We got
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quite a number of those who attended to apply for
the seven and sixpence expenses money, and then
to hand it over to a fund for our paper.

By the middle of January 1916 our paper, Tke
Worker, appeared, with Johnny Muir as editor. Our
printers were the Socialist Labour Party Press, in
Renfrew Street. Surely there was never 2 paper so
well received ! Bundles going into the factories were
eagerly bought by the workers. Those of us who
were writing for it put our hearts in it. Johnston
the following week was in London, interviewing
Lloyd George about the Forward.

Lloyd George showed him Zh¢ Worker. “Loock
at this,” he said, “I thought vour paper was bad,
but it’s nothing to this. This can’t be tolerated.”’
The @Glasgow Times had a paragraph commenting
on the first issue, as follows :

“The Worker has appeared. It is presented
as the organ of the Clyde Workers’ Committee.
Whoever has started the organ has pulled out all
the stops and got both feet on treadles.”

We got out four issues and the fifth was on the
press when the blow fell. In the fourth issue an
article had appeared wrirtten by an [L.P. pacifist
entitled **‘Should the workers arm ?” and this was
used as the pretext for attacking us.

Johnny Muir and 1 were arrested, as was also
Walter Bell, manager of the S.L.P. Press. It was
jate on a cold winter night when we were thrown
into the cells of the Northern police station.

After walking up and down for a while in my
cell, I decided to settle down. There was no bed
other than a composition block raised a little from the
floor, shaped like a bed and pillow. I got my coat
and jacket off, removed my shoes, pushed my feet
into the sleeves of my jacket, put my hat beneath
my head and covered myself with my overcoat.
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comfcriab’e and started counting
Defo.: I nad succeeded | heard
tae corridor and thea tre
x. The door was thrown oper
walked John Wheatley and
ed on my shoes and got up.

Kirkwood said, a! my, what a business.”
Wheatley asked trz tursksy if there were no blankets.
He szid there were, Sat ke didn’t advise using them.
Ther were lousy. Kirk wood zaid @ Ay ! oh my !
agaic. Wheatley asked me if 1 was all right;
when | assured him that 1 -vas, he w0ld me things
weren't so good witl josnny. He was very concerned
atout him. He tcid me he sad made arrangements tc
have us represented and we shouid not worry.

It was my first fime in priscn and everything was
strange to me. ( was so pieased with Wheatley’s visit
that I was prepared o agree to anything, From that
time on, VWheatley’s influence over several of the
comrades became so prooounced that they would do
nothing without consulting him.

He had engag=d Rosslya Mlitchell, the solicitor,
to take charge of cur case. He was a dapper little
gentleman with a beaming, cultivated smile. Some-
one had told him that ne resembled Lord Rosebery,
and he tried to iive up to the part, with winged collar,
spats, and all,

In the mornicg we came before a magistrate, and
were handed over to the Sheriff who committed us
to prison pending our trial in the High Court. We
were charged with: “Having on or about January
29th at 30 Renirew Street or elsewhere in Glasgow
attempted tO cause mutiny. sedition or disaffection
among the civilian populaticn, and to impede, delay
and restrict the production of war material by
producing, printing, publishing and circulating
amongst workers in and around Glasgow engaged on
war materials, a newspaper entitled TAhe Worker.”
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But the morning when word of the arrests got
around, was the start of an eruption on the Clyde.
Several of the factcries ‘‘downed tools’” and thers
was a demonstration at the Sheriff’s Court. Kirk-
wcod was with Wheatley at the court, but ncne of
the Parkhead workers accompanied him. He did
not try to bring them out as a demonstration, but
came to the court with a promise to call them out -
if we were not liberated. Those who were already
on strike were demanding our unconditional release,
but Mr. Mitchell was already arranging for bail.
The following morning, Wednesday, we were let
out on bail of 4 50 each and those wko had struck
returned to work, leaving a feeling, not very pro-
nounced, but nevertheless there—that Parkhead under
Kirkwocd’s leadership had not played its part.

* * * #* ®

Scme time before this, three dilution commis-
siopers, Sir Thcmas Munro, Lynden Macassey and
Isaac }litchell, bad ccme to Glasgow to introduce
schemes of diluticn in the factories. They had with
them proposals, which meant not a lmiting of the
powers of the emplcyers, but a serious limiting of
the powers of the stewards. The Clyde Workers’
Committee publisked a statement attacking these
proposals Then a delegate meeting came to the
decisicn that no factory commitiee would have any
dealings with the Ccmmissioners, but would refer
them to the Clycde Workers’ Committee, which would
meet tFem and discuss the Clyde as a whole.

Tte Commissioners felt their way around and
soon realized what they were up against, Aftera
week or two of vain endeavour, they concentrated
their attention cn Parkhead. We were seeing very
little of Kirkwcod at the time; he was almost always
in the company cf John Wheatley. A week after
cur liberation on bail, we met one night ard were
utterly staggered to learn that Parkhead had broken
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the front and signed a separate agreement with the
Commissioners.

We seat for Kirkwood and found that it was only
too true. He= read out a statement he had submitted
to the Commissioners, which was juast a series
of generalities, commutting the Commissioners to
nothing. But, tacked on to this, were the following
clauses:

‘1) That the income of the new class of labour
bz fdved, not on the sex, previous training or
experience of the worker but upon the amount of
work performed, based on rates presently obtain-
ing for the particular operation.

2+ That a committee appointed hy the workers
be accented by the employvers, with power to see
that this arrangement is loyally carried out.
Failing agreemesnt between employer and the
sommittee, the matter be referred to a final tri-
bunal, mutually agreed.

{3) That a record of all past and present
changes in practice be handed to the convenor of
shop stewards and by him remitted to the | District
Office to be retained for future reference.

{4} That all skilled and semi-skilled men who
were engaged at the Engineering trade in the
service of the firm immediately prior to the war be
granted a certificate to that effect.

13} No alteration shall take place in this scheme
unless and until due notice is given to the work-
men concerned and the procedure is followed as
prescribed by Clause 7 of Schedule 11, of the
Munitions of War Act, 1915.

The fatal weakness was clauses one and two.
Clause one refers only to payment according to output
and clause two proposes a committee that would meet
the employers when any dispute on payments arose.

There is no mention of any shop committee to
regulate conditions or ftransfers in the various
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departments. WIith no provision made for such a
shop committee, with the right to general super-
vision, obviously there was no ,provision for the
chairman of such a committee or for the convenor
of shop stewards supervising changes taking place,
or intervening in particular departments where
difficulties arose. All the employers were committed
to was the retention of existing piece rates
and the recognition of a committee on this question
only.
In the course of our talk with Kirkwood bhe
declared he was concerned with Parkhead alone and
as this agreement had safeguarded the Parkhead
workers he was satisfied This statement went circu-
lating around the Clyde and caused incalculable harm.
The whole front started cracking up  After they had
got through in several places, the Commission came
to the Albion. But our factory committee per-
suaded the management to dispense with the services
of the Commission, claiming that we aad they, the
maanagement, were quite capable of deciding what
had to be done in such matters. The Commission
were invited, very courteously of course, to leave
the premises, after which the factory committee and
the management worked out an agreement on the
conditions under which the dilution would take
place. This was a model agreement in the circum-
stances. All “Dilutees,”” women and men, would
start at 30s. per week and in three equal monthly
increases, would draw the full rate, with all bonuses,
at the end of three months. Full inspection of
conditions to be allowed to the factory committee with
n0 interference or limitation in the ordinary functions
of the committee.

Immediately this was signed, I went up to Barr
and Stroud’s, where Johnny Muir was employed, and
gave him a copy. He was successful in getting the
same agreement through there. Then, at Parkhead,
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things took an agly turn. Hitaerto 1t sad b2en the
custom for the convenor of shop stewards or caairman
of the factory commiites t3 g0 :nto any departmen:
where there was troable, or for a rapressatative ot
that department to visit tne convenor. In Parxkhead
this had been tne rule concerning Kirkwood for many
years. Now, as a conseqaence of the agreement he
himself had signed. he was pronibized from leaving
his own department and no one was allowed to leave
another depariment 10 see him, whatever the trouble
might be. Eaca department was thus closed to its
neighbours. Its troubles had to be settled withou:
reference to ine others.

VWhen wmirkwood was presented with this ulti~
maturm ne resigned his position as coavenor of shop
stewards, declaric-z that he would never carry on
under sucn conditions The shop stewards decided
not 1o accept his resignation and then. after fruitiess
negotiations with Sir Willlam Beardmore, whc
simply referred them to the agreement, they called a
strike. Immediately Kirkwood was arrested, so alsc
were Messer, McManus, Bridges, Wainwright and
several others. Tommy Clark was picked up a dax
or two later. They were taken to the station a:
night and entrained for Edinburgh and Aberdeen,
deported from Glasgow. The following morning, the
commiitee in the Albion decided to strike along with
Parkread and Dalmuir, the latter aiso a plant of
Beardmore’s At Mleechan’s, a short way up the
Ciyde from the Albion, they were doing sub-contrac:
work from Parkhead, and we succeeded in getting a
stoppage there.

I rushed up to Barr and Stroud’s to see Johany
Muir. Barr and Stroud’s hadn’t stopped, neither
had Weir’s, Brown’s, Fairfield’s nor any other of the
decisive factories. Parkhead had broken the front.
Parkhead could take the consequences. Such was
the situation we were facing.
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When | saw Johnny he proposed we go into the
ity to see Wheatley. This we did, and out of our
talk with him came the proposition that Johnny and
I, in view of the fact that in the factories where we
were employed full freedom of inspection was
operating, should go to the Ministry of Munitions
in London and make a fight to get this agreement
made applicable all round, and the deportation order
withdrawn., This was considered more possible as
Lloyd George was in France and Addison in charge
of the Dlldinistry. I saw the committee at the
Albion and they supported this suggestion and
promised whatever happened to hold the Albion out
till we got back. We travelled down that night and,
with the assistance of Ramsay MacDonald and
Pringle (a Radical M. P.), an interview was arranged
with Dr. Addison.

The day before, in an attack on the strike and in
justification of the deportations, Addison had said
in the House of Commons, ‘At different times strikes
have been brought about sometimes on the most
trivial grounds by a self-appointed body known as
the Clyde Wecrkers” Committee. This Committee
decided about a fortnight ago to embark on a policy
of holding up the production of the mest important
munitions of war in the Clyde district with the
object, I am informed, of compelling the Government
to repeal the Military Service Act, and the Munitions
9f War Act, and to withdraw all limitations on
increases of wages and strike and all forms of
Government control ..... The Executive Committee of
the Amalgamated Society of Engineers on the matter
being reported to them by the local officials im-
mediately issued a statement repudiating the strike,
forbidding the payment of strike benefit and calling
on the men to return to work.”

Sir Edward Carson: “May I ask if it has been
considered whether these men are not guilty of
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assisting the King’s enemies and are thereby guilty
of High Treason ?”’

Dr Addison: “Yes. The whole matter is being
considered.” {Hansuard, March 28, 1916.)

Sir Edward Carson, it should be mentioned here,
was one of the members of the Government most
anxious for a High Treason charge to be brought
against the rebels of the Clyde These were pro-
letarian rebels, daring to oppose the high panjandrums
of private property and robber Imperialism. They
were different entirely from the rebels of Ulster of
whom, just two short vears before, Carson himself
nad been the leader.

The Ulster rebels had been armed to thz teeth,
and threatened war against the Government if it
dared to go ahead with its Home Rule for Ireland
proposals. Carson and his associate, ¢“Galloper”’
Smith, had uttered all kinds of viclent incitement
against the ¢Recognized and established Autho-
rities,” and actually succeeded in stirring up a mutiny
of Army officers in the Curragh camp. I was living
in Bangor (Ulster) in the early part of 1914, whence I
travelled every morning to my work in Belfast.

One morning early, I turned into the Station
Road, which ran up direct from the harbour. I found
the road ©blocked with a detachment of Carson’s
“Private Army’’ with fixed bayonets Nobody was
allowed to enter the road. The “Storm Troops’ were
engaged in unloading a shipful of munitions, supplied
by Germany.

Night after night the forces were out parading
and drilling. In the factories and in other prominent
places large, striking, proclamations were exhibited
giving details of the signals that would be used to
call a general uprising.

I remember another morning in February 1914.
i came out of the station at Belfast and made my
way along the docks to where I was employed. It
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was a raw cold morning. A heavy leaden sky blank-
eted Belfast with a steady penetrating drizzle of rain.
As [ approached the Liverpool dock, I found a great
crowd gathering, many of them poorly clad, cold and
shivering. They were waiting the arrival of the
Liverpool boat and ‘““the leader.” I passed on my way
to work, but later on in the day I read of the arrival
and what happened.

When the boat drew in Carson did not disem-
bark. Instead, Craig and some others drove up to
the dock in their expensive cars. They went on board
where breakfast had been prepared. They sat down
in the comfort of the saloon and enjoyed it, while the
hungry crowd clustered together for warmth outside.
After their job of eating was finished they walked
down the gangway amid the enthusiastic cheering of
the rain-soaked crowd, entered the cars and drove off
to Craigavon’s Castle. The crowd dispersed, many
of them making their way to the wretched Belfast
slums they have to call homes.

But the remarkable thing about that visit was
the character of the captions in the *‘Loyalist Press.”
It ran in great block letters:

‘“He 1s WITH US TO-DAY.”

“He” the great one, the saviour. Thus long
before Hitler was heard of, the idea was already being
operated in the North of Ireland It is necessary to
note this, to give particular attention to it especially
on the part of those who say that ¢Britain is differ-
ent,” for it can be laid down with the utmost precision
that there is nothing associated with fascism, its idea
of centralization, its demagogy, its brutality or its
independent army, that has not already been in
evidence in this country.

In fact it is from the British bourgeoisie, farsee-
ing and cunning, that most of theinspirations for
the brutality of monopoly capitalism have come.

To revert to Addison. With the assistance of
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MacDonald and Pringle we kept at him, and latteriy
got him almost to the point of agieement on the
withdrawal of the deportation order. So near agree-
ment were we that a meeting was fixed for the next
morning to decide on a formula. But the following
morning =z2ll went up in smoke. Lloyd George aad
returned from France and when he heard what was
happening he nearly threw a fit. He crdered Addisen
to finish with the business. Addison obeyed and
sent a note to MacDonald ending our happy little
romance. In the aftercooa in tizte Houss of Commons
there was an awful blow-out arising from a question
put by Pringle asking why Addison had broken off
negotiations. Addison denied that there had been
“pegotiations.”” There had been conversations but
no negotiations Furthermore, Pringle had come
into Addcison's private room without an invitation.
MacDonald had been welcome, but not Pringle, he
said. To which Pringle replied that I had asked him
to accompany us and had refused to discuss anything
unless he were present. This was absolutely correct,
as Pringle was outstanding in the House of Commons
as a critic of the Government. Pringle put up a good
defence, but was followed by MacDonald who ruined
his case and put him at the mercy of Lloyd George
apnd Addison.

In his most plaintive tones MacDonald bewailed
the fact that divisions had arisen between himself and
many of his old and valued friends in the House of
Commons. He then concluded, “But I beg this
House to believe me wken I say tha: rather than that
division of opinion should make me an agent to bring
men out on strike just now I should wish that some-
thing should happen of one kind or another which
would destroy every particle of influence that ever [
bad with the working men of this country. Within
two months of the outbreak of war I made publicly in
my own coastituency an appeal to m=n who are work-
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‘ng on munitions to work honestly on munitions.”
(#ansard, March 30, 1916.

This was meat and drink for the other fellows
and they went all out against Pringle and the Clyde
VWorkers’ Committee.

Addison said of Pringle, “He has chosen to make
himself the spokesman, in this House, of the Cliyde
V¥orkers’ Committee, a body which with a treacherous
disregard of the highest National interests, has made
itself respcnsible for promoting strife and putting
obstacles in the way of the full and rapid equipment of
our armies in the field. > {Hansard, March 30, 1916.}

Lloyd George in a disconnected speech, “tore a
passion to tatters’”> How he had listened and waited,
he said, while Pringle spoke, for one word of the
character which had later concluded the speech of his
‘riend, the hon, member for Leicester (MacDonald).
But not a word of condemnation for the strikers, only
an zttempt to justify them. And what was Pringle
‘dentifying himself with ? ¢“This,”” he shouted, ‘“is
purely an organization for sedition. not merely against
ke Government but ageainst the trade unions them-
seives.”

To Pringle’s taunt that he himself on a previous
occasion had testified to our sincerity, he said he
still held to that. What was all the trouble about
now ? There would have been no trouble ‘‘had it
not been for this very sincere and rather fanatical
man coming to my friend, the hon. member for
Leicester. Had it mnot been for the fact that
he was sincere, and that therefore the men
believed in him, he could not have this influence for
mischief.”

But let us give Lloyd George credit for being an
honest little fellow. He drew attention to the fact
that 1 was coming up for trial shortly and as the case
was sub judice he would not say anything to influence
it. Jobnny Muir and 1 were sirting in the gallery ;
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and his touching impartiality almost brought tears tc
our eves.

When Johnny and 1 got back to Glasgow we
found things as we had left them. Parkhead was
still out, with only Dalmuir, Albion and Meechan’s
supporting them. It was clear that we were in a
hopeless position. Two days we had been away,
but these days were vital. In such a strike it is the
first days that count. If I had gone to see the factory
committees at several of the other factories, instead
of tryving a piece of ¢“clever” intriguing in London,
the situation might have been saved. DBut now it
was too late. There was no chance now of getting
any others to act. Qur visit to London at such =z
critical moment was evidence of the demoralization
that had spread amongst us, with the rapid offensive
that bad taken place. We had not prepared ourselves
for It; and when it came we coliapsed. The strike
continued for several days ; then one morniog,
while we were still out at the Albion, word came
that Parkhead were back in. The demoralization was
complete.



CHAPTER VII
CONSCRIPTION AND PRISON

URING all this period the general campaign

against the war was proceeding more actively
than ever. McLean was everywhere., His indoor
meetings were packed out, with crowds outside
clamouring for admission ; until he was forced toc
run two meetings a night. He was the centre of
the anti-war movement ; and all the other movements,
whatever their tendencies, supported the general line
he was taking. He demanded an iImmediate
armistice, with no annexations and no indemnities ;
along with this went his drive for the revolutionary
overthrow of the capitalist class.

But the sinister campaign for conscription was
growing, and already, by the end of 1915, had
reached the stage of definite proposals. There-
fore, all kinds of people were looking to the Clyde for
some action to prevent it. Early in January 191¢€
Bruce Glasier came to Glasgow and had a meeting
at the Glasgow headquarters of the L. L.P., with
the leaders of the Clyde Workers’ Committee. He
begged us to do something to stop conscription.
Others came with similar appeals, to all of which we
answered that we were prepared to do all in our
power to bring the war to an end and to defeat the
capitalist class.

At the beginning of January we passed a resolu-
tion and circulated it widely throughout the Clyde.
It read as follows :

“This delegate meeting of the Clyde Workers’
Committee, recognizing that the purport of the
conscription is not a fuller supply of soldiers but

7
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the cheapening of soldiers and the military controil
of industry and consequently the abolition of the
function of our trade unions, resolves to take such
action as is necessary to prevent conscription.”’

In the first issue of Zhe Worker we made this a
feature. ‘We carried on the agitation in the factories,
while MclLean conducted it outside. =IZvery day he
spoke at the factory gates. From one end of the
Clyvce to the other he travelled. Every night he
spoke on the streets, in tine halls or lecture rooms.
He =was turning oat scores of new agitators and
distributing them tc all parts of the area. All over
the Clyde the atmosphere was becoming electrical.
Ve shouid have realized that the situation was now
so full of danger for the Government, and for “the
successful prosecation of tne war,” that they would
be forced to take action.

But while McLean’s personality carried us all
Jorward into a torrent of agitation, and while through
the ractory commlttees and the Clyde Workers
Ceriral Committee, we had a strong workshop
organization, there was no experienced political
leadership that could harmonize 2ll these currents and
weld them into a whole. So when the attack came,
we cauld not meet it,

On Sunday, February 6, McLe=an was arrested by
*ne military authorities and confined to Edinburgh
Castle. Bu: there he caused so much trouble that
they gladly randed :im over to the civil authorities,
who, after committing him for trialon a charge of
sedition. allo vad him out on a bail of 4 100. Petrov
was internsd. and after the revolution, deported to
Russia. Maxton, McDougall and Jack Smith—
the latter an English anarchist who had bsen working
in the Clyde engineering shops for a few years—
~were also arrested on charaes of sedition.

Maxton and McDougall, it may be said, had
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deliberately set out to get arrested, as an alternative
to being conscripted; this in itself was an indication
of the lack of political understanding and leadership
existing at the time. Edinburgh was fixed as the
venue for the various sedition trials. This made it
bad for us, as Edinburgh, while having a consider-
able working-class population, was by tradition
aristocratic and reactionary. But to make things a
thousand times worse there was a Zeppelin raid over
Edinburgh with ccnsiderable casualties and damage
just a few days before the trials opened We were
accused in the Press of being in the pay of the
Germans. “German gold,”’ according to the patriots,
was pouring into the Civde. Ve had even *‘received
a letter from the Kaiser thanking us for our
co-operation’ The ‘‘letter’” was actually in existence
in the form of a leaflet, but it dida't come from
Germany ; it was manufactured in Whitehall.

But whether or no the Kaiser thanked us for our
co-cperaticn, we certainly couldn’t thank tne Ger-
mans {or their co-cperation, for that air raid in
Edinburgn elim'nated every spark of sympatoy for
the “German agents” of tke Clyde, from tne minds
acld hearts of tane twelve good men and true. and
left them stony-eyed and stony-hearted, with a
verdict of ¢guilty’ sewed up tight before the cases
started.

Eventually, McLean came up for trial. JMany
workers had come up from Glasgow and some of
them had succeeded in getting into the court. The
atmosphere in Edinburgh was hostile ; in the court
it was deadly. Lord Strathclyde occupied the bench
and his attitude was that to be expected. The case
against McLean was put by the Lord Advocate,
Avon Clyde, with a number of police agents giving
evidence. McLean defended himself, and never did
he rise to greater heights. In the midst of enemies
and informers, he lashed out and seared them with



106 REVOLT ON THE CLYDE

..5 contempt. This speech from the dock, Ilate-
published as a pamphlet, was full of striking phrases.
I stand here not as the accused,” he declared, *‘but
as the accuser, the sccuser cf capitalism dripping with
t'ood from head to foot.””

He declared his revolutionary faith, his hatred ol
capitalism and the credatory wars of capitalism,
kis undyving lovalty to the class war—the war of the
vorkers. It was 2 magniflcent eficrt, during whici
the udge and Lord Advocate sat glum and glaring.
After the judge’s sumrming up no time was lost in
zetting a verdict of “guility”. licLean was sentenced
to three vears™ penal servitude.

The mnext trial was that of Muir, Walter Bell
c=d myself. We came up in the same court, but
v hat a contrast ! If MclLean held high the banner
> revolutionary struggle, we dragged it, or allowegd
i: 1o be dragged, in the mire Even now it is hard
to think of it without a feeling of shame. Wheatley
was there all the time, advising us ; the impeccable
Llitchell, our solicitor ; and a counsel, of whom we
had never heard before and have never heard of
since.

They tried to persuade me to keep out of the
witness box. arguing that the prosecution had nc
direct evidence of responsibility, which they would
endeavour to get if anyone went into the box ; as
*key might try to force me to tell who wrote the
article. But, despite all their efforts to dissuade me,
1 took the stand. One of the exhibits in the case
was our first leaflet, in which we accused the trade
union leaders of treachery by supporting the
Government.

Did I accept responsibility for this leaflet 7 Yes.
Had I written the article in Z42e Worker ? No. Who
wrote it? I didn’t know. Do you approve of the
editor putting it in the paper > Yes Thus the
guestions and answers went on until it was obvious
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xe were well sunk. Every time the Lord Advocate
made a point, he smirked at the judge and jury.
Of course, it would have made no difference as
regards the final decision. Even if I had not gone
into the box, ocur conviction was assured from the
peginning ; but Mitchell had been trying to persuade
us that our penalty might only be a fine, a heavy
fine perhaps, but no more. It was a rotfen business
all through, and my only satisfaction was that, as z
result of going into the box, I was able to share
respounsibility with Johnny Muir.

This trial-—and the subsequent trial of Maxton,
Smith and McDougall, which followed the same
lines—xwas anotner example of the lack of experiencs
and leadership, capable of a policy tnat would cover
such a situation and provide those involved withx
the necessary guidance in carrying through a work-
ing-class fight. It is useless making excuses now.
however. The conduct of both cases, following ths
stirring exampie of Mclean, was a disgrace to tks
movement If we had made a fight, just because or
the wweak case against us there was a faint possibility
that we might have made it difficult for tkem =C
sentence us, because cf the feeling we could have
arcused among the workers. But cur capitulation
simply played into their hands. Weakness and
timidity can avail us nothing in such a situation.
The heroic conduct of Dimitrov when faced by
Nazi hangmen, has shown to all workers the value
of a courageous stand under such circumstances,
however perilous.

After the verdict of “guilty,” the court was
adjourned until the following day. When we were
brought up next morning, Muir and I were sentenced
to twelve months’ imprisonment, while Walter Bell
was sentenced to three months. A week later, Maxton
and McDougall got similar sentences. Jack Smith
got an extra six months for being in possessin of a
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bundle of revolutionary literature when arrested.
So ended for the time being the revolt on the
Iyde. With John liclean, the leader of anti-war
activity, in jail, and the ieaders of the shop stewards
deported or imprisoned, the movement fell into the
hands of some S. L. P. sectarians, who stifled ali
possible expression of a fighting character. They
started the W.LLU. (Workers’ Internationai Indus-
trial Union) or rather, as it was already in existence
in a small way, they seized the cpportunity provided
by the general breakdown to extend it widely in the
factories. They were against strikes for “reforms,”
they -were for *"educating’’ the workers; and then,
when they were all educated and class-conscious,
instead of striking, instead of walking out of the
factcr.es. ther would “take and hold.”> But no fight
against the war, nc strikes, just ‘‘educate’” the
workers—the ‘‘education’ consisting of doctrinaire
recitation, and then, one day, as a consequence, we’d
“take and hold.”

% " * % #

Now that we were in prison, the influence of the
peculiar Mir. Petrov began to manifest itself on
McLean and McDougall. We all went to Caiton
Jail, McLean only for a couple of weeks. before being
transferred to Peterhead convict prison. Calton Jail,
which has now been pulled down, was opened in 1816.
It was easily the worst prison in the country. Cold,
silent and repellent. the discipline was brutal and the
diet atrocious. There was no “association’’ labour,
most of the prisoners working in their cells at mat-
making and similar occupations. The one-hour’s
exercise in the morning was the only opportunity they
had of seeing each other, when desperate attempts
were made to exchange a whisper or two.

For breakfast we had thick porridge and sour
milk; for dinner, soup and a piece of dry bread; and
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for supper thick porridge and sour milk. It wasa
harsh change, and it took us a few days to get
accustocmed to it. But with McLean and McDougali,
tte cne in Peterhead and the other in Calton, things
began to go badly. Petrcv’s insistent w hispering began
to have its effect. All the time he was in Glasgow
Le Lad been hissing into their ears—spies, spies every-
where. In prison, torture. Warders at the cell doors
during the night, jeering at the prisoner; poison in the
feed; sly questicns with a barbed point in them, like,
“How’s your health to-day ?” This with a laugh, te
let the prisoner know that the questioper was aware
that his health was failing.

He kept at them until he had them dodging
around corners and tken squinting round again tc
see who was after them. We used to laugh with Jobm
about it, but in prison it was no laughing matter. Sc
affected had they been by Petrov that in their different
prisons thev had the same illusions—the prison officials
were trying to cestroyv their health and their sanity.

One Sunday morning. after we had been in about
six weeks, we were marched to the chapel as usual.
Wi e were all seated waiting the entry of the chaplain.
As he came in and approached the pulpit, ¥McDougall
stocd up and shouted, “Sir, I want you to write to
my father. The warders are talking in my door at
night trying to drive me insane.” Two warders led
him out of the chapel and returned him to his cell.
Later on that day he had a terrible attack of nerves.
1 rang for the warder on duty and asked him to let
me along to calm bim down, but he couldn’t do
anything as he was on duty by himself, the others of
the short-handed laundry staff being away at dinner.

It was a heartbreaking experience to sit there and
listen to bim and be unable to do anything. Of course
there was nobody talking at his cell door at night.
The warders all went home after the prisoners were in
bed, except for the man on duty at the gate house,
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and omly a night watchman in soft-soled sneakers
made his regular rounds at night. Anyone who has
been in prison will understand that it is not possible to
talk in any part of the hall without the sound of the
voices being heard in every cell. Maxton was in the
next cell to me, and at “nine o'clock bell” (bed-time) I
made a practice of playing the verse of the ‘““Red
Flag’’ by tapping on the wall, while Maxton contri-
Suted the chorus; after which I gave what was
supposed to be a rendering of ‘“‘Hip, hip, hurrah I’
This went on for a month or so. till a prisoner up
above put in a complaint about noisy neighbours, and
3Iaxton was removed to another cell.

The day foliowing his breakdown McDougall was
.ransferred to Perth for spzcial care and attention In
:he meantime, in Peterhead, dicLean was imagining
similar things, warders at his door at midnight, and
interference with his food. VWhen after our liberation
we met again 1 tried in every way to disabuse their
minds of these illusions, but could not make any
_mpression on them.

Following the McDougall affair. some questions
were asked in Parliament about conditions in Calton
Jail, and it was decided that certain officials together
with a representative of Labour should make a visit
to the prison. \We knew nothing about this, of
course. I was quite surprised, therefore, to have my
door opened one day while I was sitting at dinner,
and to find myself confronted by a very imposiog
deputation. Some gentlemen from the Home Office,
the chief warder said, had come to see how I was
getting on.

1 was immediately on my guard. Not for all the
world was 1 going to let the authorities think that
i was the least bit upset at being in prison. How
did I like my work 2 As it happened, there was a
small engineering shop with a very capable engineer
warder in charge. He was responsible for all repair
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work in the prison. I got handed over to this
~arder and spent my time going around from one
oart of the prison to another. 1 talked to warders,
and I talked to prisoners. Periodically I got a visit
up to where Maxton was working and spent a short
time chatting with him. Often, especially on 2a
Saturday, when I overbauled the cell lights, I was
able to get a few words with Johnny Muir. So when
asked how 1 liked my work, I said it was all right.
¥ had been in many worse jobs and added if I cou}d
get out at night I would stick it long enongh. The
chief warder said: ““You wouldr’t go out with those
clottes on?”’ *“Try me and see,’”’ | said.

It wasn’t till long after that I learned that
*here was a Labour man, David Lowe, along with
the officials, supposedly locking for some faults in
*he prisen system., If any of us had been asked
2becat these we coald have given plenty. Later on
T gor many opportunities to do so. r. Devon, the
Orison Cimmissioner, came into the priscn very
sften Alwais he sent for me to have a talk about

conniticns  and  a2boat  how  the system could be
cmicroved. The new D—iso'x at Sauqntou. while 1t is
stili a prison and therefore 10 be avoided, is a striking

Jontrast to what the C :lton was, and is mainly due
to tise work of Devon.

1 succeeded in carrving on a certain amount of
propagaada amongst the warders, especially against
bullying of the prisoners, something we had never
stood for in the workshops. As a consequence of
this, the day before my liberation, the chaplain,
Dr. John White, came to see me. We had many
quarrels on politics and religion, but he always came
back for more. But this day he said, “Well, you’re
going to leave us.”’

*“Yes,” I replied. ‘To.morrow morning.”

“Well, Gallacher,”” he said, ‘believe me, I’m
sorry, for you have raised very considerably the
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moral tone of this prison.”” [ hadn't noticed it
myself, but that was the reverend gentleman’s
opinion.

When I returned to the same prison two and a
half vears later, a group of warders headed by tne
chief warder met me at the door. The chief stepped
forward and held out his hand as he said, *Weil,
it’s an old friend back again’’ All the others
followed suit, so I was welcomed **nome”’

EJ ] *® = *

While we were wearing out our days in prison,
the depoitees were making the besst of a somewhat
dull life in Edinburgh  Funds there were in plenty.
Thousands of pounds had been raised to maintain
the deportees and the dependents of the prisoners.
John ‘Wheatler and two other comrades were
appointed trustees of the fund and allocated support
in a somewhat arbitrary manner. Wheatley was
especially interested 1n Kirkwood. Beardmore’s
works at Parkhead was a gigantic concern employ-
ing many thousands of men. [t bordered or
Shettleston, where Wheatley was parliamentary
candidate and where he and Kirkwood both lived.
Wheatley was determined to exploit Kirkwood ané
the Parkhead situation to the full. In 1916 conscrip-
tion was in full swing, and the deportees were faced
with the necessity of getting employment or of being
conscripted. They weren’t allowed to work in Edin-
burgh, but they were in a position where they could
leave Edinburgh to seek for work, provided they
travelled farther away from Glasgow. After serious
consideration they decided to go to Liverpool.
When Wheatley heard of this, he hurried through
to Edinburgh, and persuaded Kirkwood to let
McManus, Messer and the others go to Liverpool,
but to remain in Edinburgh himself. As Kirkwood
was over military age, he wasn’t affected by the need
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for getting a job, and there was sufficient money
to maintain him in Edinburgh. Kirkwood was easily
persuaded, so the others went off and left him in his
so'itary grandeur.

From then cn the situation was comrpletely in
VWheatley's hands. In Liverpool, McManus, Messer
and the others encountered everyv kind of difficulty.
They had to pawn everything they had to keep
going, but they could get nothing from the fund.
They were no longer deportees, so Wheatley
decided. There was now only one deportee, Kirk-
wood. The whole apparatus of the I. L. P., including
Forward was brought into play to boost him. Soon
all others were forgotten ; Kirkwood, the deportee
was established,

Whoever went from Glasgow, or in fact, from
any other part of the country, to Edinburgh,
‘Wheatley saw to it that he or she visited Kirkwood.
Not only so, but he kept up a continuous series of
arranged visits at the week-ends.

The great event, however, was the appearance of
Kirkwood as a delegate to the Manchester Labour
Party Conference, which opened on Tuesday, Jaanuary
23, 1517. In the YVednescay Session Kirkwood
stepped on to the platform to second a resolution
moved by W. H. Hutchinson, of the A. E. U., on the
restoration of trade union rights. He got a great
reception. After a few words about the resolutior
he read out a carefully prepared statement on the
deportations. After sketching the developments of
the trouble leading up to the deportations, he went
on to say that the Government after keeping them
in banishment for nine months, now proposed to ailow
them to return home if they signed a document
promising to work loyally and faithfully, and behavc
obediently to thefr trade wunions. He claimed he-
bad always done this. He was no criminal, so why
should he be asked to sign this humiliating and
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degrading document. There was one reason and one
reason only. and that was to whitewash his prose-
cutors. Then with great dramatic power he
declared, ‘1 tell this conference I am finished with
deportation. I go back to my home in Glasgow or
to jail.””

As one man, the delegates jumped to their feet.
Thevy waved their papers and cheered again and
again. Then came loud and angry shouts for Arthur
Henderson, who was obviously one of those referred
to as ‘‘persecutors.” John Scurr, writing of the
scene, in the Herald of January 27, savs: “Fierce
emotions snowed themselves, and the «call for
Henderson at the close was like the snarl of an
angry beast.”

Henderson tock the platform, white-faced and
nervous. but his cunning had not deserted him. He
made ail kinds of specious excuses for his own
conduct and then demanded a special committee to
inquire into the whole matter. Tnis was a master
stroke as it at once took attention away from
the immediate consideration of the issue and got it
relegated to a future so pregnant with changing
events as 10 guarantee the quiet burial of this
dangerous episode. After some more or less spas-
modic inqguiries 1t got buried all right, but one
thing that couldn’t be buried was the following
letter written by Henderson to a correspondent in
Glasgow :

I Victoria Street,
London, S. W,
April 5, 1916.
Dear Mr. dMcleod,

1 beg to acknowledge receipt of your favour of the
1st, and note your observations with regard to the
position on the Clyde. I do not think you over-estimate
the danger of the situation, or that you exaggerate the
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incitement that has been used by men of self-imposed
leadership. There is but one of your statements 1
doubt, as to further appeals being made to the patrio-
tism of the men concerned. They have been appealed
to by their own trade union leaders and by Cabinet
Minpisters, but they appear determined to take their
own course no matter what is said. It remains to
be seen how thes stern enforcement of the law, such
as the transfer of the ringleaders from the affected
area will assist.
Yours sincerely,
ARTHUR HENDERSON.

All efforts at whitewashing failed to deceive the
Glasgow workers. They knew only toc well the
part Henderson had played as one of Lioyd George’s
fuglemen and so Glasgow was a “banned” area
for Henderson. In 1928, escorted by no others
than Kirkwood and Wheatley he attempted a
public meeting in Shettleston and there was a
“near riot”’ as a consequence, with about ten or a
dozen of us arrested by tne specially mobilized police
who were held in readiness at the hail.

But to get back to the ‘“deportee.” It may be
asked, wh> hadn’t the question of a return to Glas-
govw been considered from the first days of the
deporiation ? To this I can only answer that we
had bLeen so accustomed tc ‘‘legality’” that when
the shock measures of the Government came we
were quite unprepared for them. We were ‘“legal’’
revolutionaries But here at Manchester a declaration
of war had been made. To every part of the country,
delegates returned and told the stirring story of
Kirkwood, the deportee, ¢“I’m going back to my home
in Giasgow or to jail.”

Yet long before the first delegate reported,
the ¢“revolt’’ was ended and Kirkwood was back
in kdinburgh giving an admirable example of
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how a well-behaved deportee should condut him-
self.

On the Friday night he left the conference and
returned very quietly to Glasgow. Oanly a few of
his immediate friends, plus the police, knew he was
there. On the Sunday he was visited by two special
officers who talked wverv courteousiy with him and
proposed once again the signing of the document.
On his refusal they left without giving any indica-
ticn of what would happen next. On the Tuesday
he went to Crizeff for a holiday and rest. and there
the following day, VWednesday, he was arrested and
taxen back to Edinburgh. VWhen they arrived at
Edinburgh, ne was taken to the Castle where he
was confined until tae Friday, when he was liberated
on his promise not to return to Glasgow, without
toe permission of the Competent Military Authority,
Colonel Levita. Arrangements were then made for
zim to go for a rest to the Moffat Hydropathic,
while an agiration was conducted in Glasgow to get
+re deportation order withdrawn.

In the Calton Jail, Johnnie Muir and Maxton
were having a rough time. The confinement and
conditions were telling on their health. 3J\laxton
never was very strong at the best, and the diet,
apart from anything else, was enough to knock
the knees from anvone. But Johnny, gentle and
sensitive, was paying a terrible price. Every chance
Tgot I talked to him and tried to cheer him up.
It used to be pathetic to see him try to smile when
I worked off some humorous story.

At this time also we had in prison with us a large
number of conscientious objectors. It was an awful
experience for them. One young student named
Fraser, in the course of a talk I had with him, was
very distressed.

“Keep your chin up,” I said, “it’ll pass and
you'll be laughing about it one day.”
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“But it's so awful,”” he said, *to be in here, and
“or doing nothing.”’

*1Well,”” I answered him, ‘surely it’s better to
se in for doirg nothing than to be in for doing
something.”’

**I never thought of it that way,”” he replied.

On Saturday, February 3, 1917, Maxton and
xIcDougall were released, and then on the 13th of
+he same month, Muir and I came cut. Instead of
Seiny liberated from Edinburgh, Muir and I were
taken quietly to Glasgow the afterncon before our
liberation and locked up in Duke Street prison for
tne night. from where we were let out early in the
morning. Only a very few got to know about this,
and omnly at the last moment. Amongst them was
Jchin Wheatley. He met us and told us he had
made all arrangements for us to go off for a holiday.
Kirkwood, he informed us, was at Moffat Hydro-
pathic, and we had 1o join him there. On Wednes-~
day we travelled to Moffat, Muir and his fiancde,
Liaxton and Mclouagall, myself and my wife.

This was to be the occasion of a ‘“rest cure,” but
- can scarcely say :i was a great success. Already
differences in ocutiookx, that were later to become
acute, were manifesting themselves amongst the
group. As a consequence McDougal, Maxton and
1 were engaged in the most fierce argument night
after pight. Often we would argue right on till
aiter midnight. On one occasion 1 kept after them
even when they had got to bed. This brought
from Maxton the following day, the cynical ob-
servation ‘“to discuss with Gallacher isn’t 2 matter
of intellectual ability, it’s a test of physical endur-
ance.”

Be that as it may, we had a real test of physical
endurance while we were at Moffat. There is a
natural well there whose waters are an unfailing
remedy for all sorts of bodily ailments. We had to
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pay twopence for a glass of the water, but you
weren’t limited to ome glass. For twopence vou
could have as many glasses as you wanted. But I
don’t mind sayving vou had to be a glutton for
punishment if vou passed the first glass. Itis an
old saying and applicable in many cases that “the
cure is worse than the disease,’”” and that’s how !
felt about the water at Moifat [’ve never tasted
anvthicg like it, cr maybe ! should say I've never
tasted anvthing that smelled like it. It was like =z
concentration of rotten eggs, decayed vegetables
and gun-powder. Yet there were people tnere whc
went to face it three times a day. Oanly the worst
agonies of rheumatism, or whatever diseases it was
supposed to cure, could have driven them to sucih arc
ordeal day after day.

But after the deadly monoctony of Calton gaol.
witk its grim, forbidding walls, witn its rigid silence
rule, and with the forcible repression of every
natural instinct, the wide, free country with its
rolling hills was a delight to the eves and to the
mind The crisp, spring morning air compensated
for the late hours of night and gave a new strength
and exhilaration to our bodies. As has already
been said, my work in the Calton as a jobbing
engineer gave me opportunities for looking around
and talking that were denied to the others. If I
revelled in the new surroundings, with the whole
countryside taking on a fresh mantle of green, how
must it have been for ths others, who had endured
much more than I had! It was a short holiday, but
a much needed oae, and all of us felt the better for
it. But even while we recognized the need for a
day or two’s quiet in the country, to get our minds
attuned to the changes that had taken place while
we were away, our thoughts would continually
turn to Glasgow and to the far-stretching yards
along the Clyde. How would we find things -when
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we got back? It had been impossible to follow the
development of events from the occasional scrappy
news we got in prison. On coming out the lads
didn’t want to discuss the situation with us. “Havea
few days in the country,” said W heatley, ‘‘then you
can begin to take up again.” “You've been away
ten months, another ten days won’t do any harm.”
On the Wednesday we had arrived at Moffat. We
had a receplicn in Glasgow to atiend on the Saturday,
after which arrangements had been made for us tc
return 1o the Hydio and continue our holiday. But
the conflicts facing us were tco serious, and once we
leit Mcflat for Glasgow we did pot return.

* * * * %

The short holiday over, we were now faced with
the necessity for picking up the threads and fitting
into the struggle once again. While there had been
a considerable slackening in factory activity, the
general campaign against the war was being assidu-
ously carried on. Not only was there a continuc us
fiood of propaganda meetings, but many conferences
were being heid also, involving rep:esentatives from
trade union branches and various political and peace
organizations, all concerned with some phase of anti-
war activily

But the big question now that we were released,
was the coptinued imprisonment of McLean. After
the first shock of the collapse in 1916 had been got
over an agitation was started for the reclease of the
prisoners directed especially against the savage
sentence passed on McLean.

The week following our liberation a great mass
meeting was held in St. Mungo Hall 10 give us a wel-
come back. The hall was packed to suffocation with
a mass of active workers drawn from all over the
Clyde. When the platform party. wtich included
Muir, Maxton, McDougall, and myself came on there
was an extraordinary scene of wild enthusiasm. The

8
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spirit of fight was alive and was clearly expressing
itself.

1 was first speaker, and I remember relating a
recurrent incident of my travels to Manchester as an
executive member of the union. Four of us weat each
month for a week-end executive meeting—Sam Nimiin,
the organizer, “Jock’’Stewart of Cathcart, myself, and
another who came from Greenock. This Greenock
comrade always arrived at the train in Central Station
just a short time before it started. The other three
of us reserved him a corner seat He usually had a
drink or two before arriving and as a consequence was
always in a jovial mood. He would step in, take his
corner seat, beam at the rest of us and then favour us
with the solitary line of a song. Whether he knew
more of it I never learned, but on every occasion we
got the one line.

“I’ll give it to you,” I told the meeting, “as he
gave it to us”’—%“Here we are again, boys, here we are
again.”

This started the meeting off on a good note, and
then whea I and the subsequeat speakers declared for
all our forces being brought into the fight to release
John McLean, the roof was nearly lifted off the build-
ing. ¢All in favour of the fight to release McLean ?*
A sea of hands. “Good ! Now into the factories with
the agitation and rouse the workers as they’ve never
Seen roused before., McLean must be released.”

Soon the Government had to take note of the
fact that the “unrest® on the Clyde was assuming
serious proportions once again, and that the centre
of the trouble was the continued imprisonment of
McLean. Hints began to be dropped of his prob-
able early release and before very long he was
transferred from Peterhead Prison to Perth ; a2 very
significant step for the authorities to take. But
there was no slackening of the campaign. On the con-
trary, we threw greater energy into it than ever before.
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One of tne most potenr factors in tne revival
was tha February Revclution in Russia. “Free
Russia’” was emblazoned on our banners and mighty
demonstrations in support of the revclution were
organized all over Scotland.

A Russian warship was lyving in the Clyde at the
time, and we Invited the officers and crew up 1c
meet us in the Internationa! Hall on the South side
of Glasgow. Night after night they were there with
us rejoicing in the great news from Russia, altcougn
some of the officers didn't appear to be too enthusi-
astic about the strength and activity of the ship’s
committee.

But the association with the revolutionary sailors
and the attitude of several of the officers scon made
it clear to us that the revolution still had a long way
to travel, that heavy struggles still lay before the
Russian proletariat Therefore while we welcomed
and were inspired by “Free Russia” we under-
stocd that ‘‘Free Russia” could only remain free
if the workers succeeded in getting and maintaining
DOWer.

Here we were in the early months of 1917 witk
the great masses of Glasgow aroused to the highest
poitch of enthusiasm. ¢“Release McLean,” ‘“Long
Live Free Russia,” “Down with War—Down with
the Warmakers.”” How 1is it possible to describe
now those hectic days and the never-ending stream
of activity that was carried on ?

In the midst of it all were the sectarians, who, still
wedded to their shibboleths, sneered at everything
and tried to instil the deadly virus of passivity by
means of their “magic key’—“Wait till the workers
are class.conscious, then we’ll take and hold.” With
the breakdown of the movement they had penetrated
the factories, had almost paralysed the factory
organization. We knew something like this had
been going on, but never dreamed things were as bad



122 REVOLT ON THe CLYDE

as they actually were.

The first difficulty we met was that while Johnoy
Muir was given his job back in Barr and Stroud’s,
I was given my books at the Albion with a sort of
an apology from the manager that he wasn’tina
position 1o restart me. 1 then learned to my great
disgust that the JMlinistry of Jiunitions had barred
me from the large factories ; the only job I would be
alloned to take was in one of the several small places
where only three or four men were emrployed.

The following quotation from the second volume
of Lloyd George's War JIlen:ofrs makes quite clear
aow what was behind the Ministry’s attitude at that
time. Speaking of his visit to Clyde, he says of
Kirkwood that ‘‘despite a theatrical frown he was
fundamentally easy to get on with.” This is fol-
lowed by a reference to Tommy Clark as a ‘‘natural
savage,” then he adds :

“Later on I met Mr. Gallacher, a Communist,
whose manners swere quite perfect, and whose
tones were soft, but he left no doubt in my mind
that his was the most sinister influence.”’

I got started in a little shop off St. Vincent Street,
a branch of Robinson’s of Liverpool, ship telegraph
mapufacturers. It was a useful job in one way, as
it brought me into touch with the naval department,
and through a friend there I got an official letter
informing all and sundry that [ was engaged on
Admiralty business and should not be hindered in
any way. This enabled me to make contacts in
many places, especially in Rosyth where we managed
to get all kinds of literature conveyed and distri-
buted. Had the authorities known !l was carrying
such a letter there would have been real trouble
in the department, but I had sufficient regard for
the friend to make only the most careful use
of it.
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Once started, we called for a meeting of shop
stewards to be held in the Ingram Street Hall
Messer and McManus were still in  Liverpool,
Tommy Clark in Aberdeen, and Kirkwood at Moffat
Hidro, so we were a much depleted leadership. 1
prepared a document dealing with immediate activities
and organisational measures requisite io their occ)m-
plishment. The small hall we had taken was filied
10 capacity—about one hundred were present when
the mteting opened.

When | had made my statement and submitted
my proposals, 1 was subjected to an immediate and
terrific barrage, led by T. L. Smith and his friend,
Ness, the shell-backed sectarian leaders of the
W.A1U. They said I had come back to a new
Clyde, a Clyde that had learned something while
I was away. No more *‘wild adventures,”” no more
wasted effort, but a steady development of cla~s-
conscious education until we had a class-conscious
organization that would “take and hold.”

I tried my best to stem the tide of opposition they
had let loose but failed completely. After I had
been attacked and battered from side to side, Smith
got up and said: “You’re finished, you and your
policy of perpetual strikes. Now we’ll leave you.””
Then in a Ilouder voice, “All members of the
W.LLU. wiil leave this meeting.” 1 was staggered
when practically the whole meeting filed out. Seven
of us were left. One of the seven was the present
Glasgow District Secretary of the A. E. U, Brother
Fyffe, a comrade who has proved his devotion and
loyalty to the movement on mzny occasions.

For a few moments we gazed at each other almost
in a state of suspended animation. Then I said:
“Well, it looks like we’ve got a lot of work to do.”
Will Fyffe said, *‘Aye, it does that.”’

I then made some suggestions as to what ¥
thought should be done and turning to Johmy Muir
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asked hiin what he thought about them.

“] don’t know,” he replied, “I’d like to consul:
W heatley,”

1 said, “For Christ’s sake, Johnny, wnat's the
matter with you ?”’

He answered very quietly and sadly : “l don't
know. I don’t feel up to it.”

“Aw, pull yourself together,”" [ said. ¥You'll soon
be all right again.”’

But it was no use. There was something wrong
with Johnny. It had been noticeable at the St. Munge
Hall meeting. Something had gone out of him, some-
thing vital, making him just a shadow of what he had
been. It had a somewhat depressing effect on us.
Johnny Muir, in many respects our ablest and most
valuable comrade, with his spirit crushed by the
refined torture of the British prison sytem ! It was
tragic.

From that time on Johnny Muir never moved
apart from Wheatley.! Wheatley, strong, resofute
and dominant, might have become a colossal figure
if he had devoted himself to a study of Marxism
and revolutionary politics instead of intrigue. He
was the only one of the outstanding Labour leaders
who participated in any way in our activities, always
of course from the outside. But if ever he was want-
ed for advice, encouragement or help of any kind, his
services were at our disposal day or night. Often we
turned to him and made use of his services, but all
the time we had to take care he didn’t simply swallow
us up

i Johnny became a snember of the I.L.P. and as their
nominee won Maryhill for Dabonrin 1922. He was given a
minor post 1n the First Lapour Government, 1924. But he
was naver able i» overcome the effects of his harsh experiences
in Calton Jail He died 1n his early forries.

.0, some we loved, the fairess and the bess,
Thas time and fate from out their vintage press’d

Have drunk their cup a round or two before
And cne by one crepj silenfly to resh.”
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Trere we were then, seven of us, Johnny Muir,
because of his health, quite unabie to carry on.
Not cnly was a terrific camgaign being {ought all
over the area against ithe war znd fcr the release of
McLean, centred «n t1he gpreparaticns for May Day,
Eut 2 bigissve had arisen between the Governmen:
znd tke unicns cn the questicn of ‘‘payment by
results.”  Of courss, a measure of piecework, or
tcnus, had always cperated in various shops
trrcughcut the Clyde, but always the basic rate had
beed protected. Prcpcsals were now put forward
to make “payment by results’” general. I was stiil
attendicg the cfficial meetings of the Ailied Trades
ar.d we had many hkeated discussicns on this question.
1 got a proposal accepted by the Allied Trades that
was later presented to the Government officials,
expressing the attitude of the trades unions as z
whole that ‘‘piecewcrk prices be decided by the
wcrkers in the factories, through their own factory
ccrmittees, arcd that any objecticn cn the part of
the emrployers to the prices proposed, be submitted
o the muniticns department, but in the meantime
and pending the hearing of the employers’ appeal;
the prcpesed price to cperate in thre factory.”

This preposal put the unions in a very strong, in
fact an ipvulnerable positico for the fight against
the Gevernment, and also aroused the greatest
interest and discussion in the factories. In such z
sitvaticn, it was obvious it was caly a matter of time,
and a very short time, provided we gave adequate
attention to the job, until we had the workshop
mwovement vigorous and advarcing once again.

As a matter of fact, by the beginning of May,
we were in a pcsiticn to say we had brcken through
the sectarian wall of the W, 1. 1. U,, and had made a
real advance towards the penetraticn of the factories.
This advance was undoubtedly macde rossible by
the intense campaign that was sweeping the Clyde
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for a revolutionary celebration on May 6, the first
Sunday in May. From before the war, we had
maintained a continuous campaign for the celebra-
tion on May 1, and there is no doubt that but for
the arrests and deportations, which toock away all
the principal advocates of the First of May, the
decision in 1917 would have been to hold the
demonstration on May 1. The May Day Com-
mitiee, however, hid aiready, at the beginning of
the vear, made its decision and issued the invitations
to the unions for Mayv 6, so we could do nothing to
alter the date; but we threw all our energy into
making it an expression of revolutionary solidarity
with the workers of “Free Russia,” and with the
workers of all other lands.

Never had there been such a May Day demon-
stration as Glasgow witnessed that Sunday. It was
astimated that b-tween seventy and eighty thousand
people marched in the procession itself, while about
a quarter of a million lined the streets. Bands and
banners, slogans and streamers, singing and cheer-
ing, all contributed towards a scene of mass enthusi-
asm. Around the many platforms on Glasgow
Green, the resolutions and speeches were cheered
again and again Along with the resolution declar-
ing our solidarity with the Soviets of workers’,
peasants’ and soldiers’ delegates, we passed a resolu-
tion which read, “The demonstration declares for
the overthrow of the capitalist system of production
for profit.... Sends its fraternal greetings to
the workers of all lands. .. And in the interests
of the solidarity of labour, we Arcreby declare in
Sfavour of the 1st of May being held as a general
holiday.

Glasgow was stirred to its depths that first Sun-
day of May ; but it was necessary to carry the revolu-
tionary feeling into the factories and get the factories
into line with the general mood. We therefore
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called a further meeting of factory repl:esentatlyes
for Sunday afternoon, May 13. On this occasion
we had made much better preparations than for our
earlier effort. Furthermore, the “cqmb-out” pro-
posals of the Government were creating consider-
able agitation throughout England and there were
continual threats of strike action in a number of the
English engineering districts. A considerable shop
stewards’ movement was already operating in _Shef-
field, and a meeting had been held on April 29
to set up a factory organization for the London
area.
The fellow who coined the slogan ¢Kitchener
wants you’’ was credited with having hit on a
brilliant idea: but whoever coined the ‘‘comb-out”
phrase couldn’t have thought of a worse one from
the point of view of the war-makers. All those
engineering workers whose places could be taken
by women or by men unfit for active service had to
be taken out of the factories and pushed into the
army. It was in connection with the attempt to do
this that the unhappy term “comb-out’” was used.
The engineers were being treated as “lice,” and the
most violent indignation was arpused everywhere as
a consequence.

It was with rumours of all kinds coming from
England that preparations were made for the meeting
of factories’ representatives on the afternoon of
Sunday, 13. In addition to this meeting a great
mass demonstration was being organized for the
same evening in St. Andrew’s Hall, to celebrate the
Russian  Revolution. Bob Smillie, Ramsay Mac-
Donald and several others were billed to speak and
it was obvious the hall would never hold the crowd
that would come. Several of us had to take respon-
sibility for organizing the demonstration and ensuring
that the outside, or overflow demonstration was
effectively handled.
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Then on the Sunday afterncon, when the factory
delegates met, we had to face the fact not of rumours,
but of an actual strike affecting London, Birmingham,
Coventry and Janchester The exact proportions
of the strike were not known, but it was clear
that strikes had broken out in all these areas. We
had a good representarion from the factories at
this meeting, most of the representatives having got
over their period of ‘Left-sickness,” and although
a number still clung to the “Take and hold’” abortion,
the majority were for getting on with the struggle
in the factories. But the ‘‘sectarianism’ of the
past period nad driven many of the official shop
stewards out of the factory committee movement
and thus caused a considerable division in some of
the shops with a consequent serious weakening of
the movement.

One big problem was how to overcome this and
bring back into the movement all those shop
stewards who were now merely acting in the formai
character of ‘*pence-card’ stewards. But even as
we considered this, we had to face the fact that strike
action was developing in Engiand and that we had
to do everything possible to prepare the Clyde to
take supporting action. It was decided [ should
leave Glasgow that night after the demonstration
and travel down to London: from there, go to
Birmingham, Coventry, Sheffield and Manchester,
making contact with the shop stewards : and then
report to a special meeting on Wednesday night the
16th  Meanwhile, the delegates would sound the
feeling in the shops.

The evening demonsiration was tremendous.
Long before the advertised time great crowds were
lined up all through the streets. When the doors
were opened, the crowd surged in and soon filled
every available inch of space. Thousands more
crowded around the platform erected outside the
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hail. Inside and outside Revolutionary Russia was
hailed while continual calls were made for Giasgow
to follow the lead of Red Petrograd.

Tired and sweating, but keved up to a terrific
pitch of nervous excitement, I boarded the night train
for London. I couldn’t sleep. I couldn’t even sit.
I walked up and down the narrow corridor most of
the journey. I reached London in the cold hours of
the morning and started out to make contact. After
consideroble trouble, I got some of the boys together
and had a talk with them about the strike. 1 wasn’t
favourably impressed. >y impression was that they
hadn’t their hearts in the strike and would be not at
all displeased if something happened to call it off.
In Birmingham and Manchester this feeling became
still more pronounced ; only in Coventry and Sheffield
was any spirit shown.

I returned to Glasgow on Wednesday and at
night gave my report. I expressed the opinion that the
strike would be over before we could get anything
moving in the Clyde. Nevertheless it was necessary
to do everything possible to get action in support of
our English comrades as the Government, if it got
away with the ‘“comb-out’’ in England, would apply it
ruthlessly to the Clyde.

This was generally agreed and the meeting, held
in the large hall of the Central Halls in Bath Street,
settled down to take stock of the position in the
factories. The result was of the greatest importance
to the future development of the movement. While
most of the delegates reported a favourable situation
in their factories or departments, every W.LILU.
delegate present reported exactly on the same lines
—such and such department, Parkhead or wherever
it might be, meeting of the W.I. I. U. group was
held, decided nothing could be done as workers
were apathetic.

We drew attention to the fact that wherever a
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group of the W ILILU. still existed the movement
was being held back. This marked a very big stage
in the fight against this particular diversion.

During that week several of the strike leaders in
London were arre<ted., then an agreement recom-
mended by the officials was accepted and the strike
called off. When the strike leaders came into court
a week later, thevy were liberated with an admonition
on promising to honour the agreement arrived at the
previous Saturday.



CHAPTER VIII
WORKERS’ AND SOLDIERS’ COUNCILS

UCRING this period a campaign was being
waged throughout the country for the holding:
of a National Convention in Leeds, to declare
solidarity with the Russian Revolution and organize
Workers’ and Soldiers’ Councils in Britain. The
date fixed for the convention was June 3. Naturally
the Ciyde workers took a keen interest in the
convention, and in the preparatory campaign.
Maxton and several others were sent as delegates
from the I.L.P. Tommy Bell and McManus
headed a group from the S L.P. I was there
representing the Clyde Workers’ Committee, whilst
others represented a variety of peace organizations.
Trouble had been threatened and was expected
in Leeds when the delegates arrived ; but it dida’t
materialize. One or two slight incidents occurred
but nothing worthy of note. About two thousand
delegates packed the hall and were treated to =z
regular orgy of generalities on the beauty and holi-
ness of bourgeois democracy. MacDonald, Snow-
den, Lansbury, and others went all out to sing the
praises of parliamentary democracy. Russia had got
her freedom at last; what they had all worked and:
prayed for. Soon Russia would have a ‘“free parlia-
ment just like us.” What a blessing to humanity
this would be ! It remained for Germany to follow
Russia’s lead and all would be well with the world.
1t developed into a regular debauch of sentiment.
In the afternoon, I managed to get the foor.
1 drew attention to the fact that the Revolution
wasn’t finished. Far from it. The workers and
soldiers weren't making a revolution in order that
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nice bourgeois gentlemen could step in and take
charge. They would hold on to power until they
had defeated their own capitalists, but at the same
time we had to take note that their heaviest battles
would have to be fought against the capitalist class
of Europe ; that our job, if we were to assist the
Russian workers, was to develop revolutionary action
in this country, and so make it impossible for our
capitalist class to interfere. I went on to propose
particular activities that should be taken up immedi-~
ately by the National Committee which the Con-
vention was going 1o create.

In the ZHerald for June 9, column after column
was given to MacDonald, Snowden and company.
1 got one inch of space. My speech was boiled
down to the following :

“AIr Gallacher (Glasgow) said : *This conference
seems to be agreed that the Russian revolution is
definitely settled. But is 1t ? No. The Russian
workers and soldiers’ delegates have the biggest
fight on, not against the capitalists of Russia, but
against the capitalists of other countries who are
determined that they have to be beaten back. Give
your own capitalist class in this country so much
to do that it won’t have time to attend to it,”’

The National Committee appointed was in line
with the sentiments of the platform. If the Russian
revolution wasn't finished, then it ought to be and
they were going to do their damnedest to keep it from
going any further. Of course, we didn’t understand
that at the time, and because of arrangements made
for several district conferences, we continued to believe
that something concrete would result. It took the
November Revolution to free us from many illusions.

... Thus passed June 3. On June 4 the deportation
orders were withdrawn and Kirkwood, Clark, Mc-
Manus. and Messer were free to return to Glasgow.
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This gesture on the part of Liovd George was made
in the hope of banking down the feeling that was now
rising higher than ever in Glasgow. Towards the
end of 1916, he had given his famous interview to the
American reporters, when he appealed for a clear field
in order to give the Kaiser “a knock-out blow.” How
he let drive! But he missed the Kaiser and hit old
man Asquith instead, knocking bhim clean cut for the
count,

Lloyd George now stood out as the champion
death dispenser of Europe, and as such had been
invited by the Glasgow Corporation to come north
on June 29 to receive the Freedom of the City.
Violent protests against this were coupled with the
insistent demand that the Freedom of the City should
be given to McLean, Kirkwood and the others,

Lloyd George was advised from all quarters that
something would have to be done or there would be a
revolt when he arrived; sc the order was withdrawn
and new hints were dropped about the early release of
McLean. Thus we had the peculiar situation that as
a ccnsequence of his first wisit, tne deportation toock

lace, and as a preparation for his second visit, the
deportation orders were withdrawn.

On June 10, a new movement was launched in
Glasgow; one that played an increasingly important
part in the further development of the fight against
the war. This was the Women’s Peace Crusade,
headed by Helen Crawfurd.

Helen, widow of a Free Church Minister, had
iaken an active part in the pre-war Suffrage Movement.
She had experienced imprisonment and had hunger
struck on several occasions and was quite impervious
to police intimidation. She had a highly attractive
personality and, no matter how hard the going, always
maintained her composure and her charm. It was
during the war that I met her first, and through all
the hard struggles of that time, -and the evem more
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difficult days which followed, we remained the closest
political associates and per-sonal friends. She is now,
owing to ill health, not so active in the movement,
but in 1917 she was a mighty force in the great fight
for Peace.

On Saturday. June 23, a reception was organized
in St. Mungo Hall to welcome back the dep rtees.
This took the torm of a social with short speeches
from the deportees and from those who had been
in prison.

“Big Davie’” was there in his best form With
all his dramatic power he thundered: “Some
workers you can find who are afraid of tne Germans,
but they forget one thing, they forget that the
greatest Huns in Christendum are the capitalist class
of Britain.™

Da+ie was given a great reception, as was Maxton,
whe appeared tor the first time in public as a
“plater’s helper.”

The laiter had been before the Tribunal and
ordered to find work of national importance. One
of the comrades, later Labour correspoandent on a
London newspaper, but then a plater, got Maxton
fixed up with a job. He looked on the job as a
joke, and we were all happy to know that Maxton
was out of the hands of the military, as he was exceed-
ingly popular with the shop stewards.

McManus spoke of the need for carrying the
fight into the factories and for developing the
political character of our work, and was followed by
Messer, who appealed earnestly for a rebuilding of
the organization. As all the best of the shop stewards
were at this reception, Messer’s appeal was of the
greatest importance. The response it evoked showed
how eager all were to get the movement back to its
old strength.

* * * * *
Then came the great day, Jume 29, and the



WORKERS' AND SCLDIERS CcorNcIrLs 135

¢ Welsh Wizard” was in ocur midst once again. He
had come to receive the “Freedom cf tre Cityv.”
We had no ygeneral stoppage on the Ciyvde, but we
succeeded in getting large numbers to cease work
and tc demonstrate from eariy morning  The
grealest  secrecy was maintained regarding the
movements of the ‘‘great man’ till t-e ceremonial
drive took place. Rumours had been circulated
iand were received with complete credence in certain
circles) that we were going to kidnap him. Certainly
every precaution was taken to protect him from
such a fate. The suggestion was absurd, but we
were certaivly anxious to give him a ‘“‘rec-ption.”
Thousands of us were out for the purpose. But
it was impossible to get anywhere near him. When
he drove in an open carriage to St. Andrew’s Hall
the spectacle was a sight for the gods. Ordinary
police, mounted police, special police and military
units lined up in front and behind, not only holding
the “Welcoming” masses back, but also completely
ridigg tne little fellow from view. He was receiving
the **Freedom of the City” with the whole police
force, supplemented by the military, detailed to
protect him.

At the top window of a block of flats overlocking
tae west entrance to the hall used on this occasion,
an oid stalwart of the movement, Mrs. Reid, her
white hair crowning a face alight with the flame of
revoit against the mad slaughter of tne war, was
waving a great red flag.

From the distant place to which we had been
forced back Kirkwood was shouting eucouragement
to her at the top of his stentorian voice, white the
crowd gave her cheer after cheer. Befoie entering
the hall, Mr. Lloyd George, always acutely conscious
of the mood of the crowd, stood up in the carriage
which had drawn to a stop, looked up at our
comrade bravely waving the scarlet bann.r, raised

9
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his hat and gave her one of his most gracicus bows,
Then he looked over the heads of the militarv and
police, towards the mass of wokers, nodding his
head as though to say, “You see, I’m a bit of a Red
Flagger myself.”

In this connection it may be well to remark that
at the 1915 Christmas meeting he had aiready, in
an effort to quell the din, informed us: “Boys, I'm
as keer a Sccialist as any of you, and when the war
is over, I'll be back among you.”” This wily little
gentleman has notning to learn from his new friend
Hitler. On the coantiary there is evidence that Hitler
and Goebels got a great deal of their demagogic stock
in trace from David Llovd George, the great master
of that form of trickery.

The decision to confer the Freedom of the City
on Llovd George had aroused fury at all working-class
meetings This was directed towards the fight for
the iiberation of MclLean and the return of the
“‘deportees.” The deportees were back in Glasgow,
so was Mclein. He had been brought to Duke
Street for liberation, and the morning after the
Freedom of the City had been granted to Lloyd
George, the freedom of Glasgow was won for john
McLean.

VWhen the Lloyd George ceremony was over in
St. Andrew’s Hall, the central figure was hurried
away to an hotel. We formed a procession through
the streets, and made for Central Station Hotel,
where we suspected he was. We were told he wasn’t
there, that he was leaving from Buchanan Street
Station. We sent a contingent there to see if there
was anything doing and to keep the station alive.
All around the centre of the city, the workers were
gathering and shouting for the release of McLean.
Given a start there was no saying what might have
happened. The workers were in 2 mood to tear up
Glasgow by the roots. Police officials were running
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nere and there, whispering and censulting, Then
-we were appreached by pclice officials who informed
s that tpe order for the re.ease of MclLean was
aiready siynsd and tnat he would be out in tae
morning. Sure enough on Saturday morning, June Z{,
the prison gates were opened and Mclean was
with us once again, having served fourtesn months of
»is three-iear sentence.

WWnat an effect that had on the movement; after
tne teavy blows we had had to endure, and f{rcm
wnich we had staggered to our knees. Here <was
john MNicLean, furious fighter for the revolutics,
out once again in the leadership of the struggile.
marching through the sireets wundaunted, irrepres-
sible, holding high over his head the blood rec
Hanner of human brotherhood and human freedom.
Glasgow’s workers were risen to their feet again

Two weeks later we organized a “welcome back®
demonstration for JMcLean whicn far excelled anoy-
thing of this characier we had ever had befors
Thousanas of acrkers were unable to get into tae
hal.. Although we had taken all available space,
large hall and small hall, a urear cverflow reception
had to be .eid outside. McLezan sas in real fighticg
form and roused his listeners to the highest piten
of enthusiasm with nis exposure of the Allies’ war
aims and of the importance of the revolution going
on in Russia. For McLean had no iilusions about
this. He saw the division of forces that was taking
place and declared for a workers’ Russia as the only
possible ‘“Free Russia.”> But our fight had to follon
the same hines. All our forces had to be thrown inio
the struggle against the war, for the overthrow of tas
capitalist class, and for a workers’ Britain. Thig
argument may seem familiar and commonplace g
many of my readers, but pre-ented as it was then, g
the midst of a world war, with all the fire and energy
that was so much a part of Mclean's very being, it
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had a tremendous effect. The next day the message
of this great demonstration was carried into every
factory and supplied the drive for meal-hour meetings
and discussions all over the Clyde.

Just two days before this, on Sunday, July 8,
there had been another historic scene in Glasgow.
The Women’s Peace Crusade came out in force. Two
great processions, one from the south side of tne city,
the other from the north, marched into the centre,
George Square, where they joined forces for a march
through the principal streets, to Glasgow Green.
Helen Crawfurd and Agnes Dollan were in the leader-
snip. They and the women associated with them did
a great job. They showed the men how a demons-
tration should be organized. It was one huge blaze of
colour. Banners of everyv description, well prepared
streamers and slogans, It was arich and artractive
spectacle. Crowds of workers lined the route on the
July Sunday as these thousands of women marched
~iong. Not only lined the streets, but filled the streets
marching along with them. “Down with the war.”’
“*Down with the warmakers'’; from thousands of
throats these slogans went roaring along the streets,
At Glasgow Green, a resolution was put declaring
friendship with the women of all countries and demand-
ing friendship with the women of all countries and
demanding an immediate peace without annexations
or ndemnities

This march of the women and the demonstrations
around Mcl.e:n’s release were of incalculable wvalue
in the preparations going on for a district convention
of the workers’ and soldiers’ councils, fixed for
Glasgow on Saturday, August 11. A similar district
convention was held in London, but there the hall was
invaded by a horde of half-mad ‘“‘patriots’ led by a
gang of Australian soldiers and the meeting was
completely broken up, and the platform party badly

dHeaten up.
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A wild campaign against the ccavention was
started in Scctland, especially in Glasgow, wnere it
was brancded as an insult tc all Scottish “patriots.”
Ietters were appearing from al! and sundryv, demand-
Ing action to stop it. Proposals were made that tne
so diers should be organized to attack it, {ollowed
by the suggestion that nstezd of using the ordinary
soldiers the wounded should be brought out of
the pospitals 10 invade the convention; the idesz
being. of course, that we should be placed in
very awwward position i we resisted any attac
that might be made on .s by these vicuims of t:
war.

But we deciared, and we meant it, that we would
welcome the soldiers attending, whether they came
from active service or from the hospitals, and those
responsible ror the agitatioa knew gquite well how
matters stoed in that connection. They knew we
had the soiid support of the Discharged ana Demob-
ilized Soldiers’ and Sailors’ Federation and that we
were strong enough to win over other soldiers who
might be persuaded to attend. They socon dropped
the “*wcunded soldier' prop~isal and centred attention
on the magistrates. As a consegquence thev succeeded.
a few days before the convention, in getting tne
magistrates to ban it.

Thrs convention, like so many of our demonstra-
tions, was to take place in the St. ilungo Hall
This hall was the property of the Scottish Co-opera-
tive Wholesale Society, and so was more easiiy
available than any of the other large halls. But the
magistrates’ ban was too much for the Co-operative
Board to face, and at the iast moment they cancelled
the let.

We decided to change the convention into =z
demonstraticn and to hold it outside St. Mungo
Hall at the same time we had fixed for the conven-
tion. This roused the opponents of the convention

wow

a %
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to a frenzy. They threatened to turn out all their
forces and smash the demonstration. Ramsay Mac-
Dcnald, who with Fairchild of the British Socialist
Party had been allocated by the National Com-
mittee to the Scottish District as the principal
speaker, came in for an exceptional share of abuse
and insult. He was to be driven out of Glasgow in
such a manner that he would never dare come back.
With all this ferment going on we made our prepara-
tions. We organized a great muster of shop stewards
to protect the demonstration in the event of an
attack by our enemies. We lined them up four deep
in the streets adjacent to the place of the demon-
stration, and then, when all the delegates and others
participating were gathered around the platform,
t-e shop stewards marched around and completely
encircled the demonstration with an unbreakable
barrier of resolute workers. When this manceuvre
was completed, MacDonald was brought along
in a taxi and led through an already prepared
human channel to the platform. [ was specially
ailocated to guard him, and a photograph of the
platform, published in the Glasgow Bulletin, shows
that I was taking my job seriously., He has quite a
different kind of guard nowadays, although the bowler
bat may lend them a measure of outward similarity.

It is interesting to recall an informal talk we had
with MacDonald in connection with the preparations
for this meeting. We were with him in the Glasgow
office of the I.L.P., Messer. McManus, Tommy Clark
and I, and a friend of mine from Paisley. In the
course of our talk, Tommy Clark referred to
instructions given to the shop stewards for dealing
with any attempt to smash the meeting or to attack
MacDonald. “What have you advised ?” Ramsay
asked, with an expectant smile. ¢‘Gie thima dod or
the bloody heid,”” Tommy answered. Was MacDonald
pleased ? You can bet he was.
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We saw him safely on to the platform and the
meeting got under weigh. Scouts were out keeping
a wary watch for the ‘‘patriots,” bat except for a
handful of rather timorous individuals who clustered
together two Or three streets away, nobody appeared
and nothing whatever happened.

Shinwell, Chairman of the Giasgow Trades
Council, opened the proceedings, and he let himself
go. He went for the warmnakers in real fighting
style *“They're squirming now,” he cried. “But
before we’ve finished with them we'tl make their
teeth rattle.” Yes, sir, ‘‘their teeth rattie.”” ! must
say 1 liked the sound of that and of many other
similar expressions slung around by Shinwell. He
was well to the Left at that time aond extremely
active. As a consequence, he was being singied out
for special attention by the mulitary authorities, his
exempuon as a trade union official being withdrawn.
He was a briiliant speaker and one of the quickest-
minded men | have known. This very sharpness of
mind was the cause of much opposition which
gathered around and against him. it made him
often impatient and intolerant of tne slower th'nzing
comrades with whom he associated. But more
serious than this was the dead set made against him
by the Wheatley group in the leadership of the
Labour Party in Glasgow. This sometimes took on
a ferocious character, and the wvilest attacks were
made upon him. They succeeded to a great extent
in isolating him from the general Labour Movement
in Glasgow.

As MacDonald was relying on the Glasgow Labour
Movement to secure his leadership of the party, he
played up to all their prejudices, and so a few years
after this meeting of the Workers’ and Soldiers®
Council, in 1922, in a private talk with the Scottish
delegation at the LL.P. Conference, he referred to
Shinwell in his elegant way as “that cad Shinwell.”
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During all this period, Shinwell and I were very
close friends, and on many questions our views
were mucn the same. But now the breach between
himself and bis erstwhile enemies has been healed,
and Shinwell takes a central position in the Labour
movement. But his defeat of—-*‘that cad’—
MacDonald at Seaham in 1935 brought joy to the
entire movement.

But to revert to this earlier period in Shinweil’s
career, when he spoke outside St Mungo Hall at the
Workers’ and Soldiers’ demonstration, ail his forensic
ability was di-ected towards stirring up the hatred of
the people against the capitalist class, and he made a
good job of it. AlacDonald, Fairchild of the B.S.P.,
Wheatley and several others spoke, but they all
foliowed conventional lines of hailing the ‘“‘new
democracy”” of ‘“Free Russia” without taking note
of the fact that the ‘““new democracy’” was going to
assume a character different from anything in this
or anv other capitalist country. I had the respon-
sibility of bringing this out and the response of the
audience showed that they were well ahead of the
vague generalizations put across by MacDonald.

Despite the weakness of policy in the main
speeches, the demonstration was a huge success, the
spirit rising to great heights at every reference to the
fight against the war, for support of Revolutionary
Russia and for the overthrow of the ruling class in
this country. The complete failure of the ‘‘patriots’’
even to put in an appearance, after all their bombast
in the Press, provided a still further encouragement
for the pressing forward of the struggle.

During this period the Stockholm Conference was
the subject of continual discussion in our various
circles in Glasgow. W.e were all for the conference.
Henderson, a member of the British Cabinet, was
busying himeelf on this, and at one time it seemed
practically certain to come off. But then the Allied
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leaders, who had hitherto appeared quite well disposed
towards it, suddernly came out dead against it, and
the whole thing collapsed, leaving Mr. Henderson
standing on the “'doormat.”’

As the days went by, it became quite clear who
were behind the move in the first place, and what
was the cause tor their withdrawal later on. The
revolutionary elements in the different countries
wanted such a conference and were prepared to do
averything pcssible to bring it about. But the
“patrictic’” socialists who were supporting their
respective governments, were not prepared to asso-
ciate with anvthing of wnich their ‘“masters” did
not approve When the February Revolution took
place in Russia, the Allied Governments, especially
the British Government, enceavoured by every
means to use the revolution for the strengthening of
the Allied cause. All the Labcur leaders in the
Allied countries took their cue, made the most
moving declarations weicom’ng the revoiution, and
uscd the occasion 1o point out that 1f Germany
would follow Russia’™> lead and overthrow the
Kaiser and the mi'itarists, democracy would triumph
all round and the war be brought to a satisfactory
conclusion. This was the big line of the Allied
“Social Patriots ¥ The Germans must make the
next move It was with a view to using the influence
of the Russian socialists in this direction, that
Henderson was allowed, and in fact encouraged, by
Lloyd George, to go ahead with the plans for
Stockholm.

For anyone who had any experience of Hender-
son, or of the other Labour leaders, during the war
knew one thing above all others—these men were
prepared to do anything they were told, but not
one of them was willing to do anything his immedi-
ate head had not sanctioned.

Henderson, therefore, with the approval of Lloyd
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George, went ahead with the organization of the
Stockholm Conference, with the holy intention of
using the Russian socialists as a battering ram
against the German socialists. But as the campaign
for the conference progressed, it became obvious
from the discussions in the Petrograd Soviet that the
central question was going to be the proposal for
an immediate peace on the basis of no annexations
and no indemnities.

A conference of this character in 1917, while it
would have been of the greatest value for the inter-
national working-class movement, would have been
a disaster for the warmakers of all countries, Allies
as weil as the Germans. So the heavy hand came
down. Henderson was made the ¢“goat.” Lloyd
George repudiated him and ordered him out of the
Cabinet Room to stand on the “‘doormat” while
he and the others decided his fate. One of his own
colleagues, Geo. N. Barnes, was sent out as the
Cabinet messenger boy to deliver the verdict. Hen-
derson was sacked. Thrown out of the Cabinet. Very
patiently he waited outside till the news was brought
to him. The conveyor of the news, Geo. N Barnes,

ot his job.

Everybody agreed that Henderson had got a dirty
deal; that as a “lackey” to Lloyd George he had
willingly dropped and stamped in the mud every
shred of decency or principle he had ever possessed.
Yes, he got a dirty deal from his dirty master, whose
dirty work he had never hesitated to do. But the
dirty deal he got had no effect on his colleagues,
Barnes, Ciynes and the others. There was no
question of their throwing up the job when their
“comrade’ got victimized.

As for Barnes, he cynically finished with the
Labour Party, as did several others, and continued
to carry on as a ‘ticketed”’ dummy of Mr. Lloyd
George. Not only did the others carry on when
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Henderson got the dirty kick, but at that timea
whoie host of Labour Party and trade union leaders
were holding out their hands for tawdry dscorations,
such as C. B. E.,, O. B. E., and the rest of them.

Brownlie, of the A.E.TU. got ‘“‘awarded” the
C. B. E. Shortiy after the war he was one of the
speakers at a trade union meeting in the City Hall,
Glasgow. 1 got up to ask him a question. Kirk-
wood, who was sitting beside me, said, ‘“Don’t
forget the O. B. E.”” I didn’t.

“Brother Chairman,”’ I started, *I want to ask
Brother Brownlie, O. B. E. >’ (emphasis on the
O. B. E.).

I didn’t get any further ; Brother Brownlie jumped
to his feet.

] want to correct Brother Gallacher,” he said.
There was cousiderable interruption, so he added,
“It's all right, Brother Gallacher and [ are good
friends, but he has made a slight mistake. I’'m not
an O.B.E. 'm a C.B.E.” Thea with an oily smile,
“Do you know’  what those letters stand for in my
opinion—Commen Bloody Engineer ™

**No, Brother Chairman.” | shouted, “they stand
for Cowardly Bloody Engineer.”” Brownlie collapsed,
and whatever atom of friendship ever existed between
us, vanished never to return.

Not only was the Government handing out shod-
dy “honours” to all and sundry among the Labour
Party and trade union leaders, but some bright spark
conceived the wonderful idea of passing out medals tc
the factories. “The men in the factories are ‘doing
their bit’ as well as the men in the trenches. Let us
honour them. And surely, if we ‘honour them, they’ll
turn their backs on the wicked path they’ve been
following and devote themselves to ‘their King and
Country.” »’

When we heard of it on the Clyde, we could
scarcely believe it was true. We thought it was
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someone’s idea of a joke But no. Medals were to
be distributed to the ‘‘heroes” in the factories and the
workers themselves had to select the “heroes.” A start
was made in the torpedo factory outside Greenock,
where Hughie Hinshelwood, a stalwart fighter for
socialism, had carried on Jllarxian propaganda for
many years. The torpedo factory got the first chance
to select their “‘hero,” and with one accord, absolutely,
unquestionably unanimous their decision was recorded,
the medal had to go to the lavatory attendant.
What a roar of iaughter shook the Clvde ! Another
“great idea” had gone all wrong. “Hoanours’ were
aot tricking the workers on the Ciyde

In view of the fact that “honours™ are once more
being used for the purpose of war preparation, it is
interesting to recall a statement which appeared in
the Zferald on September 1, 1917 :

‘3 fortnight ago we expressed the view that
Labour had 10 choose between Stockholm and the
‘Doormat,’ since then our rulers have proceeded to
make the choice ever clearer by placing no less
than thirty-two Labour men in a new order of
chivalry, from which it is the highest honour
JFur a Labour man to be excluded.”

With continuous agitation going on all over the
Clyde, it will be understood that there was a regular
ferment in all the factories. Strikes were an almost
everyday occurrence. But these were all in individual
factories, or even departments of factories, striking on
all kinds of issues, working conditions, price rates,
bullying by the management and what not.

I had succeeded after much trouble, and through
the co-operation of the convenor of shop stewards
at Beardmore’s, Dalmuir, in getting a job there
without the management being aware of it till after
I was started. But no sooner was [ there than a
;general trek began from all the neighbouring
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departments. All kinds of %old pals’ wanted to
have a talk with me This attracted immediate
attention, and within the shortest time, my presence
was being discussed at the -head of the house.””
It wasn’t considered politic to risk any new trouble
by throwing me out, so after a few days, the manager
of the department, Mr., Vickery, made a diplomatic
approach with the offer of a ‘‘charge hand” job.
But I had already, several years before, turned
down a much better offer in the Albion, so [ wasn’t
being taken in at Dalmuir. Dalmuir was one of
our best centres and while 1 was there I was kept
busy. Scarcely a week passed without a stoppage
in one department or another, and whatever the
stoppage I was brought in We had a well-function-
ing factory committee that was capible of protecting
the workers in every phase of workshop life.

The same applied to 2 number of other factories.
i1t was now obvious that the time had come when a
new advance in central organization was necessary.
We therefore called a conference of shop stewards
for September 15 to discuss the general formation
of factory committees, and their central co-ordina-
tion. Almost four hundred shop stewards and fac-
tory delegates answered this call [ outlined the
proposals we had to make 1 showed that where a
strong factory committee existed, wages and work-
ing conditions were protected, bullying was com-
pletely ~topped and 100 per cent trade unionism
was established. This latter point was of great
importance. Ungscrupulous attempts of all kinds had
been made to present us as being opposed to trade
unionism. As a matter of fact no one could ba on
any of our committees who was not in the union.
We were solid for the unions and becau<e of this
fought against the destruction of the unions th-eaten-
ed in the attempts of the -fsociul patriats” to hand
them over ‘to the warmakers. The same danger



148 REVOLT ON THE CLYDE

¥aces the unions to-day. Sir Walter Citrine (that's
enough to make any decent trade unionist vomit),
and a few others are playing the same game as the
C.B E.’s, and O.B.E.>s against whom our fight had
often to be directed.

After I had made my statement a representative
of the W.I.LIU. got up (they were not yet dead.
and proposed that we operate outside of, and in
opposition to the reformist unions. We killed that at
the start, and they got up and walked cut.

This time, in contrast to the meeting in March,
instead of tke meeling walking out and leaving
seven of us, tle meeting remaived and about seven
walked out. The Glasgow correspondent of the
Herald, reporting this conference in the issue of
September 29, said :

“The Clyde Workers’ Committee had been defi-
nitely established as the result of a workshop
conference at the week-end, with Willie Galiacher
as chairman, and J. M. Messer as secretary  Some
delegates wanted to change the title, but the
majority agreed to stick by the name which made
the Committee famous all over Britain in the early
months of 1916, Immediate steps are to be taken
to link up the workers in every industrial establish-
ment, and before long the Clyde Workers’ Com-
mittee will be a greater power than ever. A small
group of industrial unionists who wanted to work
outside of the unions withdrew when their proposal
was defeated.”

While the movement in the factories was thus
advancing, McLean was organizing a whole net-
work of Marxist classes in the main industrial
centres of Glasgow.

He had worked out a great series of studies and
trained a splendid group of assistant tutors. With
these in full operation the basis was laid and the
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plans orepareZ for the establishment of tne Scottish
La‘ocur Cc‘legﬂ Tre work cone by Mclean during
tri- winter of 1G17-18 has never been egualled by
anyone 'r-I's ecducatioral work wouid .cave been
suffrent for saur a dozen ordinary men, but on the
toz or this, ne nas carnying oo a truh terrific

Drcpgf*anda and agitat ional camoaxs;n. Every o mute
of n « re nas devoled 10 tse revelationary struggle,
every ocune of his exiracrdinary energy was thrown

intoc the fight

A)L.r't‘o‘ \cctenu.er, “n unportant strike tooix Olace
whicn brocght new :oices into the anti-war .struggle.
For a consicerable timre, the Scottish Jouiders had
been demancing and negotiating for a 13s. increase
in wayges. Tnev were offered 3s., and as a conse-
quence, deciared for sirike action. Tommy Bell
and Jozik McBain, both of whom had hitherto clung
to the atstractions of the S.L.P., broke their sectarian
shackies and came out as the active leaders of this
strike. They proied themselves during that period
men: who could ke relied cn in a crisis. Attacked
from all sices thev never [ost their heads, but held
the forces togetrer in the most effective manner till
the strike was conciuded.

The Clyde Workers’ Committee gave considerable
support to the strike, and was ready, if the need arose
and the request was made, to bring other workers
into the struggle. Here, in a few terse sentences,
Jock McBaig, gives the cause of the strike and the
success it achieved :

“The E.C. {of the Moulders} made a demand for
a wage increase on December 1916, this the
empioyers refused and E. C. sent the claim to
Committee of Production, after some delay the
claim was heard along with others, when we claimed
we had special features about our claim that was
only common to the Foundry, and such should
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have had special consideration; these were: We
did not work piece work nor did we allow any
overtime with the result we had no special means
of augmenting our wages.

“An award of 35, was made to various trades.
This we at the time looked upon as an insult and
started an agitation against such. We were
informed that due to the Treasury Agreement we
could not act.

“We discussed the matter with the Moulders
delegate for Glasgow Dranches atitending the
Clyde Workers® Committes, and finally as the
result of our agitation we built an emergency
committee of representation from each branch in
Glasgow. Then extended the Committee through-
out Secstland by throwing up an emergency
committee in every town aand linking them up
through an emergency E.C. We took a ballot vote
of members in Scotland on the question of the
wage award and the ballot decided to down tools.

“We then called a strike for 15th September,
1917, in which all shops in Scotland participated.
The dispute lasted for three weeks and a few days
and terminated as the result of a joint deputation
from Emergency Committee and E.C of Union
meeting the Minister of Labour in London. Pre-
vious to this Bell and I had visited Loondon and
interviewed Winston Churchill, who was then
Minister of Munitions, and Churchill then gave
the assurance that if we returned to work he
would see consideration was given to our position.

“His promise resulted in the famous 12} per
cent which at first, was granted, but as the result
of a general agitation the 124 per cent became
applicable to all employed in the Engineering
Industry.”

This strike, like all other actions, was used to the
utmost to arouse feeling against the war and the war-
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makers. The strength of this feeiing may be gauged
oy the fact that at a meeting of the Scottish Advisors
Council of the Labour Party on September 27, a
resolution was passed Dy an overwhe ming majorits
demanding an immediate peace, witi: no annexations
and no indemnities. A. G VWalkden was present at tais
meeting representing the National Esxecative, put
despite a whining message from Henderson which
he read to the meeting, it took a further decision,
demanding the withdrawal of the Labour Party
from the Coalition. This was a bitter pill for
Henderson and the “Social Patriots” and a clear
indication of the strength of the Anti-War Movement
in Scotland.

In the meantime stirring news was coming
through from Russia. The “Soviets’ of workers and
soldiers were assuming ever greater and greater
importance The Bolshevik slogan “All Power to the
Soviets” was widely welcomed along the Clvde,

“While Braiisford in the Herald was proclaiming
the coming of disaster as a consequence of Bolshzvik
activity, the workers on the Clyce were already
conscious of the fact that the Russian workers nad
to seize and hold on to power if tne revolution was
to be saved Then came November and tne 3Bol-
shevik revolution. While all the Labour Ileaders,
including Lansbury, remained absoiutely silent
about this world-shaking event, the Civde workers
received the news with a wild shout of joy. For the
first time in history, the workers, ordinary men and
women, had thrown off their oppressors, had expro-
priated the parasites and taken the land and indus-
tries into their own hands

A few of the De Leonite sectarians, looked with
sour disfavour on the revolution. It couldn’t be a
“4rue” revolution as a social revolution could only
follow fully developed capitalism. This was the
strictly orthodox view of the sectarians. They

10
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couldn’t see that in a period of crisis all the chances
were in favour of the workers breaking through at
capitalism’s weakest link. In a discussion we had
with some of these, one said, “Look at it (the
~evolution) through the S. L. P. telescope and you’ll
see that it cannot be a social revolution.” To this
3 replied, “You fellows are looking through the
telescope from the reverse end and it’s impossible
for you to see what’s going on at the other end of it.”

But the great bulk of the workers knew one
thing, the one thing that mattered: the Russian
workers had taken power, had overthrown the
capitalist class and were now energetically preparing
the way for an end to the war and for the recon-
struction of Society. The call for an immediate
Deace with no aanexations and no indemnities, the
sublication of the secret treaties, these were hailed
with raptures of delight throughout the whole area.
Huge meetings, night after night, rose to extra-
ordinary heights of enthusiasm in support of the
Bolshevik Revolution.

The Herald, writing of this period said : “Glas-
gow these days is wonderful. Yes, Glasgow is a
topic. If the Labour Party is weak, if Winstonet?
has not won, if the rest of civilization is on the road
to decay, we still have got Glasgow. The movement
in Glasgow ought to float itself as a limited liability
company to supply backbone to the rest of the
United Kingdom.”

Nothing I could write, however, could give a
clearer indication of the outstanding response of the
Clyde workers to this great event than the following
sitgx':illging note written about the middle of December

“There is general discontent in Socialist and
Labour circles (in Glasgow) at what seems to be

1. Liabour candidate defeated jush previously in a bye-election.
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the apathy of the official Socialist and Labc.:r
bodies in this country towards our Bolshevix
comrades. Their methods may not be genteel, but
they get there and their aim is our aim. They are
out to smash capitalism and imperialism, so are
we, and we should not stand still while they =zre
being attacked.”

This was written by no less a person than T. I,

Dollan, the present City Treasurer in Glasgow.
Only the fact that the whole city was alive with
revolutionary fervour can explain the ultra-cautiocs
Pat, letting himself go in such a manner.

But even more significant of the effect of the
Bolshevik Revolution and the support it had
aroused amongst the workers was a resoluticn on
the Man-Power Bill, which was then being dis-
cussed, passed at a meeting of the trade union
officials on January 14, 1918. The resolution read:

“That we intimate to the parent bodies and the
Government that if the Government does not witn-
draw the Man-Power Bill before the end of
January, we will advise our fellow workers on tkte
Clyde to down tools, and that we ask the Govern~
ment to call an International Conference to discuss
peace terms at once.”

While a small minority voted against the “down
tools” proposal, there was complete unanimity in
the demand for a Peace Conference.

This resolution set the parent bodies and the
Government all a-twitter. Everything possible was
done to damp down the agitation and to get an easy
passage for the Man-Power Bill. but the opposition
increased. The Man-Power Bill was designed to
sweep the youth of the country into the maw of the
Flanders death pit. From eighteen years upwards
youth had to be driven to the slaughter. So we more
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criectey des\,ribec‘. this infamous Bill as the ‘‘Man-
S.at ,;.ter Bl
In a desperate attemp:t to allay the feeling
against it L‘ovd George cecided to send cne of his
“war prodigies,”” Sir Auckland Geddes, to Glasgow te
taik tre trace unionists in‘o a happier and more
acceptable mood. The meeting was organized by
arrargentent . ith the trade union officials, who were
to cccupy the piatferm and take responsibility for the

oreceedings.

Before dealing with this neeting, which was one
Y the most remarkable of the whole series of war-time
meetings, it nwewld te welito revert for a moment to
an iportant dovelopment in the work of the
Women's Peaze Crusacde This movement had beer
yathiring st-ength by leaps and bounds. Kitchen
meet'ngs, sireet meetngs, parades, leaflets and
poster beards, all those :nd other activities were a
continuous feature of their work. The effect on the
Zeneral movement was incalculable It is true to
sayv that if you have the women with you there ere no
heights to which you cannot rise, and the women
o7 Glasgow were coming into the fight in no uncertain
manner.

As some of the Press said at the time: ““The
» cmren are setting the heather on fire.’” In order to
>urt them, arcd to stem the general activity, an order
“TeS :3as~ed prohibiting the publication of printed
matter, leaflets, etc., unless endorsed by the Press
Bureau, a form of censorship then in operation

To Helen Crawfurd and her colleagues this was
simply a stimulus to still greater activity. A spate
of leaflets was published in defiance of the order,
Then on December 13, a march on the City Council
was organized to demand the withdrawal of the order
and to get a declaration in favour of an immediate
peace. The police turned out in force to protect the
council and to keep the women out, but under the
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‘eadership of Helen Crowiaré and Agnes Dollan, ztze
women stormed the bul'ding and forced tnelr wan
right into the Council Cnamber.

All around George Sguarz, |
police, women svere cenly diszriba
leaflets in defiance of t
occurred as the police riad to pat e omen oo
of t-e bullding. wilder scenes still when it wwras
found that 2 number had been arrested. In e
evening when the factories wrere emniied o s
thousands of rtoilers and news of the day’s do.ige
was spread around, thes greatest exc.tement »p
vailed. It was touc: and go that night for a rez
atbrealr of troable. XIavs merttings were peld in
every part of the citv. Angry murmuars grew intc
a roar of rage. But the authorities discreetly kezt
ihe o»olice »ut of the way and so the night passed
without unrewrard incident.

It was in an atmosphore of this kind thar €
Auckland Geddes dropped to ceil the shop steward
the merits of the ¢“Mar-Slaughter 3l To
meeting «was called for the Citvy Hal' on Janaary
28, 1918. The night before the mesi'ng we nad
conference of the leade-s of the Clvde Vierkers’
Committez. It was decided tha?l [ sgould obtais
charge of the meeting and make arrangements fcr
a resolution against the bill and in favour of an
immediate armistice. This resolution was toc te
moved by Arthur DMcManus and seconded by
James Maxton.

On Monday evening, half an hour before starting
time, the City Hall was packed with about 2,500
shop stewards and factory representatives. Slogans
against the war were shouted from every part of the
Hall. Then songs, some of them very rougin but
very much to the point. One of these, “To Heil
with Lloyd George” and a variety of other people
including the Kaiser and his cousin, was sung by

v

[T
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Maxton in I. L. P. circles for many years after. But
the favourite one was to the tune of “Pull for the
shore, Sailor.” The chorus went:

*“Go to the war, workers, go to the war,

Heed not the Socialists, but wallow in gore ;
Shoulder your rifle, worker, don’t ask what it’s for
Let your wife and children starve and go to the war.”

While the singing and shouting was going on
McGill of the Herald League Bookshop could be
ssen passing round the hall selling his papers,
prominent amongst which was a special number of
the Socialist. The front page was a picture of a
barbed wire entanglement and tattered torn bodies
in all kinds of ghastly shapes. This picture was
bordered along the top and down the sides with
grzat red blobs like drops of blood. It was headed
by the notoricus phrase, ‘A Bundle of Bloody Rags.”

The platform party came on right to the minute
—several trade union officials, with Sir Auckland
Geddes and a couple of unknown companions. As
they mounted the platform the audience rose and
sang the “Red Flag.”’ The platform party had to
stand at attention till it was finished. When they
ware seated McGill stepped forward and said to
Geddes, ‘“Here, do you want the Socfalist ?’’
“Yes”, said Geddes, and he and the others bought
their copies.

Willie Lawson of the Joiners was in the chair.
As soon as he rose the storm broke. It was impos-
sible to hear a word. After a whispered consulta-
tion with Geddes, the latter got up, but this only
made things worse. Will Fyffe then walked up to
the front of the platform and said to Lawson,
“Willie Gallacher’s here. If you invite him up,
things will quieten down.”’

“We don’t want Willie Gallacher,” said Lawson,
“we know what that means.”’
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“All right,” said Fiffe, *“I just thought I'c
mention it.”’

Two or three of the other trade unicn officials
tried to speak, without avail, Then, after another
whispered consultation with Geddes, Lawson beck-
oned to Will Fyfle to come over. ¢Ask Willie o
come up,’’ he said.

In the midst of a terrific din | stepped on to tha
platform. Immediately the noise chapged into =
roar of greetings. After a minute or two I got silence
and then proposed that we give Geddes half an housr
to state his case, after which we would have ques-
tions, and then Arthur McManus would move =2
resolution. This was agreed to, so Geddes took the
floor.1 He got a very quiet bhearing throughout,
the only interruptions being on two occasions when
he tried to work in a bit of cheap demagogy. The
first was when he thought he was sailing along ait
right, and said, ‘“You know, boys, when 1 came
on to the piatform and heard you singing the ‘Red
Flag,” my heart was with you,” 1 had quite a jot
getting them to keep their seats. The second was
when he tried the human touch. ¢l want to see the
war finished,”” he declared, “when I think of my
wife standing out on the queue.’”’ He didn’t get
any further. “Christ,”” I said, “can’t you get om
with the ‘Man-Slaughter Lill’ without that damned
nonsense ? You’re making things impossible.”

He got on with his speech but said nothing

1. When Clynes came to Glasgow a little later on he haé
Sbhinwell for chairman, suprorted by a group of trade wunion
officials and Labour Councillors, Pandemoniom started asg
soon as he appeared on the platicrm. I came into the hall late
and was nearly deafened with the clamour. Bhinwell got his
eye on me and sent Councilior George Kerr down 1nto the hall
to ack me to come up and restors order. I refused. 1 had the
opinion that Clynes was not the least contemptitle of all the
Social Patriots and I was not prepared to associate with him
in any way.
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about the Bill. I never heard a man flounder about
so much as .le did that night. 1 never knew a man
50 giad when his time was up.

Then came questions, and there were pleaty
of them. He could do nothing with them. A
voung comrade named Brennan put a couple about
the secret treaties. Gazaddes got up—but evaded them.

He sat down and asked me, ‘‘Is it true, Gallacher,
about these secret treaties 77

“Of couarse,” I replied. ¢E. D. Morel has written
a pampohlet anout them.”’

‘I never teard of them before,”’” he confessed.

“When he got up to answer the next question I
gave the sign 1o a little feilow named McGlvan
whom [ had posted in the balcony convenient to the
slatform. McGlynn was eighteen years of age and
undersized, about five feet in height. He was an
apprentice in Dalmuir and had come over to me
that day with his calling-up papers. He said to me :
“Dobson (the foreman) says I’ll have to go.”” I said
to him, ‘““You come up to the City Hall to-night and
'l fix things for you.”’

At my signal he came on to the platform. ¢Stand
oeside Mr. Auckland,” I said. He stood at his side,
and what a contrast! Geddes, about 5 feet 10 inches
and well built. and the little undersized eighteen-
yvear-old !

“Now, sir,” I said to Geddes, ‘“‘will you tell this
meeting of shop stewards that you’re going to send
this little fellow out to save you from the Germans 2"

Geddes looked at McGlynn. ¢“What age are
vou ¥ he asked

“Eighteen,” replied McGlynn

“No,” shouted Geddes, “we won’t send him out.
Nobody under nineteen »’

““Good enough,’’ I said, when the roar of laughter
had subsided, “I got his papers to~day and destroyed
them. Was Iright ?”
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“Quite right,” he said. 2cGlynn went off
quite happy.

The baiting of the unhappy Minister having gone
far enough 1 cailed on Arthur Mcldlanus. “Little
Arthur” was a brilliant spezker and one of ocur best
agitators. When he got up on a seat to mcecve the
resolution he got a great demonstration. ‘Vhile the
demonstration was going on Geddes was saying tc
me, ‘““You know, Gallacher. this is the most amazing
experience I’ve ever had. 1 never could have believed
it.? 1Isaid, “Wait tiil you see the vote for this
resolution and you’ll get 2 real eye-opener.”

When the demonstration died down AIcllanus
put the resolution Then in a brilliant speech he
riddled the case for the continuance of the war,
ending up with “Not another man for the criminal
war for trade and territory! An immediate end to it.
This is our challenge to the Government. For this
we are fighting and will go on fighting I’” Then,
just as the cheering stopped, it started again when
Jimmy Maxton was called on to second the reso-
lution.2

Geddes was certainly impressed. After Maxton
had seconded, ! said a few words from the piatform,
then called for a show of kands—all in favour to put
up both hands.

The great packed hall, above and below, was a
sea of hands *“There,”’ I said to Geddes, “is the
answer of the Clyde to your Man-Power Bill”

1(1) Thet having heard the case tor tin2 Governmant as stated
by Sir Aucklard Geddes this meesing pledges itself to oppose the
Zovernment 1o the very uttarmost 1o 13s power call for men.

(2) That we 1ns1st on and we bind ourselves to tase action
tc enforce the declaration of an 1mmediate arm:istic2 on all
fronts.

(3) And that the expressed opinion of the workers of
Glasgow from now on is that our atutude should be to da
nothing as all in support of carrying on the war bus tc do
sverything we can to bring the war to a conclusion.
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“Amazing, amazing,’” was all he could say. The
“Red Flag” cnce again, after which out on to the
streets, form up four deep and a march through the
city for a midnight meeting at George’s Square.
What a night it was !

Next day the Press was out full cry. The Great
German offensive was on. Britain was fighting with
her back to the wall and a gang of traitors was doing
all it couid to help the Germans.

On the heels of Geddes came another visitor. An
old friend from the days of the Dilution Commission,
Sir Lyndon Jlacassie. now in charge of the
Shipyard Labour Commission. How these fellows
kept themselves afloat on the tumultous sea of war
was a wonder to all mankind. Eliza never jumped
the ice-floes with anything like the agility with which
they jumped from one Commission to another.

This time Macassie had a whole string of regu-
lations for tying up the workers in the yard. He
addressed a general meeting of trade union officials
and put his proposals before them. We opposed them
and showed that they were all directed against the
freedom of the workers with not a regulation of any
kind to control or check the profits of the employers.

He went back to London without having achieved
any success, but nevertheless determined to get his
regulations forced through.

At the subsequent meeting of the Allied Trades
Committee, we discussed the new proposals and
registered our unyielding oppositions to them. I
drew attention to the fact that in such situations we
were always in the weak position of being on the
defensive. The Government representatives presented
proposals, we opposed them, but they simply kept
going at it, till they got them through. Why not”~
draw up our own document as a counter to the
Government, and then with the support of our
members fight the Government ?
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While one or two of them were reluctant to com-
mit themselves to any definite proposals the general
opinicn was for this course. Especially strong sup-
port came from John McKenzie of the General
Labourers® Union and from the new chairman of the
committee, Willie Lawson of the Joiners. (Sharp, our
old chairman was now with the employers.) McKenzie
was an outstanding man on the committee. A few
years previously a highland labourer in Ballachulish,
he had shown much enterprise and vitality and had
now become the Scottish organizer of the union.
Despite the fact that he was one of the oldest trade
union officials in Glasgow, his position on the com-~
mittee was anything but happy. He was a labourer
representing labourers, and craft prejudices were still
very much alive amongst the others. This brought
him into close association with me He was like a Jew
on a committee of half-concealed anti-Semites, with
the revolutionary as his natural ally.

Willie Lawson was quietly dressed, quiet man-
nered, and quiet spoken. He looked for all the world
like a fairly comfortable little shopkeeper and the last
man anyone would associate with ‘‘Red’’ activities.
He is now a Justice of the Peace in Govan, but or
this particular issue, Willie did his “bit’’ and did it
well.

He, McKenzie and I were appointed as a small
committee to draw up a document. In consultation
with McManus and Messer, I made a draft. This
was worked on by McKenzie and Willie Lawson, and
after completion presented to, and accepted by the
committee as a whole. It was then sent to the
responsible Ministers, as the only terms on which we
were prepared to come to an agreement with the
Shipyard Labour Commission.

A day or two later we were invited to send 2.
deputation to London to discuss the question there.
Another two members were added to the already
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appointed small committee and the five of us set off
for Lendon. We got first-class railway tickets and
sxpenses £ 10 each, return, it cost, besides other
expenses and our interview when we got to London
iasted for half an hour and achieved nothing

We went into a hotel in the Strand. Sir Lyndon
made a short statement on tae Government’s
proposals Willie Lawson told ki~ quickly but
firmly that we were not there to discuss his pro-
posals we -vere there to discuss our proposals and
nothing else. Sir Lyndon made two or threc efforts
to get around tzat, but in vaiz. Willie stuck to his
guns and we stuck by Willie. 1lIacassie saw it was
no use, so ke abruptly ended the procsedings and
we had saccessfully jammed the Shipyard Labour
Commission

Havelock Wilson, the seamen’s secretary, and
greatest patriot of all the trade anion leaders, fresh
from his victory in getiing the sailors to refuse to
sail tie ship in v-nich MacDonald was bcoked to
travel to the Stockho'm conference, came to Glasgow
about this time for a great jingo meeting.

Tickets were printed aad considerable care was
taken in their distribution, but early on we came
into nossession of some and these were used for
making others WWe had a thousand or so printed
and distributed with advice to our chaps to be
along early. But Wilson wasn’t depending on
tickets alone to secure a meeting. He brought a
crowd of gangsters from the North of England to
St. Andrew’s Hall and served them out with z
considerable supply of booze. It was one of the
earliest applications of fascist metheds in this
couatry. with guaranteed police protection.

Lord Provost (““Half-a-Spud”) Dunlop, took the
chair, accompanied by a number of Glasgow
celebrities, all of them prepared to sacrifice their
last relative in the cause of a righteous war.
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Tre chairman got a boisterous and undignifie
reception. A short time before the civic authorities
.n Glasgow had run a great propaganda compaign
on the need for conserving food. A poster was
issued and stuck up throughcut the city, which read:

‘““The Wolf is at the Door™
““Eat Less Bread.”

to which we attached the f{ollowing gquestion and
answer :

[eN

“But why eat less bread ?”
+‘Oh, leave a little for the wolf.”’

This poster was bad encugh, but then they had a
orain wave Get important people to tell the world,
and especially the workers, how little Zhiey wwere
ecating And who stould take the lead but the first
citizer, the Lord Piovest  Judge of the feelings
ana the expression of these feelings that took place
~hen we found tran cars and walls decorated with
a poster giving us the <caily starvation diet of this
worthy cld gentieman.

Outstanding in his “genuine’ daily diet was the
leading item in the principal meal of the day, * baif a
potatc.” Yes, sir! There it was plain for a.l to see
—*%half a spud.”

I believe 1 heard more obscene remarks about that
thnan I had ever heard in my life before. So “Half-a-
Spud” opened the meeting and it opened, if not
with a flourish of trumpets, with something that had
a2 strong family resemblance to it. As quickly as
possible the chairman got back to his seat and let
Havelock Wilson take his place.

When Wilson rose a minor riot broke out in the
hall. We had a strong organised group in the
centre and were easily able to hold off the half~drunk
gangsters, but wherever they were able to get
anyone isolated they were utterly savage. George
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Buchanan, now M.P. for Gorbals, was one who got
a very rough handling. Another was Rosie, then
twelve or fourteen years of age, now the wife of
Peter Kerrigan, a leader of the Communist Party in
Glasgow.

She with a little companion was in the balcony
cheering on those down below. With her com-
panion she was dragged to the door and violently
thrown into the corridor. But in the centre of the
ball the so-called “stewards’® were knocked down
like ninepins. For almost an hour Wilson stood on
the platform without the chance of uttering a word.
The roaring and the fighting was continuous. Out-
side there were several hundred policemen but they
could not be brought in.

o have brought them in would have meant
bringing in an avalanche For there were thousands
of workers who could hear the battle raging inside,
and all the power the pclice could muster, was
directed towards keeping these outside. If the
police had made a2 move towards the hail there
would have been a rush that nothing could have
checked. After an hour’s silent posturing on the
platform, Wilson sat down, the organ blared forth
“Rule, Britannia’® and ‘“God Save the King,”” and
“Haif-a-Spud” led his sorry assembly of *fighters
from the rear” off the platform.

This was the protest of the Glasgow workers
against the attempt to prevent the British delegation
attending the Stockholm conference.

A few days later I got a message asking me to
visit the office of 2 well-known legal man, after
business hours, as he had something important he
wanted to see me about. I went to see him. He
informed me that he was in close touch with certain
leaders of the Liberal Party and that he had been
asked to inform us of the fact that the Cabinet was
discussing the advisability of arresting us on a
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charge of “High Treason.”” He was to advise us to
walk very warily. According to his information
Carson was vehemently urging this course but the
more cautious members were afraid it would have a
bad effect abroad and that such procedure would
knock a bad dent in the holy Ark of Righteousness,
which represented Britain’s reason for participation
in the war. One bright fellow suggested that our
“immunity” should be withdrawn and the military
left to pick us up for the army. I had z laugh at
that one. 1 said, “They might arrest us for high
treason, they might even put us in the Tower, but
one thing they’lli never be mad enough to do and that
is put us in the army  That’s the last place on earth
they’ll dream of putting us.”

I reported this conversation to the boys but it
didn’t worry them overmuch. We had something
else to worry about. Sometime before I had been
booked to address several meetings in Belfast, on
February 9 and 10, Saturday and Sunday. Already
Belfast “Patriots” were objecting to my visit and
trying to incite the workers against me. Following
the Geddes meeting and the publication of our
resolution the storm rose to a terrific height. ‘Loyal
Ulster Protestants,” according to the Press, would
never tolerate the presence of a traitor.

The two or three boys who were organizing the
meetings were getting a bit jumpy and suggested
postponing them to a more favourable opportunity.
But the committee was of the opinion that this would
be fatal. Once postponed they’d never be held and
the prestige of the committee would suffer seriously
as a consequence. So on the Friday night I set out
for Belfast. I bhad to take the short sea route from
Stranraer to Larne as the submarines were threatening
the Irish Coast. With all lights out and with a
strange tenseness pervading the ship, it was anything
but a pleasure sail, but I must confess that I wasn’t
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tninking sc much of ‘‘submarines’” as [ was ol
“loyal Protestants.”” [ had worked in Belfast before
the war and i kne'v how far they could go, if thes
once got started. My only nope was that tney
wouldn’t get started.

The {irst public meeting was on Saturday might
in the Engicesrs’ Institute Ve had nad a small
meeting of suprorters in the afternoon. Tne hall,
which wasn’t very big, was racked immediately the
docrs osened.  Prompt ca starting time the chairman
and [ stepped on the platform. The chairman was a
guiet, luexperienced cowmrade and a Catholic. He
was very ner.ous, for it was easy to feel the tensior
in tke hall.

He stepped forward to tne table to open the
meeting when a big fellow at the back stood up and
shouted, *“Before this meeting opens I want to ask
Mr. Gallacher, is he loyal to his King ?”” The chairmac
was speechless. 1 said to him, “Sit down and I’l
handle this.” To the other I replied, *“That's a
stupid question. VYou know I am a revolutionary
and that the only loyaity I have is to the working
class.”

That started it. One after another they got up
and bawled questions and made assertions, but it
was always one or other of 2 group at the back; the
main body of the audience were obviously un-
decided. This group tried every dirty trick to get
something started { kept lashing out at them but
always in such a way as to keep the rest neutral.
it went on for twenty minutes and I had them beat.
The leader shouted : ““You’re a traitor to your country.
We won’t wait 1n the hall and listen to you.” “All
right,” I replied. Good night ; we’ll do our best to
get on without you.”’

The audience had been more and more expressing
their support of the platform but this set them off
laughing and the gang at the back was finished.
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Behind their leader about a dozen or so walked
out and 1 then went ahead and had a splendid
meeting.

On the Sunday afternoon when we went round
to the same hall for a meeting at three o’clock, we
found the street outside crowded with people waiting
to get in, but the hall door was closed. Pressure had
been brought to bear on the official committee arid
the lease of the hall was cancelled without any
notice.

The Belfast Branch of the 1. L. P. put their hali
at our disposal for the afterncon and night meetings.
At both meetings the bhall was packed, a side-rcom
off the hall and the stairway leading up to the hali
doors were also packed and not a murmur of oppo-
sition anywhere. The ‘loyal Protestants” in the
facteries of Belfast were seeing the war as the
‘‘disloyal Bolsheviks’” of Glasgow were seeing it.
When the big fight came at the end of the war,
Belfast was in it to a man

While all this was going on we had no publicity
except the distortions and slanders of the yellow
Press. None of the Socialist papers would touch us.
They knew that immediately they published any-
thing of a serious character they would be closed.
This is as far as the Zerald was prepared to go.
when, on March 2, it printed the following 2

“WILLIE GALLACHER’S TOURS

‘«“Willie Gallacher, Chairman of the Clyde
Workers’ Committee, was in Sheffield at the week-
end and had a fine reception from a crowded pro-
paganda meeting on Sunday evening. In the
afternoon he spoke at a conference of shop stewards
and informed them as to the situation on the
Clydec

A couple of weeks ago he had four successful
meetings at Belfast, although the capitalist Press

11
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tried to create the impression that the Glasgow
‘Bolshevik’ met with hostility."”

But not a word about the Geddes meeting. It
was the same with the others. We had discussed
bringing out another paper to replace thes sup-
pressed Worker but we couldn’t get a printer. The
I. L. P. did not refuse to print it, but told us we
osught not to ask, as the raid in 1916 had just about
zost them their press and another such raid would be
the end for them. We had no plant of our own that
we could use and so suffered one of the worst of all
disadvantages, the lack of a paper. This is one of the
problems that will always arise in such situations,
One that must be seriously prepared for.

Even as we were fighting the Man-Power Bill,
and Sripyard Labour Commission, other things
were happening. Two outstanding events, in the
midst of a coatinuoas stream of movement.

John McLean, indomitable revolutionary fighter,
had been appointed Soviet Consul for Scotland.
The proletarian revolution had honoured one who
was well worthy of the trust placed ia his hand. To
his multitude of tasks were added new ones. The
Bolshevik Government wasn’t recognized and many
Russian families found themselves in difficult cir-
sumstances. With the assistance of a Russian com-
rade named Shamus, who acted as his secretary, he
threw himself into his new task with his accustomed
energy and the many hard-hit Russians found him 2
ready friend and adviser.

A monster demonstration, with a march through
the streets to the Glasgow Green, followed his
appointment, with resolutions approving of the
choice and pledging solidarity with the Soviet
Government.

Then about the same time the decision was taken
by the May Day Committee to hold the May Day
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demonstrations on May 1, instead of the first Sunday.
May 1 fell on a Wednesday woich meant closing
down the factories in the middle of the <week. This
was the last straw so far as the Press was concerned.
Hitherto they had sneered at the very idez of May
Day. Now they begged us to have it on Sundax
and everybody would welcome it. VWhen this failed
1o make any impression, then came the demand f:r
its suppression.

From the beginning they recognized the futilit-
of appealing to the workers to remain at work. Taexv
xnew the workers were going to respond to the cali,
so did the authorities ; therefore to ban it would have
made no difference so far as the stoppage weat. 230
organizations or branches of organizations had
signified their intention of participating, including
the Co-operative Wholesale Society which had decided
to give all the emplovees the day off with pay.

The Clyde Workers’ Committee sent out a cali
to all shop stewards to see that everything was done,
not only to stop the factories, but to get the maximum
number of workers in the streets.

When May 1 arrived we had a czmonstration that
surpassed anythmg ever seen before. George Squatc.
where the procession assembled, and the streets
adjoining it were packed with the gathering crowds.
Column after column went marching through the
Square—bands playing, flags flying, never-ending
shouts against the war. When passing near certain
newspaper offices, there was angry talk about paying
them a visit, and with very little encouragement an
attack would have been launched against them. The
¢¢power of the Press” may be great, but the power
of an aroused and angry working class is a thousand
times greater. It might be well for the gentiemen
of the Press to take note of that.

In the midst of that great day of proclamation of
international solidarity, was heard a slogan which
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had been heard often in Glasgow during 1916 and
the beginning of 1917—¢“Release john DMcLean.”’
Yes, he had been arrested again.

In the beginning of April Shamus, his secretary,
was arrested and deported to Russia; then on
April 15, McLean was arrested. He was charged
with sedition in that he did iocite the lieges to rob
food stores, attack the lawful authorities and a whole
kost of other misdeeds.

The Glasgow Herald on April 16, commenting
on the arrest said: “The indictment brought
against 3McLean gives extracts from ten speeches
said to have been delivered by him in Glasgow,
Lanarkshire and TFifeshire. It is alleged that in
tnese addresses he advocated a revolution—that the
workers should raise the Red Flag in the same way
as their brothers in Russia had done, and should
zopy the method of the Russian revolution and
strike their first blow for the revolution on May 1.
That he urged the breaking through of laws and
advised that unless the Government followed the
example of the Russian revolutionaries workmen
snould down tools.

“Accused is alleged to have said further that the
workers should seize the Lord Provost of Glasgow
and the others as hostages for the safety of the
Rsvolutionary Committee. That they should seize
also the Glasgow City Chambers, Post Office,
banks, the offices of the Glasgow Herald and Dasly
Lecord, and the food stores and ships on the Clyde.
That they should destroy the police offices or seize
them and put the police inside them. That they
should seize the coal mines and should go to the
farmers and get food and burn the farmhouses if
they did not get food.”” That gives some idea of the
length to which the authorities were prepared to go
in _manufacturing a case against a revolutionary
fighter like McLean.
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He was committed for trial in the High Court
and refused bail. From the Glasgow Green cn
May Day we marched to Duke Street Prison where
he was confined and made a demonstration at the
prison gates. Special forces were organized on the
prison side of the gates lest we should attempt *c
force an entrance.



CHAPTER IX

LAST DAYS OF JOHN MCLEAN

ON May 9 John McLean came up for trial. Again
he defended himself against a crowd of police
and special police witnesses who “testified,”
in the most obviously well-prepared way, their
rarious stories about McLean’s meetings. Surely
there can be no greater scandal than what is called
“police evidence.” In the officers came, one after
another, with parrot-like repetitions of carefully
coached and memorised “‘stories.”

On the most appalling testimony a jury of little
‘¢ patriots,” led by a ¢ patriot”™ judge, found
Mclean guilty and the “‘patriot’” judge sentenced
him to five years’ penal servitude. This savage sen-
tence aroused the whole country and a widespread
campaign was started immediately for McLean’s
release.

The Government, having blundered, tried to
soften down the harshness of the sentence by allow-
ing MclLean privileges that are only allowed nor-
mally to first division prisoners. This weakness,
=2xpressed in the hesitancy to carry out the terms of
their own sentence, only served to strengthen our
determination to get complete liberation.

One thing we had decided and had openly
declared. George N. Barnes, the sitting member
for the Gorbals Division of Glasgow, would not be
allowed to speak in Glasgow while McLean was in
prison. Barnes was a member of the Government,
one of Lloyd George’s ‘‘yes-men,’”> and as such had
been discarded by the Gorbals Labour Party, which
had chosen McLean to replace him.

Barnes came to Glasgow for a series of meetings
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'2 Avugust, but before he came we had a visitor of
an entirely oppcsite type. A man whc had won
great Lonour by selfless devoticn to a cause for
which Le was prepared if need te to sacrifice life
itself. With all kinds of *labour” mnren falling over
themselves to lick t'he ktcots of their ‘“masters,” a
man like E. D. Mcrel shone cut like a beaccn.

Cn Sunday, June 23, he came, accompanied by
Ramsay MacDonald, to speak in tke Metropole
Tkeatre, Glasgow. The meeting was timed tc
start at seven o’clock, doors open at six-thirty. Yet
while it was imgossible for a “‘patriot”’, no matter
who or what re was, to hold an open public meeting
in Glasgow, already at three o’clcck in the after-
nccn a queue started forming to give a real Glasgow
nelccre to Morel. By opening time there were
sufficient gathered around the theatre to have filled
it balf a dozen times over. The theatre was packed
cut and a huge overflow meeting was held in an
oren srace across the way. I was asked to take
charge of tle overflcw, which I did, assisted by
MacDorald and several otters. Mcrel, whose heart
was not too strcog, confined himself to the inside
meeting. But what a reception ke got. Outside,
across the way, we could hear cheering as though
they wanted to lift the roof off.

It was at this meeting that MacDonald declared
that coming to Glasgow was like getting “a spiritual
bath,” it “cleansed the soul.”” It would take all the
“spirit’’ of the Royal Dutch or Shell Mex to clean
whatever remains of his soul now,

But on that fine Sunday we weren’t thinking far
enough abead to see what would beccme of Mac-
Donald. We admired Morel and we turned out in
full strength to do him honour.

As 1 have already said it was impossible for the
‘jingoes” to hold an open public meeting in Glasgow.
Whenever these meetings were tried they were
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invariably turned into demonstrations against the
war. But one meeting for which extraordinary
precautions were taken and which we failed tc
penetrate with any force, was a meeting addressed
by Winston Churchill. The conservative and other
patriotic clubs were utilized to secure a hand-picked
audience. No matter how we canvassed we couldn’
get our hands on a ticket. From one ticket we could
have reproduced as many more as we wanted. This
we had done with great success at a previous meeting,
Sut now they were on their guard.

Only within an hour or two of the meeting
taking place did I, through the courtesy of a
Conservative friend, become the possessor of one. It
was too late to get in touch with the others or to get
anything done. All I could do was to present myself
at St. Andrew’s Hall where the meeting was being
held, on the chance of picking up some others who
had been similarly successful. 1 was dressed up with
bowler hat on head and an umbrella on my arm and
looked the petty-bourgeois “patriot” to the life. I had
no difficulty in passing the observant ‘‘scrutineers” at
the doors and made my way to a seat in the centre of
the hall, I looked around but saw no sign of a friend-
ly face. I saw plenty of special police, however.
They decorated all parts of the hall. The organ was
going full blast, blaring forth popular ¢patriotic”
music while the audience sat straight-backed and
solemn.

The platform party came on to an extra blare
from the organ, then after a few preliminaries from
the chairman, Churchill got up to do his stuff. He
knew the sort of audience he had and he played up
to it. A tricky master of language, he had obviously
taken special pains for this occasion. If ever there
was a holy war, this was one. Not a man there had
wanted war, but once forced into it not a man would
falter. I watched my chance and when he stopped
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for dramatic effect, I got up on the seat and started
what would have been a great speech. I said, “Mr.
Chairman, if the soldiers had the same privilege as
Churchill, the privilege of packing up and coming
home, the war would soon end, but—’’ 1 got no
further. For a few seconds the suddenness of my
intervention shocked the audience into silence.
Churchill was standing with his mouth haif-open in a
condition of momentary paralysis.

Then there was a roar and a rush of the special
police. Half a dozen of them grabbed me and
wrestled me over to the side of the hall. I was
‘ammed against the wall and almost suffocated
when I heard a shout from the front of the hall,
“Stick it out, Willie, I’m coming!” It was Phil
McEwen, secretary of the Discharged Soldiers’
Federation. He was followed by Neil McLlLean
(now M.P. for Govan). That made three of us and
for quite a time we gave a good account of ourselves.
But Churchill having got his faculties working again
made the most of his chance. He played up with
an occasional brilliant aside to the great delight of
the audience. He had them roaring with laughter
at our expense. [ am prepared to testify before God
and man that Churchill, brilliant orator and erratic
politician, can “hand it out.”

My next experience of him was in the General
Election of 1922 when we were both contesting
Dundee, a double-barrelled constituency. He was
one of the sitting members but he and his colleague
suffered a heavy defeat at the hands of ‘‘Neddy”’
Scrymegeour (a freak ¢‘‘Prohibition” candidate) and
E. D. Morel, who won a seat for Labour. 1 was the
Communist candidate and finished at the bottom of
five nominees.

On the night of the declaration of the poll we
were all gathered at a first floor window of the Caird
Hall from where the returning officer read out the
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results to the crowd below. There were enthusiastic
shouts for Scrymegeour and Morel, interspersed
with occasional noisy jeers for Churchill. After
Neddy Scrymegeour had thanked God for his great
mercy and Mocrel had thanked his supporters, the
returning officer asked Churchill if he would like
to say something. Churchill was standing with his
back to the window wrapped in deepest gloom. He
nervously plucked at his bottom lip, with his eyes
focused far away on happier times and happier
places while his good lady sat at his side softiy
sobbing in sympathy with her lord and master.

The returning officer coughed and repeated his
question. Slowly the head of the great one moved
in automatic negative.

The returning officer was going to close the
proceedings, but I stepped forward and said ‘I am
going to speak.” It was as though an electric
current had gone through Churchill. He drew
himself up, his eyes focused on his surroundings, his
body half turned though his feet never moved.
Just for the moment my example almost nerved him
to the effort but he was lacking in the essential
stuff, lacking in ‘‘intestinal co-ordination” as he
himself would probably put it. His body fell back
into line with his feet. His chance was gone. Mr.
Churchill can ¢dish it out,”” of that there Iis
not taoe slightest doubt, but Mr. Churchill cannot
“take it.”

In the beginning of August Barnes came to the
city. The campaign for the release of McLean was
in the forefront of our activities, and at his first
meeting held in the Electreum Cinema the secretary
of the Discharged Soldiers’ and Sailors’ Federation
and I informed Barnes that neither he nor any other
member of the Government would be allowed to speak
till McLean was released. The workers saw to it
that this pledge was carried out.
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Here is the wretched comment of the Herald
for August 24 :

“George Barnes has experienced a very rough
weekend in the city of Glasgow. Discharged
soldiers, trade unionists, socialists and others have
all united together to make it quite impossible for
him to address his constituents in a peaceable
manner. We regret very much indeed that he was
not allowed to enjoy perfect freedom of speech.”

John McLean ¢“enjoying” the confinement of
Peterhead prison, thousands of young boys ‘“‘enjoying’
the unspeakable agony of barbed wire entanglements
and the lung-tearing death of poison gas, but “we
regret very much indeed that he was not allowed toc
enjoy perfect freedom of speech!”

Barnes’s attempt to address his constituents was
connected with the preparations that were going on
for an election in the winter, As has already beenr
said, the Labour Movement in his constituency
refused to have anything to do with him. The only
nomination before it was that of John Mclean whe
had been nominated by the B.S.P. The local parts
was prepared to accept McLean but the war-time
executive wanted the local men to support Barnes,
which they flatly refused to do.

In the Glasgow constituencies the I.L P, was weli
to the fore with candidates, and the greatest activity
was now being turned towards constituency organ-
isation.

As these preparations went on for what was arc
exceptionally important phase of the struggle, the
political weakness of the leadership of the Clyde
Workers’ Committee manifested itself, although
unfortunately we were unable to see it.

McManus, independently of the rest of us,
accepted the mnomination of the S.L.P. for am
absolutely hopeless fight in Halifax, the seat held by



178 REVOLT ON THE CLYDE

the then Speaker. We didn’t consider this our
business any more than he did. But while he was
prepared to go into a constituency for a “propaganda®
election campaign, the rest of us were not prepared
to consider constituencies at all. We had a ‘“supreme
contempt’’ for the parliamentarians, having at that
time no understanding of the importance of revolution-
ary parliamentarism as a means of combating refor-
mism and stimulating the workers in the struggle
for the overthrow of capitalism.

We left the field clear for the reformists. In the
factories we were stronger than ever and were busily
engaged in preparing a campaign for a shorter
working week. We were confident that we could
do a big job by ‘“direct action” and so were quite
willing to let the other fellows play with the chase
after parliamentary honours. This attitude to par-
liament and the failure to realize the need of con-
tinuous and consistent leadership embracing all
phases of activity represented a fatal weakness that
was to lead to our complete eclipse.

But while I refused to stand for parliament myself,
I had no hesitation when approached by Gorbals
Labour Party, in acting as ‘“deputy” candidate
for John McLean. The release of John McLean was
one of the biggest issues before us and I took up this
‘*deputy”® position, supported by others, with the
liberation of John McLean as the central question.

While these preparations were going on and just
after we had celebrated the first anniversary of the
Bolshevik Revolution, November 11 came and the
war was at an end. I was out of Glasgow that day
—in a train from Carlisle on the way to Barrow-in-
Furness. There was relief and demonstrations in
Glasgow, but it was nothing to what I saw in
London when I arrived there for the one-day
Labour Party Conference to which I was a delegate.
The conference was called to discuss the question
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of a break with the Coalition. Clynes came to the
conference with a message from Lloyd George
pleading to keep the Labour Party in the Govern-
ment. G. B. Shaw who was there made a character-
istic speech, ending up with “Go back and teli
Lioyd George—nothing doing.”” What a mean
little fellow Clynes looked at that moment with ail
the deiegates laughing at him. All those who had
jobs in the Government spoke in favour of main-
taining the coalition, but they were decisively
defeated.

I made a short speech in which I attempted to
show that the big question before us was the restora-
tion of international solidarity and this task we
couldn’t possibly take up if we remained tied to
the capitalist class. “Break with the enemies of the
workers and join hands with our brothers of other
lands.”

If I had ended with this all would have been
well, but I had to have a slap at J. H. Thomas, wheo
in reply to something that had been said about revo-
lution asserted that the only revolution he would
stand for would be a peaceful revolution. 1 couldn’t
let this pass, and in the course of a few remarks
about it, I said, “It’s all very well to talk about z
‘peaceful’ revolution, but when a revolution does
come one of the strongest arguments will be a six-
inch howitzer and the man at the business end
of it is going to win the argument)’”” This was
blazoned all over the Press, nothing else mattered,
and I became the recipient of the deep and heartfeit
curses of many a well-meaning Labour candidate.

We also made a big agitation at this conference
around the demand for McLean’s release, helped
very greatly by Robert Smillie who was then the
leader of the miners.

The evening after the conference I was walking
aimlessly about the Strand when I ran into Maxton.
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He persuaded me to go with him to a bit of a “do”
down at the House of Commons. [ think it was
Joe King! who was giving it and all those who
represented what was supposed to be the ‘‘pacifist”
section of the Labour Party were present. Mac-
Donald (in the chair), Snowden, Smillie, W. C.
Andersen, Charlie Cramp and a crowd of others.

They had started eating when Maxton and I got
‘n so we sat down near the foot of the table and
applied ourselves to the job om hand. All those
round about were delighted to see me, I couldn’t get
on with my eating for shaking nands. Then Mac-
Donald got his eye on me. He came hurrying down,
aeld out his hand and said in a voice of deep reproach,
“YVou're a fine friend, Willie. to come in here and not
shake hands with me.”” You see, he was depending
on the support of the Glasgow men and if being nice
To me was going to enable him to achieve his aim—
well, he would be nice to me. In the same way if it
was going to be to his advantage he would deal with
me as his German colleagues dealt with so many, and
exactly the same treatment would be meted out to
anyone who was ever associated with him. His
treatment of Morel was a classic example of his
complete immunity from some forms of moral
oromptings.?

1. Jeseph XKing, pacifist Diberal M,P. for N. Somerset
.1910-18), wko lost his seat in the Khaki election of the latter
year, and joined the Labour Party.

2., When the 1924 Liabour Government was formed it was
generally expected that Morel, who was an authority on Foreign
affairs, would go into the Foreign Office and there would pursue
the policy of the Union of Democratic Control of which he was
the leader. This was the last thing MacDonald wanted, so he
approached Morel and told him a slory about 8 non-existens
conspiracy on the part of the trade union leaders to get one of
their number into the possd of Foreign Seoretary. This he told
Morel would be a complefe barrier to the poliocy they wera
both inverested in. He succeeded in inginuating into the mind
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When the “bust’ finished a group of I. L. P. ’ers
‘ncluding the late Bruce Glasier, his wife Katherine,
Kirkwood, Dick Wallhead, J. B. Houston, and several
others, male and female, got me into their midst at
Anderton’s Hotel. They had booked a anumber of
bedrooms there, several of which would be unoccupied,
they had also a private sitting-room where we could
have a chat before turning 1n. I went along and we
all got comfortably settled in the sitting-room.

I had expected to have a talk on the workers’
struggle., but Katherine got the floor and started
off on transcendental religion. 1Vhile she talked to
them all, she seemed to single me out for special
attention. The others kept trying to push me into
a discussion with her, but 1 tried to keep out of it.
She was talking a different language from mine and
I knew we could never get on together. Unfor-
tunately, after a bit [ allowed myself to be jockeyed
into it and [ soon saw that my responses were
causing the lady to open her eyes inshocked sur-
prise. It was clear to her that I was sadly lacking in
refinement. Nevertheless with quiet, self-subordina-
ting patience she laboured at her task. I must get God.
God was beauty and beauty was Gecd and my lfe
was incomplete if I didn’t have beauty.

“Take a rose,”” she said, *a rose is beautiful.
What gives it its beauty ? It iso’t its form. It isn’t

of Morzel thav the only way to prevent such a catastrophe was
for MacDonald kimself to become Foreign Secretary as well as
Prime Minister.

Morel, open and honest as the day, implicitly srusted the
plausible MacDonald and followed up by coming out in support
of him for Foreign Secretary

1t was not long before he realized the trick that had been
played on him. It was a shattering blow to him when he found
that his *colleague” had kept the Foreign Office safe for the old
seactionary diplomacy. It is quite certain that this heavy
disaPpointment had an injurious effect on his health, which
wagh't 100 good. He died a few months later.
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its colour, it isn’t the scent, it is something that is
inherent and gives rise to all these, that we call God
—so God is beauty —beauty is God.” This was how
she argued.

I gazed at her in wonder. Then I said, I think
1 see what you’re driving at.”’

She smaled, very sweetly.

I added : “Suppose you try it over again but this
time with a rotten egg.”

She got up with great dignity and said in a cold
resigned voice, “Ladies, I think we’ll retire.”” They
retired. My social debut was a complete and ghastly
failure—or was it ?

Quite different appears to have been my evening
with Clare Sheridan. The advantage, moreover, in
this case was that I didn’t happen to be there. This
lady, whom I have never seen, wrote a book ic
which she spoke of old friends she had lost and
new friends she had found as a comsequence of her
adventures amongst the Bolsheviks. One evening
a man came to ber door. According to her descrip-
tion he looked a cross between a poacher and a
burglar. He introduced himself as Willie Gallacher,
the Clydeside revolutionary, so she bade him wel-
come. They spent a very pleasant evening together
and she thoroughly appreciated his visit. Whoever
he was, I hope he didn't “touch” her for too much

Wthile we were in London Kirkwood and 1 visited
the Labour Party headquarters and tried our utmost
to get the official endorsement of McLean as the
Labour candidate for Gorbals. Barnes had refused
to accept the decision of the conference and was
still in the Government, and was therefore finished
so far as the Labour Party was concerned. But the
leadership of the Labour Party would not yield.

“Anyone but McLean,”’ they said,

We told them there would be no other. It was
McLean or nobody. The local Labour Party was
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solidly behind him; why should they withhold their
endorsement ?

Mclean wasn't suitable.

Why wasn't he suitable?

Oh, he just wasn’t suitable and beyond this we
couldn’t get.

VWe returned to Glasgow and redoubled our
effurts for McLean’s release. Lloyd George’s coupon-
holders cculdn’t get a hearing anywhere. No ‘‘tolera-
ticn™’ for the Government representatives till McLean
is back in Glasgow.

Sc fiercely was the campaign developing, the
Government was forced to vield and on December 2,
less than seven months after getting a five-years’
sentence, Mclean was released. That night when
he arrived at Buchanan Street Station, we had a
Eorse-drawn open carriage thLere to receive him.
All round the station and down Buchanan Street
was a crowd which literally packed the street When
the train drew in the cheering was terrific. With the
utmost difficulty we escorted McLean to the carriage.
The horse had been taken out and several of the
stalwarts were in the shafts ready to start. But the
difficulty ot getting him through the crowd to the
carrnage was as nothing compared with getting the
carriage out of the station and along the street. A
buge 1ed flag had been presented to him, and he stood
in tbe carriage, a figure of revolutionary defiance,
waving the flag above his head.

At a snail’s pace we crept along amid deafening
cheers. Crowds surged round the carriage and
mounted it to shake hands with him or slap him on
the back. Never in the history of Glasgow was there
such a reception as John McLean got that night. By
the time we got half-way down Buchanan Street the
springs of the carriage had collapsed and the bottom
was resting on the axles. We went across the niver
to Cariton Place, where after short speeches 1 got

12
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McLean away and we drove out to his home in a taxi.
A week later the elections took place; and despite
the opposition of the national Labour Party and the
most unprincipled slanders on the part of the
capitalist Press, McLean polled 7,436 votes on a
revolutionary programme.

When the election was over we went down to
Rothesay for a rest and a holiday, through the
hospitality of Tom Anderson, one of the best known
stold-timers” in Glasgow. He had a house there
overlooking the front which he placed at our disposal.
During this holiday it was apparent that McLean
was getting into a very sick condition, He was
seeing spies everywhere, suspecting everybody
and anvthing. I tried my utmost then and subse-
guently to help him out of this condition, but unfortun-
ately there were only too many ready to encourage
him.

In 1920, when 1 was at the Second Congress of
the Communist International, the comrades there all
asked about McLean, Lenin especially was interested
in him He had a very high opinion of him and a
very great regard for him.1 When | told Lentn of his
condition. he said ¢ “You must gef him to come over
nere. We will send him to one of our sanatoriums for
a rest and he will soon be all right again. Many of
our comrades have suffer»d the same way.”

When | got back to Glasgow | went to see John

1 Anothber gentleman who made a claim to Linnin’s esteem
is Mr .John 8 Clarke. He wrote 1n an arbicl- published m s
Sc:o:m_-h Sunday newspaper tnabt Lenin, becaus= of his great
gffection for him, which nobody else had noticed, had patientiy
taagnt his wife Kiap-kaya how to write 4 greebing m English
on an antographed photogriph for Mr Clarke. [ wrote to the
aditnr of this paper'and drew atterfion $o the mendacity of this
story. L pointed omt that Krapskaya leirn-d English before
Lezin did and shat twenty years bafore Clarke had visited
Rassia, Krupskaya had translaied Webb’s bulky volume on

Trade Unionism from the Enulish into Raossian Needless to
say, the editor neither published nor ackunowledged my letter.
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and told him what Lenin had said about going over
for a visit, without saying anything about treatment.
He was agreeable to go as soon as he was finished
with his immediate commitments I thought every-
thing was all right, but soon found my mistake.

There was a number of people around lMclean at
this time, several of whom were actually living on
him. Never were there such monster meetings as
those which gathered round McLean ; never such z
ready response with collections. Two or three of
these fellows went round with him all the time, and
drew a substantial salary out of it every week.
They set out to prevent him leaving Glasgow.
They had an able assistant in an S.L P.’er who was
using him for another purpose

When I discovered what was going on I went to
have a talk with John and found him changed
entirely. How did he know that I was telling the
truth about I.enin’s invitation? Maybe I was
trying to get rid of him ! I argued aund argued with
him, but could not get him to decide. I went home
and wrote a letter to the S.L.P. Executive drawing
their attention to the serious state of McLean’s
health, how he was suffering from hallucinations
and the serious consequences that would follow if
he did not get a rest and proper treatment. [ ex-
plained my efforts to get him away and stated that
a member of their executive was primarily respon~
sible for influencing him against going. [ asked
them to allow me to talk to them in the presence
of tins member, and above .1l to keep the contents
of my letter stricily conftidential.

swhen the secretary of the S.L.P. got my letter
he imn.ediately ran off a copy and sent it to the
member [ had accused, asking him what he should
do with it. The answer came back : send a copy to
Mclean. This was done, and the next thing I knew
was that John was flourishing the letter on the public
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piatform and declaring : **Gallacher wants to get rid o~
me, so he is circulating the story that I am mad.”’

It was impossible for me to do anvthing with him
after thar. I told the others they were driving him
to his death, but they took no notice. Night after
anight they had him out in all kinds of weather, a
sick man. After a bit his wvoice could scarcely be
neard and his once sturdy body was shaken by a
racking cough. Buat even when he could scarcely
stand upright ke was out in the strests, a bunch of
toadies round bim, battling for the revoclution with
his ferv spirit unquenched, but his body unable to
rasist the sericus ilicess which nad stricken him.

Ccughing and choking, the dread malady of
pneumonia laid its clammy hand upon him, and
on November 3 , 1923, the stormy life of John
McLlean, the Clyde’s greatest revolutionary fighter,
=nded in the silent harbour of death.



CHAPTER X
THE BATTLE OF GEORGE SQUARE

lN January 1919 I returned from a short holiday

at Rothesay, with a busy time ahead of me. Our
factory movement had gained terrific strength and
momentum, and we felt capable of tackling anything.

Everyv Saturday afternoon our delegates’ meetings
were packed, discussing hours and wages. A big
discussion had taken place on iwhether we should
organize action for a 30-hour or a 40-hour working
<wveek. There was no doubt irc anybody’s mind as tc
the possibility of securing action. We knew that all
the intensive propaganda and agitation in the generzal
fight against the War had prepared the way, and
that all the principal factories were ready toc move
when the call was given.

So cid the officials, with the result that a deputa-
tion, representing the Glasgow Trades Council and
the trade union officials, came to our shop stewards®
conference on Sazaturday, January 18, at which, with
500 delegates preseat, the call for action had to b=
decided. They asked to be allowed to participate in
the strike call and in the leadership of the strike.

We gave them a welcome and then settled down
to prepare the call and appoint a responsible Ieading
committee. We appointed an equal number of officials
and shop stewards on the committee, with two joint
secretaries, Wm. Shaw, secretary of the Trades
Council, and shop steward Dave \lorton. Shinweil
was made chairman of the joint committee, while I
was appointed organizer of the strike.

The call issued from that meeting resounded
along the Ciyde and met with enthusiastic response
everywhere.
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“The Joint Committee representing the officia}l
and unofficial sections of the industrial movement,
having considered the reports of the shop stewards
and representatives in the various industries, hereby
resolve to demand a 40-hour working week for all
workers as an experiment with the object of
absorbing the unemployed. If a 40-hour week
fails to give the desired result a more drastic
reduction of hours will be demanded. A general
strike has been declared to take place on Monday,
24th January, and all workers are expected to
respond By order of the Joint Committee repres-

enting all workers.”

I had to get round the factories, meet the shop
stewards, and see that things were going the way we
wanted. I had given up my job in order to devote
myself to John McLean’s parliamentary campaign in
the Gorbals, so was now free to give all my time to
the preparations for the strike.

One of my first tasks was to go to a mass meeting
of Fairfield’s workers in Govan and persuade them to
return to work. They had made a sudden decision
to strike on their own. After a short talk from me,
supported by Tom Henderson, they unanimously
decided to return to work and to come out with the
cthers on january 27.

When the fateful day arrived the stoppage was
practically complete. All the principal factories
struck to a man. A mass meeting had been called
for the morning of January 27 in St. Andrew’s
Hall.  About 30,000 turned up for this meeting,
which meant that with 3,000 inside we had about
27,000 outside. Fiery speeches were made and
cheered to the echo inside and outside the hall.
With unanimity, the following resolution was carried :

“That this mass meeting declares that ne
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resumption of work will take place until the
demand for a 40-hour week with no reduction of
pay to time, piece or ‘liew” workers has been
conceded, and further that all negotiations for 2
settlement be made by or through the joint
committee.”

Instructions to the factory committee in whose
areas one or two small factories were working tc
organize mass pickets and close them down, were
follcwed by a report in the Strike Bulletin whick
we had arranged to have out in printed form every
morning. After the meeting we formed up outside
the hall and marched through the principal streets
to George Square where we again spoke to the crowd
that filled the square.

Marching with us from St. Andrew’s Hall was
our old friend Mrs. Reid, with her huge Red Flag.
While we were speaking in the square, the flag was
passed from hand to hand and then went flying aloft
and gaily spread its scarlet folds from the municipal
flag.pole. This, with the march, the singing,
slogan-shouting and speeches, created an atmosphere
of the highest tension and excitement. From
Glasgow to London messages were flashing, sug-
gesting possible happenings of all kinds. “Red Flag
hoisted on municipal flag-staff’”>— what did it mean ?
Would we follow up with other action? This
question was obviously agitating the minds of many
people.

But for those of us who were leading the strike,
we were strike leaders, nothing more; we had for-
gotten we were revolutionary leaders of the working
class and while we cheered the flying of our flag,
it had not for us the significant meaning it had for
our enemies. They saw it as the symbol of anr
actual rising ; we saw it as an incident in the prose-
cution of the strike. We were all agreed on the
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importance of the strike for the 40-hour week, but
we had never discussed a general line against
capitalism, and never could have agrezed on it, even
if we had discussed 1t.

Already the Press was being organized against us,
The national officials of the unions were got at first.
Edinburgh was out, so also was Belfast—to 2 man.
But the national officials succeeded in holding back
all the other areas, the A.S.E. executive even going
so far as to suspend their Glasgow District Secretary,
Harry Hopkins, from office for his participation in
the strike committee.

We were being isolated and encircled with
enemies, but we had possibilities of winning great
new forces to our side if we had only the necessary
revolutionary understanding and audacity. Revolt
was seething everywhere, especially in the army.
We had within our own hands the possibility of
giving actual expression and leadership to it. but
it never entered our heads to do so. We were
carrving on a strike when we ought to have been
making a revolution.

Well, we were determined to make the strike
100 per cent so far as the Clyde was concerned So
on Tuesday the mass picket took the field and covered
the odd factory here and there where work was
still going on. These pickets, five or six thousand
strong, lined up at the factory gates, leaving a
narrow channel which the workers had to pass
through individually as they came out at the mid-
day meal hour No attempt at-intimidation was
made, no violence was at any time used, just the
shouting of slogans ‘“All out for the 40-hour week”
and such similar calls. In every case, the workers
coming out assured the picket that they also were
in the fight, that they were not going back in. By
Tuesday night or at latest Wednesday morning,
every factory on the Clyde was shut down and sealed
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‘or the f‘duration.”” Our “strike bulletin’’ was going
well and, selling at a halfpenny, we easily disposed
of all we were able to print. During the brief period
the strike lasted (little over two weeks) we made
a profit of £193 10s. 2d from the strike bulletin.

On Wednesday morning we had a mass demon-
stration to the Pinkston Power Station, jast a try-out.
We had not decided definitely just what we were
going to do about such plants. From Piakston we
marched through the streets towards the centre of
the city, George Square, where we meant the
demonstration to disperse. On the way to the
square, Shinwell, Hopkins and Kirkwood were in
the lead. I was running up and down the line
sorting out little difficulties here and there, trcuble
with the police and motorists. and so on. When I
got to the square, Shinwell and the c¢thers had
mounted ti.e Gladstcne Monument which stood where
the War Memorial now stands, opposite the entrance
to the municipal bui'dings A great gathering
n front of the Mogument nad already taken
olace, although the march into the sguare was
still going on.

To my surprise, [ discovered shinwell was taking
names for additional members to a delegation, the
official representatives of which he had already
announced. The deputation was going in to sse the
Lord Provost, for what purpose I wasn’t clear,
while I was to remain in charge of the demonstra-
tion. Cheered on by the enormous gathering the
deputation, led by Shinwell, made its way into the
headquarters of the civic authorities.

After about an hour the deputaticn came out.
Shinwell reported having been received by the
Lord Provost, and that the latter had promised to
wire the Government on our demand for the
40-hour week and had asked the deputation to come
back on Friday for any reply that might come.
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We took it all in good faith and dispersed with
agreement for another march on Friday, ending ugp
in George Square, to hear the reply of the Lord
Provost.

But it was obvious from the turn events took that
the other side were making quite different arrange-
ments. The reactionaries were away ahead of us,
Unconscious of what was going on we dispersed to
the districts the following morning, Thursday, the
30th, to make arrangements for a series of mass
meetings throughout the area. At all these meetings
the declaration to maintain the strike till victory was
achieved, was reaffirmed. The spirit was wonderful,
They were out to fight and out to win.

Following these meetings, we had a meeting of
the strike committee at the office of the Glasgow
Trades Council in Bath Street. At this meeting it
was evident that apart from Edinburgh and Bzlfast
we had failed to penetrate any of the other districts.
From Barrow-in-Furness, the North-East Coast
and Sheffield especially, we had expected action,
but the national officials had succeeded in holding
these and the other areas out of the fight.

Clearly it dida’t look too good for us fighting
alone on the Clyde with all the big industrial areas
throughout England continuing at work, with the
strong opposition of the npational officials, with nc
strike benefit, added to all the Government and
Press propaganda directed against us. We were
faced with an exceptionally difficult situation. Then
instead of us settling down to a political estimation
of the task that confronted us, we were offered a
number of romantic and dangerous suggestions
from the chairman which would have ended every-
thing in a medley of confusion and disorder. It
was an unsatisfactory meeting from every point of
view.

Propositions were put to me, which I didn’t like-
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but which I was prepared to carry out, and I
demanded that a representative of the officials go
along with me to share in whatever action we would
have to take. Shinwell objected to this as they had
so much work to do in connection with their unions.

Kirkwood intervened and declared, ¢Willie is
right. If you want him to take responsibility for
such actions as you propose, then someone has got
to be there tc share responsibiiity,”> That was
Davie all over. However weak he might be politic-
ally his personal loyalty was never in question. In
the same way when I was employed in Beardmore’s
at Mile End, 1 was summoned to the manager’s
office, arising out of a meeting I had addressed in the
factory. When I got into the office, the manager
was sitting at a table with the under-manager on
one side of him and the cashier on the other. These
three were backed up by all the principal foremen,
one of whom happened to be Big Davie. It was an
imposing-looking group. I pulled up a chair and
sat down opposite the manager., He cleared his
throat and then asked if I had said such and such a
thing at the meeting. I countered this by asking if
someone had told him I had said such and such a
thing. He looked around at his henchmen and
tried again. I said, “Look here, if you invited me
up here to put me through a cross-examination you
might have saved yourself the trouble. Produce
your informant and [I’ll talk plenty ; if you don’t
want to produce him the matter is finished. [ make
no answers, It that clear ?”’ Before he had recovered
his breath Davie took the floor.

“What did I tell you,” he shouted. “Didn’t I
tell you not totry iton? You thought you could.
frighten him. But Gallacher or me can never be
frightened where our principles are concerned.
We'll fight you to the death. Do you think we care
for your job? We don’t care that (snapping his
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fingers) for your job» The under-manager came
around the table and whispered, “For the Lord's
sake, Willie, get him out of here.” So I got Davie
out and we went back through the department with
him Ioudly protesting all the way his opposition to
tyranny and his determination to fight it to the
death. How could I help having a soft spot for
Big Davie ?

When we finished a very inconclusive meeting of
the strike committee I walked down Bath Street
accompanied by J. M. DMesser and Big Davie.
Messer was very serious. The meeting we had just
held had a very disturbing effect on him. He was
convinced that the officials were looking for an
opportunity of backing out of the strike

“‘Shinwell wants to make trouble,”’ Messer argued;
“then he’ll walk out and leave you to face the
consequences ”’

To this I 1eplied, ““I can see what’s going on ali
right. But I'm zs smart as ever Shinwell was and if
trouble comes I’'ll see that Shinwell’s head goes
below a baton before mine does.”

Big Davie had a laugh at that one. ‘‘Man, you’re
an awful fellow,” he remarked.

A bit self-confident I was, overmuch so. A little
more political understanding and a little less self-
complacency would have been an advantage to the
workers who were looking for leadership. Think
of it, the following day from 30,000 to 40,000
workers coming out on strike in answer to our call,
and such was the condition of our leadership, no
plan, no unity of purpose, watching one another
and waiting for and wondering what was going to
happen. It is not possible for the workers to under-
stand in such circumstances. We were simply play-
ing with the masses who were behind us, although
we didn’t stop long enough or think deeply enough
to understand it.
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So pleased was I with the “smartness” of this
reply to Messer’s serious warning, that when 1 got
home 1 repeated it to my wife, She dido’t laugh
as Davie had laughed. She didn’t think it so smart.

On the morning of Friday 31st, the Clyde district
was early astir. From all parts of the area workex:s
came pouring into George Square. Once again
we made our platform the plinth of the Gladstone
Monument and from this, with one or two comrades
up beside me, 1 addressed the huge gathering while
the deputation headed by Shinwell and strengthened
by Neil McLean. went in to see the Lord Provost.

The footpath and roadway in front of the Monu-
ment was packed with strikers. Down towards the
post office at the south-east cormer cof the square
there was a terrific jam. Lined up in front of the
Municipal Buildings and therefore right up against
the back of the strikers were several rows of police-
men.

Suddenly, without warning of any kind, a signal
was given and the police made a savage and totally
unexpected assault on the rear of the meeting,
smashing right and left with their batons, utterly
regardless of whom or what they hit. Women and
children were in the crowd, but this mattered
nothing to these ‘“guardians of the peace.” With
brutal ferocity, they made their onslaught on
defenceless workers.

There was an immediate and irresistible surge
forward and before those of us on the platform had
time to grasp what had happened. the whole mass
was rushing across towards the west side of the
square, with the police maintaining their 1mtial
advantage of attacking from the rear.

Rain had fallen during the night and the square
was wet and muddy Men were sprawling all
around ; and just beneath where I was standing a
woman was lying on her side and on her face were
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the marks of a muddy boot. This is absolutely true.
Well all jumped off the plinth, and as the other com-
rades stooped to raise the injured woman, 1 ran
across the square to where the Chief Constable was
supervising the proceedings, surrounded by a guard
of about ten policemen.

I rushed through before they were aware of my
intentions. [ had intended to speak to the Chief
Constable and demand that he call off his men, but
batons were raised all around me, so I struck out.
1 swung with all the power I had and landed on the
Chief Constable. The only thing that saved me
then was that too many tried to hit me at once
and they got in one another’s way. I managed to
get in a “full power’ uppercut which caught a
constable right on the chin and nearly lifted his
head off, before I was battered to the ground. I fell
oo my back and with my hands pressed to the
ground tried to raise myself. I saw the policeman
I had hit with his baton in the air. He was going to
smash my face in and | was too weak to get out of
his way. Suddenly someone plunged and spread
himself over the top of me; and the baton landed,
mot on my face but on the head of the comrade
who pad dived in to save me. He was dragged off
me semi-conscious and I also was dragged to my
feet. Blood was rushing from my head, all over
my {ace and npeck; and between blood and mud I
was an awful spectacle. We were then half-dragged
across the square towards the main eantrance to the
Municipal Buildings. 1 had a look at the comrade
who had tzken the blow that was meant for me.
I dide’t know him. 1 hadn’t seen him before, but I
got to know him well during the trial that followed
and through the succeeding years. He was Neil
Alexander, a boilermaker, a quiet unassuming
comrade, the type of worker who makes you feel that
faith in the working class is founded on a solid rock.
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Now a change was taking place on the west side
of the square. After rushing across, the strikers
were able to effect a right-about movement. No
longer were their backs to the police, they were
facing them and fighting back. They had them at
a standstill. The noise was deafening and soon
penetrated into the quist of the Council corridor,
where the deputation was patiently waiting for a
Lord Provost who had no intention of seeing them.

One of the deputation looksd out of a window
and discovered to his horror that a battle was
raging. This brought the whole deputation out
with a rush. Kirkwood was at the front He got
out to the middle of the roadway just as I was
being half-dragged towards the Council doorway.
He raised his arms in a gesture of protest, when a
sergeant, approaching him from the rear, brought
down his baton with terrific force on the back of
his head. Kirkwood fell flat on his face, uncon-
scious It was one of the most cowardly and
unjustifiable blows I have ever seen struck. Neil
XcLean who was a pace behind Kirkwood, and who
saw the vicious cowardly blow, rushed forward and
protested strongly If it had not been that they
were a bit scared by the fact that he was a Member
of Parliament, he would have got similar treatment,
Kirkwood was picked up unconscious and carried
through to the quadrangle of the Municipal Build-
ings, aiong with Neil Alexander and myself. Some-
one gave me a large piece ot white cloth and I bound
it around my head to stop the bleeding.

While | was standing thus my wife came through
to see how 1 was faring. When she saw that [ was
all right, that I lcoked much worse than I reaily was,
she let me have it. ¢What was that funny story you
were telling me last night ?” she asked. “The laugh’s
agin me.” I answered.

Yes, the laugh was “agin” me, but it was going
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‘“‘agin® the police outside. Enraged beyond all
bounds by the brutal and wanton attack that hac
been made upon them, the workers were still further
infuriated as the word went round about the smashing
that Kirkwood and I had received. With a roar of
rage they rushed barehanded on the police and drove
them back right across the square.

The Senriff came out of the City Chambers with
the Lord Provost and others and read the Riot Act.

YWhen later on we were put on trial in the Higk
Court in Edinburgh for inciting to riot and rioting,
the police, one after anctner, swore that the trouble
started with stone-throwing on the part of the
strikers Stones, chunks of iron, bottles, the air
was biack with them, all aimed at the police while
:hey were still standing in front of the chambers
and before they had made any attack oa the stiikers.
Yet the whole front of the City Chambers is one
iong series of windows, while ocut from the doorway
there stand four medium high lamp-posts, each
with a cluster of seven arc globes and not a Jjamgp
or a window was broken. Did this affect them in
the *‘evidence” they were giving? Not a bit
Missiles, thousands of missiles, were thrown before
they drew their batons.

Like well-trained parrots they kept on repeating
what they had been taught to say, no matter how
ridiculous it ultimately became. For here were
photographs being taken after the demonstration
Lad been broken up and the leaders arrested and
those photographs show the whole ro.dway in
front of the chambers, with the Sheriff and his
cohorts, but not a sign, not the slightest vestige of a
missile anywhere.

. Were there missiles later on? There surely were.
While the workers were driving the police back
towards the east (the Council. side of the square,
a big. heavy lorry drove along, loaded with boxes
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of aerated waters. It was a gift frcm the gods.
Scme of the boys got hold of it and drove it into
North Frecerick Street, a street that rises on a bigh
gradient from the north-east ccrner of George Square.
With the utmost rapidity the boxes were piled up
across the streets, piled up con tkeir sides with the
necks of the botiles ready to the hands of those whe
were manning the impromptu barricade. Foot police
and mounted police tried to rush the barricade, but
were driven back in disorder at every attempt. In the
meantime the main body was closing in on the
police across the square and forcing them right back
into the Building.

Inside, we had been taken frcm the quadrangle
into cne of the corridors where we were able to sit
down. We didn't know what was happening or how
the fight was going, except that, in the early stages,
workers were brought in hurt and bleeding to receive
first aid or hospital treatment. Then after a bit,
the workers ceased coming and policemen were
carried in instead. We knew then that things were
not going all the one way. - - -

The police who were \uth us knew it too and
they didn’t look so good. Bailie Whitehead came
along while we were sitting there and said “How
are you feeling ?’’ “Fine !” I replied. “Could !
get you a glass of whisky ?’ he asked me. “No,
thank you, Jimmy,”” 1 answered. ‘' You know I
never touch it.?’ “1 know, I know,”’ he said, “‘but
it wouldn’t do you any barm just now.”” After a
word or two more he went off, then the policeman
who had tried to smash my face with his baton said,
*You should have taken it, Willie, and gi’ed it to
me,”” 1 looked at him. He was white and nervous.
“By Christ,” ¢l said, ‘I believe you could do with it.”
*I1 could,”” was his frank reply.

But now the battle was coming near the chamber
itself. We were removed from the corridor to a

13
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room upstairs, where we were shut in with several
policemen. These policemen were glad to be out
of it and were anxious to be on friendly terms with
us. Anyone who wanted could get in to see us. The
frst visitors were Wheatley and Rosslyn Mitchell.
Some remaris were made about our personal condition
and then Wheatlev informed us that we didn’t have
to worry about anything, that Mr. Mitcaell would
take charge of our affairs.

“Not mipe,” I said. “I’ve had some. I'll look
after my own affars and if I go to quod I'll know
what I'm going for.” That was the finish for me and
Mr. Mitchell.

A few minutes later “Jock” McBain came in to
see us with his head bandaged. He informed us that
the police had been driven right up against and into
zhe chambers, They wanted the crowd to march to
Glasgow Green for a great protest demonstration
there. But thev wouldan’t leave without word from us.
#*Would we go out and speak from the balcony 7
This we eventually did, and tke strikers .formed up
and marched off to Glasgow Green.

Had we been capable of planning beforehand, or
had there been an experienced revolutionary leader-
ship of these great and heroic masses, instead of a
march to Glasgow Green there would have been a
march to the Maryhill Barracks. For while troops,
mostly young raw recruits, with tanks, machineguns
and barbed wire were being brought forward for the
encirclement of Glasgow, the soldiers of Maryhill
were confined to barracks and the barrack gates were
kept tightly closed. If we had gone there we could
easily bave persuaded the soldiers to come out and
Glasgow would have been in our hands.

That night Shinwell was arrested and during the
following days Harry Hopkins, George Ebury of the
B.S. P, young Brennan and several others were
brought in. 'We were all taken to Duke Street Prison.
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On the Saturday morning the troops marched with
all the paraphernalia of war and took possession of
the city.

The Herald for February & commenting on these
developments szaid :

“The panic of the civic and national authorities
can only be explained thus. They actually believ-
ed a Spartacus coup was planned to start ia
Glasgow, and they were prepared to suppress it at
all costs.”

This is correct. A rising was expected. A rising
should have taken place. The workers were ready and
able to effect it ; the leadership had never thought of
iz,

All the London newspapers sent up special cor-
respondents to write up the ‘“‘revoit.’” They came in
to find the military 1z control and the leaders of tke
“revolt” safe behind the bars. One of these speciai
correspondents was Siegfried Sassoon, tke young poet
who, while showing exceptional braver;- as a soldier,
distinguished himself by his fSerce hatred of and
opposition to the war.

What an expsrience! ‘There he was just =z
youngster, with =2lI the desire of creative genius
surging up within him—in the midst of the ‘“abom-
ination of desolation,”” mud and slime—and blood—=zall
churned up into an awful “Devil’s Broth.” Destruction
all around, destruction and death. Mad, searing,
shrieking death, while at home the mothers, wives and
sisters were poisoned by a continuous stream of unholy
lies about the glory of a “holy’* war.

From out of his scarred and wounded scul came
the cry :

0O German mother dreaming by the fire,
While you are knitting socks to send your son,
His face is trodden deeper in the mud.”’
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As I read that I had a vision of the mothers of al:
nations searching the shell-torn battlefronts for their
children and as they gathered up the'broken, tortured
bodies, they cursed in their bitter agony the criminal
gang that had sent their young to suca a death.

YWith intense hatred of the social system respon-
sible for the past black vears, he came to Glasgow
ready to welcome a change whatever course it took.

TWhile in Duke Street Prison where we were
committed to await trial, bail having been refused,
I received a short note from Sasscon, dated February
7, which read :

“Dear Gallacher,

“I was very sorry to have been unable to see you
vesterday. I should bave enjoyed a talk with you—
even through a grating ! Best of luck.

‘“Yours sincerely,
“Siegfried Sassoon.”

He, like a good many others, was sadly dis-
appointed at the turn of events. So many were not
only expecting, but hoping, that a rising would take
place in Glasgow.

A week later the strike was called off and the
Ciyde settled down to its normal life once more. Two
weeks after that a Judge in Chambers granted bail of
4300 for the principal leaders with lesser amounts
for the others. When we came out of Duke Street
Prison we found Glasgow still showing the “scars of
war.” All around the centre of the city, shop fronts
were boarded up. Despite its short duration the fight
had been a costly one.

The closing episode of the “revolt’” took place
in the High Court, Edinburgh, in the month of
April, when Shinwell, Kitkwood, Hopkins, Ebury,
Brennan, Alexander and myself came up for trial.
1 had decided to defend myself despite all efforts of
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the others to get me to accept Counsel. Of course
all my colleagues on the Clyde Workers’ Committes
were with me in this decision. We had engaged
Walter C. Leechman, the solicitor, an old member
of the Labour Party, to assist us with legal advice
and he proved eminently satisfactory.

At a meeting of the Counsel and clients heid in
Edinburgh a week before the court opened, refer-
ence was made to the fact that I was defending
myself and the question was put by one of the
K C/s (there were three of them, Watts, Sandeman
and Constable), “Cannot you persuade him to
accept Councel ? He’ll probably ruin us all,” to
which the answer was made, “No, he won’t yield,
we’'ve tried our utmost.” One of the learned gentle-
men commented : ‘*Maybe it’s just as well, a jury
always like a scapegoat.” This was taken note of
and duly reported by Leechman’s Edinburgh agent
who was present at the meeting.

It may be as well to say here that during the
course of the trial, none of the three K. C. ’'s made any
attempt to make me the %‘goat,” but I mention the
incident to show the attitude of mind that is held
regarding juries and the character of their judgment
especially 1 political trials.

The n'ght before the trial John Wheatley had a
talk with me. ¢l know you can face what is coming,”
he said. He thought it was going to be serious, and
he was very anxious about Kirkwood., ¢You know
Davie better than anybody,’”’ he continued, ‘“‘aand you
know how prison would affect him.”” He wanted me
to do everything possible to get Davie out of it. This
I readily promised. The last man on earth I wanted
to see going to prison was Kirkwood. I knew what it
was, and I knew .what it could do. To a man like
Maxton, accustomed to moving around in an atmos-
phere of happy-go-lucky friendship with all and
sundry, it had been a harsh nerve-racking ordeal faced
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with a stout heart and a smile—however forced the
smile may sometimes have been.

For Johnny Muir it was a period of never-ending
agony. But if it was agony for Muir, what was it
going to mean for Kirkwood ? Turbulent, dramatic,
he must always be expressing himself. He must
always have an audience, beit one or a thousand To
shut such a man up is to kill him, to deprive him of
all life’s meaning. How he got through the three
weeks in Duke Street Prison, without tearing the
place to pieces, I dor’t kanow. I do know that he
suffered terr:d!y. He wanted to be out, to move
zbout, to say and to shout aloud his hatred of capital-
ism and of ali that it mmeant for the workers. Instead,
shut in betwsen bare walls, so close together as
scarcely to leave room to breathe—a heavy iron-studd-
ed door—nerve-shattering silenc=.

The warder came into my cell one day to have
a talk, He had just come from Davie's cell. “It’s a
shame,” he said to me, ‘“a big decent fellow like
that in here. Prison is no place for him.” Then he
added, ‘It’s different with you, Waullie, you’re
used to it.” And what struck the warder is what
will strike anyone whoc knows Big Davie. “Prison
is po place for him.”

Give bim room and plenty of it. Let him talk
and he’ll talk plenty. Often he’ll talk foolishly,
but always he remains a big good-hearted prole-
tarian, wandering these latter days sadly out of his
depth, but nevertheless capable of getting back on
the firm footing of the proletarian struggle once
again.

The trial opened with a great array of witnesses
for the prosecution, most of them policemen, but
with the Sheriff of Lanarkshire and the Lord Provost
of Glasgow thrown in.

The Counsel for the Defence riddled their evi-
dence and I did my best to help. I was able to
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confuse certain police witnesses who testified against
Kirkwecod as to whether it was he or I who said
the things they were charging him with and by this
means shook them very considerably in the eyes of
the jury.

When the case for the prosecution ended I sug-
gested to the three K.C.’s that in view of the char-
acter of the evidence and the way it had been tornm
to shreds, we should close the case without bringing
in defence witnesses. 1 was sure that if we addressed
the jury on the evidence put forward they couldn’t
coanvict us. Counsel thought it advisable to have at
least a few defence witnesses. Shinwell, Kirkwood
and the others also wanted witnesses, and so it was
decided. One of the defence witnesses almost sunk
the ship with all hands aboard. He entered the box
with a hard sullen ook on his face. The Judge
addressing him said, “Repeat after me, ‘I swear
by Almighty God——""’

“Whit God are yi talking aboot ?’’ returned the
witness.

The Judge drew himself up, then in a very stern
voice: ‘“Repeat after me, ‘I swear by the Almighty
God.” »

“Awa’ wi yi’,” returned the witness with an
offensive look, ‘‘ye’r sittin’ up there like a Punch
and Judy in the Circus.”

“Take that man away,” commanded the Judge,
and the police pulled him from the box.

Then Rosslyn Mitchell, who was solicitor for
several of the accused, appeared as a witness for
Kirkwood, Shinwell and Hopkins. Their Counse!
examined him and he gave a glowing picture of
their high and estimable characters. The Lord
Advocate cross-examined him. In the course of the
cross-examination, he asked him it he had heard
me speak at the meeting on Wednesday, January 29.
When he answered in the affirmative the Lord
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Advocate foilowed up by asking him what the
character of the speech was, to which Mr. Mitchell
answered that I was “very violent.”” “And did
you consider it your duty as a public man to stand
at such a meeting and listen to violent incitements
without doing anything ?” questioned the Lord
Advocate.

“] shouted out, ‘Don’t be a fool, Gallacher !"'*
replied Mr. Mitchell.

“You don’t have to worry,”” John Wheatley had
said to me. “Mr. Mitchell will look after your
affairs.’” OIld john and I had many a laugh about
that one afterwards.

At the conclusion Counsel addressed the jury on
beha'f of their clients. 1 listened in astonishment as
they poured out their testimony to the virtues of the
accused. If what they were saying was true then
all those colleagues of mine had been doing the
Jekyll and Hyde on me. ‘‘Gentlemen,” said old
Watts K.C.,, with a tremor in his voice, ‘“look at
him,’’ pointing to one of the prisoners, ‘he’s a
Christian., His dear old mother who sits at home
waiting for him, is a Christian. You cannot send
a man like this to prison.”

This was typical of the kind of appeal that was
made for them. The Couasel had a job to do and
they did it well. Their concern was to get their
clients out of it as expeditiously as possible. But
some one had to take responsibility for the strike
and the events that arose out of it, so I had to face
the jury as the “villain of the piece.”

In my address, I dealt with the strike and the
demonstrations arising out of it. I justified all that
we had done and then went on to deal with the
attack by the police. I described the scene as I had
observed it from the platform: how I jumped down
to expostulate with the Cheif Constable and the
rush that was made at me by the police. “Iam
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accused of having struck certain policemen,” I said.
“#“This part of the evidence is true. I struck out,
1 struck hard. My only regret is that I didn’t have
2reater strength, so that I could bave struck harder.”

Following this I went on to declare my deter-
mination to keep at the fight whatever happened,
ending with ‘“Gentlemen, it is for you to decide.
You can decide that I’'ll sleep to-night in my own
home or in a prison cell, but believe me, which ever
it is, I’l1 sleep with an easy conscience.”

The Judge, Lord Scott Dickson, then summed up
and practically wiped out the charge against Kirk-
wood, Hopkins, Ebury and Alexander. At the
conclusion he took occasion to say: “One thing the
Court must take noste of, Mr. Gallacher has played
the game by his colleagues.”

The jury decided without loss of time for a
verdict of ‘‘not guilty’’ on all prisoners with the
exception of Shinwell and me. Against Shinwell
there was no evidence but an abundance of pre-
judice for which the prosecutor had been responsible.
They argued long about Shinwell and then decided
to find him ¢'guilty.”” About myself there was
also a long argument, several of the jurymen were
disposed to be lenient but they couldn't get over
the fact that 1 had struck the Chief Constable.
This was decisive. 1 also was slated ‘‘guilty.”
Shinwell was sentenced to five months’ imprison-
ment, I got off with three. After shaking hands
with Kirkwood and the others who now left the
dock free men, I turned to where my wife was
sitting in the Court, accompanied by Wheatley,
waved my hand and said, ‘I could do it on my
head.” This was more to reassure my wife than
with any sense of bragging.

Thus ended the ‘“war” struggle of the workers
of the Clyde.

& & * & %
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We continued to carry on for several years, with
the reappearance of the Worker as our centrai organ.
We had now as one of our leading figures J. R.
Campbeil, who had been discharged from the Army
early in 1918, bearing with him a lifelong reminder
of war and its havoc. As a boy he had been a keen
member of the old S.D.P., and later the B.S.P.
Now with all his war experience he threw himself
into the strugygle and soon became one of the fore-
most leaders of the factory movement.

But however effective our factory work might be,
and in many directions it was undoubtedly good,.
we failed entirely to develop any effective general
line and so the general leadership of the move-
ment passed more and more into the hands of the
reformists.

In 1918 we had marched through Glasgow on
May 1, 100,000 strong. On May 1, 1924, Harry
McShane, one of McLean’s best and most loyail
lieutenants, and I led a demonstration through the
street—100 was our full muster.

The reformists had succeeded in sapping the
revolutionary movement for the time being. We
were jdown to zero. But that 100 was the first
attempt at a May Day demonstration since 1918.
It was a start and from it we have gone and will
continue to go forward.

While we were preparing the campaiga for the
shorter working week, we were approached by
a deputation of blind workers employed at the
Royal Blind Asylum for a special form of assistance.

These blind workers engaged in all kinds of
basket and mat work, were receiving wages that
scarcely kept body and soul together. The insti-
tution was maintained by a voluntary subscription
much of which came from the factgries, while a
considerable amount” came from rich and petty-
bourgeois sympathizers.
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At the beginning of the year an annual meeting
of the subscribers was held at which the board of
directors was elected. A deputation from the blind
workers wanted me to attend the subscribers’ annual
meeting and they would guarantee my election on
to the board with the responsibility of getting 2
general all-round increase of wages.

Although 1 had many other commitments the
boys were all of the opinion that I should accede to
this request and make a fight to change the con-
ditiops in the institution. Accordingly I attended
the subscribers’ meeting and was duly elected on to
the board of directors. 1 was unable to attend a
meeting until my release from prison. When I did
attend, I found myself in a very select and respect-
able company. There was a baronet and several
other very pronounced ‘‘gentlemen,”’ including a.
couple of clericals, several ladies, and a group of
Labour men headed by Willie Shaw, secretary of the
Glasgow Trades Council.

After routine business was finished I raised the
question of wages and proposed an  all-round
increase of 50 per cent. I have never known such
abundant sympathy as was expressed by those ladies
and gentlemen, but—where was the money to come
from? A genera!l doleful shaking of heads at this.
I said I wasn’t at the moment discussing where the
money was to come from, bat where what money
we had was going, and I was certain there wasn’t
enough of it going to the blind workers. Well, we
had an awful row, and the meeting broke up without
a decision.

The next meeting found them prepared. They
orought in the superintendent, a large well-kept
gentleman who supplied us with a mass of figures,
a favourite trick of company promoters and of a
certain type of “kept’ trade union officials. These
figures all went to show that out of the money that,
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came from various sources, this had to be paid, that
had to be paid, the next thing or the other had to
be paid, and so it was plain for all to see that there
was nothing left with which to raise wages. I said,
“] don’t like this way of dealing with the question.
Let us try it the other way. Out of whatever
money is coming in, we’ll raise wages, then if there is
anything left, we’ll pay for this, that and the other.”

All of them looked aghast. They have never
before heard of a proposal so directly in opposition
to their accepted mode of thinking. One and all
declared it was bad economy and could not be
supported. “Bad economy’’—starve the workers,
blind or sighted, that’s always good economy, always
arguments will be found to justify it, but pay the
workers—out come the figures. It can’t be done, it’s
“bad economy.”

But while they had been declaring the figures
we had been making campaign and 1 now threatened
them with mass demonstrations if the blind workers
weren’t considered first and so the wage increase
was forced through; mnch against the will of the
board members.

1 then paid a visit to the institution and made a
thorough examination of its character. There was
a superintendent with £950 or tnereabouts a year,
then an assistant superintendent with 4400 a year,
in the factory itself a‘blind foreman who did all the
practical work.

After going very carefully inte the matter I made
a proposal at the next meeting of the committee that
almost shook my co-directors out of their chairs. I
proposed the dismissal of the superintendent and the
assistant superintendent and the appointment of a
man at 4500 a year to replace them. Did we have
a fight? Icansay we did. Such nice ladies and
gentlemen, always anxious for economy, when it
affects the workers ; but a nice Christian gentleman
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like the superintendent, a top-hatted, frock-coated
pililar of the Church is different. It was monstrous.
But monstrous or no, it had to go through.

The superintendent and his assistant got a month’s
notice and an advertisement appeared in the Press,
offering the post of superintendent to a competent
man at £500 a year. Believe it or not, the super-
intendent who for years had been drawing round
about £950 a year, while the blind workers went
short, put in an application for the job at _£500 a
year, so also did the assistant. When the latter was
in beforé the board I asked bhim if he agreed with
the observations I had made in connection with the
institution, and with the conclusion I bhad drawn
that one man could do the job. #Yes,” he replied,
“] am in complete agreement. As a matter of
fact, I do everything now, the superintendent does
nothing.”?

Out of the money that came in, this sort of thing
had to be paid for before the blind workers could
get anything. What applied there applies in greater
or lesser form to every other institution and ever:
industry in the country.



CHAPTER XI
I MEET LENIN

HEN I came out of prison in July 1919 I

immediately started in search of work. Moran-
ing after morping I went the round of the Clycde
workshops, but all in wvain. 1 was ¢‘“black-listed,”
and for a iong time I couldn’t find a foreman pre-
pared to take a chance. Then at last I met one at
Binnie's at Cordonald. He said he would risk giving
me a job and started me on a heavy horizontal
boring machine. [ used to go in bright and fresh
in the morning and come out cold; worn and tired at
night.

But it didn’t last leng. The day after I got
started I took another Paisiey engineer along with
me and he also got a job. We were working a week
when the managing director appeared on the scene
with the manager. They came into the shop and,
a short distance from where [ was working, had an
angry session with the foreman. When they finished
the foreman came over to me and said,

“I’m sorry, Willie, I tried to save you, but it
was no use. You've got to go, you and your
friend.>” The two of us went but alas, not alone.
The foreman got the “sack” along with us. He
had held the job for years, but was given a month’s
wages in lieu of notice and cleared out on the
grounds of “incompetence.”’

The story went flying round the Clyde. If the
foremen had been shy of me before, it was nothing
to their attitude now. They’d cross to the other
side of the road if they saw me coming and hurry
as fast as their legs would take them. They were
afraid to be seen speaking to me even though it



1 MEET LENIN 213

were to curse me. Hitherto I had never taken a fee
of any kind for speaking, in fact I had created quite
a sensation while I was in America by refusing a fee.
Everybody got paid, from a humble couple of
dollars up to 100 or 150 doliars a speech. I spoke
many times in America but mever at any time took
a cent. But early in 1920, I had to rely on the
comrades and they were ready to stand by. [ got
small fees for the various campaigns in which I
took part and was able to get along.

Early in 1920 the question of unity and the
formation of a Communist Party in Britain as a
section of the Third International was being widely
discussed and already considerable advances had
been made by certain parties and groups of parties.
These comprised the B.S.P., a strong section of the
S.L.P. including its foremost leaders, Sylvia Pank-
hurst’s group around the Workers Dreadnought and
a group of Lett I.L.P.’ers.

But while these were negotiating in London, the
movement was taking a different course in Glasgow
and in other parts of Scotiand.

The shop stewards movement had a strong anti-
parliamentary bias, while the Glasgow S.L.P. was
violently opposed to its own leaders associating
with the B,S-P. Associated with them was a group
formed around John McLean, who had broken from the
B.S.P. and was now pursuing a course of his own.

Amongst all of these the idea of a Scottish Party
free from the opportunism and corruption that was
—rightly or wrongly—associated with London, rapidly
gained ground.

I had been invited to attend the second congress
of the Communist International as the representative
of the Clyde shop stewards, and in July 1920 I
left for Moscow. As 1 had no passport, I had to
get in touch with a comrade in Newcastle in order
to be “put wise” for smuggling myself aboard a
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Norwegian boat. Without a passport 1 could ne.
travel as a passenger. 1 had to travel as a stowaway.
I had a2 week hanging about the Newcastle docks
bafore 1 succeeded, with the help of a2 fireman whe
was a party comrade, in stowing myself safely away
on a ship bound for Bergen. Six hours before the
ship sailed I was aboard and I counted every minute
of it always expecting to be dragged out and
handed over to the police. From Bergen, with the
assistance of the party there, I sailed as a passenger
to Vardo and from there in a little motor fishing
boat, across a strip of the Arctic Sea to Murmaask,
From Murmansk I went to St. Petersburg (now
Leningrad} where the Congress had to open, but
by the time 1 got there the opening had already
taken place and the congress had moved on tc
AMoscow. With little delay I got to Moscow and
was soon engaged in discussions which completely
altered my views on revolutionary politics.

But this chaonge did not take place in any easy
manner. At that time the shop stewards’ movement
was still comparatively strong and I had little regard
for parties and still less regzard for parliament and
parliamentarians. I was an outstanding example of
the “Left” sectarian and as such had been referred
to by Lenin in his book Le¢ft-Wing Communism, an
Infantile Disorder.

But here I was in the company of Lenin himself
and other leading international figures, arguing and
fighting on the correctness or otherwise of these
views. I was hard to convince. I had such disgust
at the leaders of the Labour Party and their shame-
less servility that I wanted to keep clear of con-
tamination.

Gradually, as the discussions went on, I began tc
see the weakness of my position. More and more
the clear simple arguments and explanations of Lenin
impressed themselves in my mind. When I got
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back to Glasgow 1 tried to give the comrades some
idea of how I felt when talking with Lenin. 1 had
never had such an experience with anyone before.
Here was a man on whom the eyes of the world
were turned. A man who was making history, great
history, yet simple, unaffected, a true comrade in
the deepest meaning of the werd., Not for a moment
could I dream of talking about him—to him.
1 couldn’t even think of bim when he was talking
to me. The remarkable thing about Lenin was the
ccmplete subordination of self. His whole mind,
his whole being, was centred in the revolution. So
when I spoke to Lenin, 1 had to think not of him,
but of what he was thinking—about the revolutionary
struggle of the workers.

Occasionally in the discussions taking place in the
various Commissions Lenin would scritble a note
clearing up a particular point and pass it to this or
that comrade. One everning in the hotel [ was
ccmmenting cn the caustic character of such a note
he bhad passed and how certain pecple would go red
in the face if they had seen it.

“Where is it 77 asked J. S. Clarke.

“I tore it up,”” I replied.

“What ! he exclaimed. ‘‘You tore up a note ir
Lenin’s handwriting 2

“Yes,” I said, “I have torn up several. 1 always
tear up whatever notes I have at the end of a sitting.”

“If you get another, keep it and give it to me,”
said Clarke.

The next day I happened toc make a heated
reference to the criticism in Left- Wing Communism
and Lenin passed me a note which read : “When I
wrote my little book I did mot know you.” I kept
that one but gave it to Clarke. He now writes fant-
astic stories about his relations with Lenin

The more I talked with Lenin and the other
comrades, the more I came to see what the party of

14
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the workers meant in the revolutionary struggle
It was in this, the conception of the party, that
the genius of Lenin had expressed itself. A Party
of revolutionary workers, with its roots in the
factories and in the streets, winning the Trade
Unions and the Co-operatives with the correctness
of its working-class policy, a party with no other
interests but the interests of the working class and
the peasant and petty-bourgeois allies of the working
class, such a Party, using every avenue of expression,
could make an exceptionally wvaluable parliamentary
platform for arousing the great masses of workers
to energetic struggle against the capitalist enemy.

Before | left Moscow 1 had an interview with
Lenin during which he asked me three questions.

“Do you admit you were wrong on the question
of Parliament and affiliations to the Labour Party ?*

“Will you join the Communist Party of Grea:
Britain when you return ?°’

{ \ telegram had arrived a couple of days before,
informing us of the formation of the Party.)

¢ Will you do your best to persuade your Scottish
comrades to join it ?”

To each of these questions I answered ¢yes.”
Having given this pledge freely I returned to
Glasgow.

On arrival I heard of a conference that had been
beld two weeks previously, when the question had
been discussed of forming a S:.ottish Communist
Party, compounded of the sectarians of the S,L.P.,
the shop s'ewards and the Scottish nationalism of the
group round John McLean 1 also heard that a fur-
ther conference was to take place on the Saturday
following my return, to elect an Executive Com-
mittee and to launch the Communist Party officially.

On the Saturday I was at the hall where the
conference was being held and asked to be allowed
to make a statement before the delegates took any
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final decision. This was generally agreed o, although
there was some opposition from the Glasgew S L. P.
representatives.

I made a short report of the discussions at the
Second Congress and went on to explain ta case that
had been put by Lenin. I ended up by advising tne
delegates not to go ahead with the formation of a2
party or the election of an executive but toeisct a
provisional committee. responsible for opeaing unity
negotiations with the recently formed Communist
Party of Great Britain.

This met with fierce protests from a few of the
S. L. P.’ers but after a short discussion was accepted
by the overwhelming body of delegates present. A
provisional committee was elected but, not being
a delegate, I could not be elected on to it. This
difficulty however was overcome by the conference
empowering the commiitee t0 co-opt me in an
“advisory capacity.”’

Negotiations were immediately commenczd and
as a resuit a unity conference was held in Leeds early
in January 1921, and the Scottish ccmrades were
absorbed in the C. P. G. B.

At this unity conference it was agreec to make
new elections for President of the party (a post that
has long since disappeared) and the executive. Arthur
McManus was already President of the C.P.G.B. and
was of course nominated again. The Scottish
comrades, although they had much less voting power
than the already established C.P.G.B, insisted on
putting me forward for this position. My nomination
went forward against Arthur but he was re-elected by a
very large majority. Nominations for the executive had
to go in at the same time as nominations for President.
Secretary and Treasurer and as the rules laid it down
that no member could be nominated for two positions.
I was not nominated and therefore could not be elected
to the Executive. I remained a “rank and filer.”’
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At this time the Miners’ campaign was in the fore-
front of the working-class struggle. 1 was agitating
continually throughout Lanarkshire and Fife. The
big question was ‘‘would the Triple Alliance” (miners,
railwaymen aand transport workers) function, would
the railwaymen and transport workers fall in behind
the miners ? A short while after the unity conference,
I went to fulfil an engagement in Birmingham, and
then go on to Liverpool. At the Birmingham meeting
another old comrade of mine from Glasgow was
preseat, one of the most flery and dramatic of alil
our propagandists. On the conclusion of my speech,
the chairman invited this comrade, who was sitting
in the audience, to say a few words, which he did
with a vengeance.

There were three C.ID. men present and he
centred attention on them. He had that audience
snouting, in a wild frenzy. A week later in Liver-
pool I was arrested and held in custody till an
officer from Birmingham came to take charge of me.
This officer was a very pleasant fellow and informed
me on the way to the station that he was a relative
of a prominent leader of the Labour Party., When
we got seated in the train there were two other
people in the carriage, a young man on my side
of the carriage and an elderly man on the other
with my custodian. We talked about the miners,
then about Germany and about Russia. The elderly
gent was a great listener and keen to hear about
other places and other countries. He said to me
with a note of envy in his voice, “You appear to
have travelled quite a lot.”” <Oh, here and there,”
{ replied.

He looked at me with a wistful smile. “Maybe
you are travelling somewhere now ?’’ he suggested.

“lI am,” I replied, ‘““and I'm likely to be away
for quite a while.” DI’'m quite sure he would have
given all he had to be in my place at that moment.
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The train pulled up, at Stafford I think, and the
officer said, ‘“Come out and have a cup of tea,
Willie.”” Out we went. We had to go back quite
a way along the platform to get to the refreshment
room. The officer ordered tea and a bun for me
and a bottle of stout for himself. While we were
in the middie of it the whistle blew and the train
began to jerk. “Come on, Waillie,” the officer
shouted and off he went, rushing out of the buffet
and along the platform. 1 went tearing after him.
The train was already making way as he pulled open
a door and jumped in, a porter made a rush with
the intention of stopping me, but I beat him to it
1 got into the corridor and found the officer squat-
ting on his haunches tryving to get his breath back
1 squatted beside him Suddenly he looked at me
and exclaimed : ¢“My Christ, Willie, what would have
happened to me if you hadn’t got the train ?”

“There would have been no semse in me lying
back.” I told him. ‘I couldn’t go into hiding without
being lost to the movement, so | may as well face
what’s coming and get it over.”

“Well, you’ve saved my job,” he replied.

The next morning I came up before the court
and got an adjournment for a week, on bail. Bac
in Scotland 1 got a letter from the Party centre
informing me that arrangements had been made for
W. H Thompson, the solicitor, Lo meet me in
Birmingham and assist in preparing my defence.
1 was advised to meet him in the Station Hotel the
night before the case came up. 1 did so and found
that he had booked a double bedrcom for the night.
It turned out to be an enormous room with two
large beds, easy chairs, desks and all the rest of it.
It looked real good but when he told me it cost
a pound a head for room and breakfast, that
finished me. 1 scarcely slept all night thinking
about it.
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In court the next day Lord Ilkeston occupied the
bench. I hkave met many friendlier men in my tims,
vput few less so. The indictment accused me of
sedition while speaking at a Communist meeting in
-he Bristol Street School. I took objection to this
and produced a leaflet advertising the meeting as
bSeing held under the auspices of the National Shop

tewards and Workers’ Committee Movement.

The prosecutor said this was a branch of the
Communist Party (he had forestalled Citrine’s solar
system) I showed that the Communist Party had
snly come into existence the previous August and
shat the Shop Stewards Movement had been active
‘or several years, that therefore the contention of the
orcsecutor was absurd. It was no use. My objection
was overruled. But worse was to follow.

The prosecutor after quoting several learned
opinions on sedition, said that I had made a very
clever but a very careful speech This speech, how-
ever, he went on, had to be taken in conjunction with
a2nother speech, made directly after mine and for
which my speech had prepared the way. He did
not propose to quote from my speech as there was no
particular passage that could be used by itself. The
speech had to be considered as a whole and in the
Jdght ol what followed after. He then called one of
the C.1.D. men, a shorthand-writer and asked him to
read out the other feliow’s speech.

Again I objected. I said I was prepared for con-
sideration to be given to what I had said myself but
zhat I was not responsible for anyone who might have
been called to the platform after 1 had spoken.
Objection overruled. They were determined to get
me. The wildest passages from my colleagues’
speech were then read out and the case continued,
concluding with the genial Lord Ilkeston deciding
that I was guilty and imposing on me a sentence of
three months.
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Thompson wanted me to appeal but we had in
our party at that time certain ¢leftist’” objectione
against appealing to a capitalist court, so despite all
his urging I refused altbough he was convinced that
I would bave won on either of the points I had
raised.

While in Winson Green prison, I heard of the
mannper in which Frank Hodges had betrayed the
miners’ cause at a meeting of M.P’s held in the
House of Commons, of how this provided an excuse
for Bevin and Thomas to break up the Triple Alliance
and leave the miners isolated. I used to pace the cell
at night wishing I was out and 1 cursed myself for
aot having taken the opportunity of appealing in
view of the strong case I had.

While in Winson Green I met a young chap who
had just come in with a sentence of eighteen months.
He bhad been a bauk clerk in Coventry. Towards
the end of 1917 many bundles of notes paid out ta
one of the big Coventry firms for the payment of
wages were found to contain, except for the top
and bottom notes, Bible leaves. £3.000 had gone
astray. Where it had gone or who was responsible
could not be discovered In 1918 the young bank
clerk was called up. After training he did a short
term in France, then the war ended. He was
demobilized about the end of 191¢. He got his job
back in the bank but could not settle down to it.
This led to continual trouble between him and the
bank manager.

About the end of 192G things got so bad that the
manager appealed to the directors to have him
transferred It was decided to transfer him to a
small country branch. Before he left he had a row
with the manager, his final words being : “I’m glad
I did you in in 1917.”

That put the manager on the scent. Straight to
the police he went. New inquiries were started and
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the thefts were traced to this young bank clerk.
1 have often heard it said that criminals are dis-
eovered because they cannot refrain from bragging
of their deeds. This was certainly a striking proof
of such an assertion.

When 1 finished my three months’ sentence 1
made a short visit home and then made my way to
Fife to take a hand in the miners’ strike which was
then well under way. I was met at Cowdenbeath
station by a demonstration of several thousand miners
with a band at their head.

We marched along the main street to Stein Square
where a most enthusiastic meeting was held. This
was followed up by meetings in most of the other
villages, all of them, to the very end of the strike, of
a most militant and high-spirited character.

Very few of those sho took an active part in the
movement of that time remain in it to-day A
notable exception is Jimmy Stewart of Lochgelly.
He was one of the most loval and bard working of
our comrades then, he remains the same loyal and
hard-working comrade to-day. In 1921 he went
on a miners’ delegation to Russia. In a train smash
there, in which a Welsh comrade was killed, Jimmy
met with a serious accident and was detained for a
considerable time. But as soon as he got back he
was in the thick of the struggle again.

During 1921 things were not going too well with
the party. The post-War revolutionary wave had
created widespread support for the revolutionary
movement, all kinds of people were helping flnan-
cially and this attracted every variety (and there were
many) of political adventurers.

Some of these had bounced their way into the
leadership of the newly formed Communist Party
and into control of its paper Zhe Communist. While
up in Scotland I was asked to write an article for
the paper. I did so. My article was a column and
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a half iong. The following week I received a letter
which read as follows:

*Mr. W. Gallacher,

¢Dear Sir,
““Enclosed please find postal order for 31s. 6d.
teing payment for your article in the Commungst.
“Yours, etc.,

I could scarcely believe my eyes. I looked at it
in a kind of daze. My wife asked me what was
wrong. “Look,” 1 said, handing her the Iletter.
She looked at it, then looked at me. ‘“Well, you
Znow what to do,”’ she said ; *send it back I wrote
a few lines which read :

s¢Dear Sir,
“WhenI wrote my short article for the Communtst
I wrote it as a Communist, which I am, not as a
journalist, which I am not.
“Yours. etc.,
“Wm Gallacher.”

I pinned the postal order to it and sent it off.
That started a fight for a clean-up in the party.
When the fight ended that man and a whole lot
more of his kind bad gone, in search of more-
fucrative fields than the Communist Party was pree
pared to offer. During the period of this fight the
party headquarters were raided. Albert Inkpin, ths
party secretary, was arrested, and Arthur McManu.
the party president, worked away from the office
This called for someone to take charge at head-
quarters. Tommy Clark, who had been odd-
jobbing about the place for some time, was given
the responsibility, For years he had posed as a
‘‘oreat revolutionary leader.” This on the strength
of his De Leonite recitations in the days before the
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War. Now he was given a chance to show what he
could do. He showed that he could do nothing.
Never was there a greater flop. The party could de
nc other than get quit of him with the utmost
dispatch., But the comrades could not bring thems-
selves to believe that one who had carried around
such a reputation could be so worthless as he appeared
to be, They thought may be he was out of his
element in London, so they gave him a job in the
Glasgow office  There it was the same thing. The
rawest recruit to the party would have been more use
than he was. He went out of the Glasgow office
conscious of his own complete faillure and as a
consequence with the seeds of an undying batred
against the party that had called and exposed his
bluff.

VWillie Paul and others held things together till
McManus was able to return to the cffice and take up
the threads again. But still there were many diffi-
cuities to be faced and overcome. Tommy Bell was
in Moscow working hard in the Communist Inter-
national and could not easily be spared from there.
The Executive therefore took a decision to co-opt me
and to make me Vice-President of the party in order
to help get it out of the confusion it was then in.
This brought me down to London in {ime to take part
in the preparations for the St. Pancras Congress of
the ’arty. For this Congress the political adventurers
were making special preparations in order to keep
their paralysing control over the party.

The night before the Congress they had organized
a fraction meeting to which they had invited a number
of good party delegates whom they hoped to trick
into supporting the line they intended to take. One
of these was the same comrade who spoke with me in
Birmingham. It was all done in the utmost secrecy
but they made a mistake in the choice of this particular
comrade for he immediately came to me and advised
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me as to what was going on. Their consternation
when | walked into their meeting may be imagined.

They tried to put as good a face on it as possible,
but after a very few words I got all the delegates
present to understand the game that was being
played and persuaded them all to leave the meeting.

Tne next two days saw the complete discomfiture
of all of this particular type of “Communist” and it
wasn’t long before the party was quit of them for
zood and all.

But while most of them just faded away without
a sound and without leaving the faintest trace
behind, there was one who felt he had to make a
splutter. This was a gentleman since a Labour ALP.
For quite a time, while the revolutionary tide was
high, he had gone dashing around Russia and Ger-
many until he hypuotized himself into the belief that
he was “redder” than a boiled lobster.

But when his wild journeyings were ended and he
had to face up to party membership and party respon-
sibility in England, there was a different story to tell.

He wrote a letter to our party headquarters
extolling in the most fulsome language the Com-
munist Party of Russia and the Communist Party
of Germany. With such parties as these, it was in
keeping with the dignity of an English gentieman
to be associated, but with the British Party! If it
hacn’t been that he was soc well brought up heé
have spat when he mentioned the name

Not for him the British Party, until it was of the
calibre of the Russian or German Parties. I remem-
ber writing him a reply starting with the well-known
lines :

“I do believe in Freedom's Cause, as far away
as Poland is.”

and going on to expose the humbug and pretence
of his ‘“Bolshevism.”
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He was like many others. If those of us who
were labouring to build a party succeeded in our
efforts and the party became a force in the country,
then they would graciously condescend to join. But
the party that is strong enough to attract them, will
also be strong enough to keep them out.

After the miners’ strike ended, trouble broke
out in the Fife, Kinross and Clackmannan Miners’
Union, the secretary of which was the Right
Honourabie William Adamsonl. Away back in the
early days of Labour representation it was decided
to contest West Fife, and Robert Smillie was the
almost wunanimous selection. Adamson tried by
every means to get this decision overturned. He
failed, but he made his determination to run as an
independent so clear that Smillie wrote to the com-
mittee and withdrew his name, explaining that he
didn't want to see the Fife Miners’ Union split cn
such an issue. A close friend of the coalowners and
of every Tory in Fife and out of it, Adamson had to
have his own way, or he would split the union.

Thus, out of the fight for the reform of the union
which followed the 1921 strike, there developed a
split and the formation of a Reform Union, brought
about by the stubborn resistance of Adamson to
any democratic change being made.

The secretary of the new union, Philip Hodge,
ran as an Independent Labour candidate at the 1923
General Election, but he didn’t prove very satis-
factory and the young men who were the active
spirits in the Reform Union campaigned for a new
candidate.

As I was well known throughout Fife and had
taken part in so many of the struggles an approach
was made to get me as candidate. I had however

1Mr. Adamson has died since this was written, passing
away in & Dunfermline nursing home on February 23, 1936.
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been previously adopted for Dundee where I had
contested in 1922 and 1923. The first time I got
six thousand cdd votes, and the second time my vote
went up to over ten thousand.

By 1934, however, the Fife boys were campaign-
ing within the party to get me transferred to Fife.
So hotly was the matter being contested that in
the election of 1924, the one following the defeat
of the L~bour Government, I didn’t stand at all.
Foliowing this election the decision was taken to
transfer me and 1 was allocated to West Fife as the
prospective parliamentary candidate.

In 1925 I was a delegate to the Liverpool Labour
Party Conference. During the discussion on the
expulsion of the Communpists, 1 drew attention to
the fact that the conference was proposing to exclude
some of the best working-class fghters, and the
men who were inciting the conference to this course
were the leaders who were continually wining and
dining in the camp of the enemy.

A little later Aitken Ferguson and I met Mac-
Donald and Tom Johnston in one of the corridors.
MacDonald said: I hope you were not referring
to me, when you spoke of the leaders wining and
dining in the camp of the enemy *’

“I was,” I replied.

“Then it’s not right, Willie,”’ he pleaded in his
most suave manner, “I don’t believe in all this
banqueting that goes on. I may go to Buckingham
Palace or Balmoral Castle now and again but you
can’t call that the camp of the enemy.”

I said, $‘Are you trying to have a joke at my
expense ? Maybe you’ll tell me next that it’s all
workers you meet there.”” He got a bit nettled at my
tone and responded somewhat sharply :

‘“You don’t know anything about what goes on
there, so you shouldn’t talk.”

I know all right,’’ I said.
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“You don’t,”” he asserted, adding: “I’ll tell you
what I’ll do, I’ll take you to Balinoral Castle the next
time [ go and let you see for yourself.”

Yes, sir ! that was big, brave, handsome Mac

“All right,” 1 informed him, “I'll go, and I
won’t misconduct myself. [’ll behave as [ behave
with the boys in the workshop or at the street corner
and Pl bet I don’t get invited again, and ncither will
you for having taken me.”

That finished J. R. M. He went off in a huff.
He didn’t take me to Balmoral Joynson Hicks got
in before him and took me to Wandsworth prison,
with another eleven of the Communist party leaders
to keep me company.

The Labour Party leadership succeeded, through
the decisions of the 1925 conference, in isolating us
from the general body of the workers, and the
Baldwin Government, as part of its preparations for
the attack on the miners, followed up with our arrest
and imprisonment. As early as 1925 MacDonald,
Thomas and Co. were working in close combination
with Baidwin against the revolutionary advance of
the working class,

When the great strike of 1926 took place, I was
in Wandsworth prison. 1 had felt impatient in
Birmingham, but I was worse in Wandsworth.

I longed to be out and to have the opportunity
of participating in the strike activity, We got some
news inside but only of the scantiest and most dis-
connected kind. But one thing was clear. The
classes were in open confrontation. The capitalists
and their lackeys looking to and taking orders from
the Baldwin Government, the workers loocking to
and taking their orders from their own government
—the General Council. I knew that such a situation
could only last for a very short time. I wrote out a
statement for discussion (on toilet paper) in which
I laid down three possible solutions :
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1. The Baldwin Government would arrest the
General Council, declare the Strike illegal, and
proceed to suppress it.

2. The General Council wonld arrest the
Baldwin Government, would declare for a
Workers’ Republic and proceed to suppress the
bourgeoisie.

3  The General Council would make a complete
capitulation and betray the working class.

This last T pointed out, was the solution tke
General Council would inevitably take. A class
action such as was in progress then demanded a class
leadership, a leadership that had not been corrupted
by, and made part of, the bourgeoisie.

Such a leadership we had to try and get in face
of the imminent betrayal of the strike. This
leadership zlas had not yet been hammered out and
steeled on the arvil of experience and so the great
betrayal took place. But a new confrontation will
zake place, this time with the lesson of 1926 well
learned—a class leadership for class action and
victory is assured.



CHAPTER XII
AFTER THE GENERAL STRIKE

HEN I came out of prison in the month of
September 1 went off for a short holiday. I was
reluctant to go but the party leadership had decideéd
that the twelve of us should follow this course to give
us an opportunity of studying the developments that
had taken place while we were away. At the end of
my holiday [ went to the Durham area where 2z
week’s campaign had been organized for me.

As soon as [ reached Durham the Home Secre-
tary, the late Sir William Joynson Hicks, issued =
warrant under the Emergency Powers Act, pro-
hibiting me from organizing or speaking at any
meeting in the county of Durham. All the time [
was in the county the police were chasing after me i
a couple of taxis, much to the amusement of the miners,

But I was able to circumvent them with the
assistance of the miners’ lodge officials. Mass lodge
meetings were held and in the midst of the business
1 would appear on the platform. The officials
would immediately give way and 1 would have the
opportunity of addressing a well-prepared mass
meeting. Before the police could have any inkling
as to my whereabouts I would be finished and away ;
half an hour or an hour later the taxis would come
rushing up, with the Inspector and his men eager,
very eager, to serve their precious warrant,

I had a splendid campaign, which would not
have been possible without the aid of those lodge
officials. They thoroughly enjoyed the game of
outwitting the police.

On leaving Durham I made for Fife. The boys
there gave me a great reception at meeting after
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meeting. One of the best and most memorable was
one in Buckbaven. My schedule had got kroocked
a bit groggy. 1 was three-quarters of an hour
tehind my time when I gct into the meeting.

Jirmy Hcpe, one of my best friends in the Eas:
Fife area, and one of the mocst likeable arnd pecpulas
of our ccmrades, was Lolding the fcrt until I arrived.
The hall was packed to suffccaticn. Every avaiiable
icch of space was taken up. As 1 came c¢cn to ths
plaiform a roar of greeting rcse from the hall to mee:
me.

When it died down Jimmy Hope said : “Well,
auld Willie’s here at last.” Ie then went on: “The
reformists say that we’re just a lot of young irrespon-
sibles. But, kere’s auld Willie, ke's been in the fight
as long as any © ttem. The difference between him
end them is, his brain has kept ycurg and they’ve
tecome fossilized.”

This pawky reiteraticn of “auld Willie” had
the audience rocking with laughter. 1 never rose
to speak at any time or anpywlere in a more cordial;
happy and receptive atmosphere. And at this time,
these men had been out cn strike fcr over five
months.

All over Fife it was the same. The spirit of the
men, and of their womenfolk too, was undaunted—
unconquerable. Everywhere the utmost activity
around the food kitchens, the boot-repairing depots,
etc. In Lechgelly, my shoes were soled and heeled
but when the job was done, the Red Flag was
worked on to each sole.

These days in the latter part of 1926 were great
and inspiring ones to spend among the Fife miners.
In the midst of it all, the question was continually
being raised: ‘““Why should there be two unicns in
Fife ? Isn’t it time we had unity ? We’re all fighting
together, why shouldn’t we be organizZed together 2
When the strike ended, these questions remained

15
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10 be answered. From all sides demands for unity
came and so negotiations started for bringing about
an amalgamation of the two unions, the County
Union, of which Adamson was secretary, and the
Reform Union of which Philip Hodge was secretary.

This unity was accomplished in 1927, Adamson
remaining general secretary with Philip Hodge
occupying a subsidiary position in the office. Al
went well for a month or two and then came the
election for a new executive and for two organisers.
Five Communists were nominated for the two
organisers’ positions. After some discussion three of
them withdrew leaving two to contest against two of
Adamson’s lieutenants. The Communists came out
on top and Adamson contested the ballot.

A new ballot was taken and a still bigger major-
ity was registered for the Communists, the same
applied to the executive members. A majority of
Communists and strong left wingers was elected to
“he executive. While this was going on a baliot was
also being taken for the Scottish executive and
officers

Willie Allan, at that time secretary of the
Lanarkshire Miner’s Union, was nominated for Scot-
tish secretary, while one of the Fife men who has since
deserted the movement, was nominated for President.
Both positions were won as well as a majority on the
Scottish executive. But the new executive could not
function until it was endorsed by a national confer-
ence which could only be called by the old executive.

This national conference was and is an annual
affair, which the existing executive has the respoa-
sibility of calling. When the ballot went against
them the old executive refused to convene the national
conference—so the new executive officials could not
take office. Month after month the fight went on, with
more and more miners leaving the unions in disgust.
Then the old officials of the Lanarkshire Miners’ Union
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took the drastic step of expelling the very men who
had been successful in the ballot for the Scottish
executive.

Adamson, as representative of the Fife, Clack-
mannan and Kinross Miners’ Union, had been given
instructions by his executive to support the demand
for the convening of the national conference. But,
far from carrying out these instructions, he suppcrted
every decision of his colleagues on the old execurive.
The executive of the Fife Union had to take cognisance
of this and was forced eventually to take action.
Adamson was suspended from his office of secretarv
and the executive decided to take a ballot of the
members on the question of his dismissal.

While the ballot was being taken, Adamson,
seeing the result, gathered his lieutenants around kim,
and started a new union giving it the name of Fife,
Kinross and Clackmannan JMigers’ Union. Just a
simple transposition of the second and third namnes.
The old Scottish executive accepted Adamson’s uzion
as the official body and disafliliated the original one,
thus cutting it off from association with the Jliners’
Federation of Great Britain. For it is only through
the Scottish executive that the County unions in
Scotland have their connections with the M. F. G. B.
This, of course, was a great advantage to Adamson,
as many miners who had no liking for him or for his
methods, were nevertheless anxious to be in the official
union and maintain contact with the English and
Welsh miners.

These events continued throughout 1928 and
in 1929 the United Mineworkers of Scotland was
formed at a conference, representative of delegates
from the Fife union, the expelled members and
branches of the Lanarkshire Miners’ Union, several
branches from Ayrshire and several from the
Lothians. The aim of the U.M.S. was the unity of
all Scottish miners in one strong Scottish Miners’
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Union, a demand that has been in the forefront of
all active rank-and-file movements for many years.
Six county unions in Scotland, each with its own
executive and officials had for long represented an
intolerable and costly anomaly, one that played
beautifully into the hands of the mineowners.

The U M.S started off with a fairly good mem-
bership in Lanarkshire as well as in Fife, although
the membership in other districts was merely
nominal. But through a series of unfortunate and
ill-conducted stoppages an impression was created
in Lanarkshire that the only concern of the organ.
izers of the new union was to stop the pits regardless
of whether there was cause for it or not, and very
soon the membership fell away leaving the union for
all effective purpoces with its only substantial base
in Fife.

During the 1926 strike and the events which
immediately followed a new and very active young
man had come to the fore This was Alex Moffat,
of Lumphinnans, a small village lying between
Cowdenbeath and Lochgelly. Alex aand his brother
Abe had both joined the Communist Party and
socn proved to be keen political thinkers. Abe for
a while played a subsidiary role in the movement,
but Alex soon became one of its most dominant
personalities.

Both brothers were appointed check-weighmen at
the Pee-Weep Pit but towards the end of 1929 they
were removed from their positions by sheriff’s
interdict at the instance of the Fife Coal Co. for
having participated in, or having led, a strike of
the miners at the pit.1 A short time after Abe was

1 Two years earlier, Andrew Jarvie, who by his energetic
work had won the solid support of the Valleyfield miners, had
been removed from his position of check~weighman at the Fife

CQoal Coss pit in ValleyReld, by the same process, a sheriff’s
interdict. The Fife Coal Co. doesn’s ike Communists.



ATTER THE GENERAL STRIKE 233

appointed as an organizer cof the TU. M. S. and the
sterling qualities that have since become sc pronoun-
ced, commenced to evidence themselves.

Alex socn afterwards was elected to the Fife
County Council where he has rendered distinguished
service ever since, At the last two elections he has
been returned unopposed About the samne time
Jimmy Stewart, another U.)M.S. stalwart, was elected
to the Lochgelly Town Council and became one of
the outstanding stalwarts in the area.

But the U.ALS., following the collapse of mem-
bership in Lanarkshire, was gcing through a very
difficult period. Will.e Allan, the general secretary,
who had battled against heavy odds for a2 long time,
resigned his post and took up other work im the
movement. He is now check-weighman at tne
Cambois Colliery, Northumberland He was followed
as generai secretary by Dave Proudfoot of Methil.
Proudfoot was subject to periods of deep depression
which had a very bad effect on both organizers and
members.

During this period, the ‘‘paid’” organisers got
little more than the unemployed relief scale. Not
only so, but often there was no money for them at
the end of the week and they would have to wait for
several days before anything at all was found for
them. Added to this debts were accumulating on all
sides  The outlook for the U M.S. was black indeed.

In July 1931, the Seven-and-a-half-hour Act of
the Labour Government came into operation. The
Scottish mineowners threatened a heavy cut in
wages to offset the proposed half-hour’s reductions
in working time

We conducted a terrific campaign in Fife against
any reduction in wages and for the seven-hour day
as against the seven and a half. On the day before
the seven and a half hours came legally into force,
no decision had been arrived at on the question of
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wages. 'The mineowners were demanding a cut of
1s. 4d. per day.

On the Monday evening | had a mass meeting
at Bowhill, We were making preparations for a
strike the following day. The night-shift men who
were at the meeting suggested remaining out that
night. [ advised them against this and persuaded
them to go to work that night and to be ready for
action the next day. [ finished the meeting and
returned to Lumphinnans where a real shock
awaited me. The Scottish executive had sent out
telegrams to all the County unions (official) branches
advising them to continue working the eight-hour
day, adding that negotiations on wages were still
going on.

Cn receipt of this telegram the Cowdenbeath
branch of the County union decided unanimously
against working an illegal 8-hour day and declared
for apn immediate strike, the night shift being
instructed not to go down that night. From Kelty
and Lochore came similar reports.

All were out and I had advised Bowhill to remain
in. Accompanied by Alex Moffat I rushed off to
the Bowhill pit. We got there just as the men were
about to go down the pit. 1 explained the situation
that had developed in the area and they immediately
agreed to fall in line with the others, their only
complaint being that I had made them go home and
change into their pit clothes for nothing.

For four weeks almost ten thousand Fife miners
carried cn the fight, with the County officials doing
everything possible to break the strike and to get
the Fife Miners to work the illegal eight hours which
they had succeeded in maintaining in the other parts
of the Scottish coalfields.

At the end of that time the 7] hours was operated
with a wage-cut of 4}d. instead of the 1s. 4d. the
companies had originally demanded. It was another
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great demonstration of the fighting qualities of the
Fife miners, and it saved the situaticn for the whole
of the Scottish coalfield.

In this strike Abe Moffatt demonstrated beyond
any questicn his quality of leadership. He wasa
tower of strength, showing keen political insight on
all problems that arose, and a well-balanced judgment
ttat could be relied on at all times. When, there-
fore, a short time after, Proudfoot “packed in’’ as
General Secretary of the U.M.S. with the dismal
prophecy that the union would be out of existence
in three months the executive had no hesitation in
selecting Abe for the job.

He toock over the union when it was loaded with
debt and when everything appeared to be at its
worst. But he brought an entirely new spirit to the
work. This bad an especial effect on the very com-
petent cffice manager who hitherto had had no
opportunity to keep the books and finances in order.
She seized the opportunity afforded her with both
hands and made a complete change in the office
routine. With Abe released from this side of the
work he was able to get down to the job of reorgan-
izing the whole apparatus of the union. Once more
the organizers began to receive their wages, such
as they were, with regularity. The heavy debt was
tackled, until gradually, after a hard struggle, it
was wiped out. Even while the debt was being
cleared off it was occasionally possible to make a
small addition to the wages of the organizers and
then, as the debt was liquidated, this addition was
made permanent.

Then came a time when the monthly balance
sheet instead of showing a deficit showed a balance.
Not a penny of debt and a balance being built up.
All this was accomplished in a year, with the union
stronger and more influential than it had ever been
before. Thus was the dismal prophecy of Proudfoot
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confounded. In ali the Fife pits the advice and
seadership of the U.M.S. was sought on every
guestion. When the County Union offizials failed
them —which happsened frequently—they could always
rely on the U.M S. officials fighting for them
znd safeguarding their interests. The U.M.S
developed a fine team of leaders, tae brothers Moffat
with Jimmy Stewart, Alex Campbell and a2 number
cf other lads in West Fife. In East Fife were
Jock MIcArthur, a brilliant and versatile comrade
who, although comparatively young, had bszen
long associated with the workers’ movement, biing
cne of those who hzlped to form the Scottish Labour
College, uander the leadership of John McLean, aad
Bob Eadie, who had been transferred from Lanark-
shire.

I had the loyal support of all these comrades
when I stood as parliamentary candidate for Weast
Tife in 1929. In this election [ polled some six
thousand seven hundred odd votes, while Adamson,
the sitting membar retained the seat. In 1931 |
stood again and despite the terrific landslide which
washed Adamson and so many others out, I not
only retained my 1929 vote but added a hundred
or so to it.

Following this election, the influence of the
J.M.S. continued to increise and 1ts work to extead.
Then came a new development that had far-reaching
effects so far as the stremgthening of Commuaist
‘nfluence in the area was coacerned. The campaign
for workmen’s insp:sctors was taken up by the
U.M.S. The process to be carried out under the
Act is as follows: a plebiscite is taken at the pit of
the required number of namss, ten per cent having
to be obtained, a mz=eting of the men is then called
and two inspectors are nominated. If more than
two should be nominated a vote of the meeting is
taken. The defeated nominees can then demand a
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ballot of the pit. When the campaign started the
Tounty union officials came out with every kind of
uanscrupulous attack upon the leaders of the U. M. S.
and opposed tooth and nail the proposals for regular
workmen’s inspectors 1Vhen a plebiscite was being
taken at the pit they tried to persuade the men not
to participate. When they failed in this they
endeavoured to get the Coal Companies to accept
their nominees without a vote of the miners. This
attempt was defeated by the U.M.S. who had the
mass support of the miners and in consequence
ballot votes were conducted at nearly all the pits in
Fife for the election of workmen’s mnspectors. This
was the course of events at all the principal pits in
Fife with Adamson issuing leaflets and statements
in the Press on his favourite topic, namely. ““The
Moscow agents who are out to disrupt the miners’
organizations.”’

Anyone who challenged Adawmson’s *‘private
ownership’® of the miners’ unions or of the West
Fife constituency, both of which were his by
“Divine Right”’, was immediatcsly damned with
bell, beok and candle as Moscow agents. MNoscow
appeared to have no other reason for existence than
to employ agents to disturb the peace of the Right
Honorable Wm. Adamson :

But despite all his frenzied efforts to distract the
attentions of the miners, his nominees were com-
pletely routed at all the leading pits in Fife.
McArthur and Eadie became pit inspectors in East
Fife, Alex Moffat, Jimmy Stewart and Alex Camp-
bell in West Fife. Their inspections were and are
carried out in the wmost thorough and painstaking
fashion and have been the means not only of
securing improvements in the pits and greater
safety for the miners but also of stopping the work-
ing of overtime and other undesirable practices.
But the fight around this issue of pit inspectors,
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apart from the invaluable work done by them, was
an important factor in preparing the minds of the
workers for the 1935 election.

Adamson, when he failed to stop the campaign,
had made the issue quite clear—for his nominees or
for the Communist nomtnees. Every kind of anti-
Communist siander was circulated in the area in
the desperate effort to defeat the U.M S.

But there was such a contrast in service to the
miners, between the U.M.S. nominees and his own,
that all he succeeded in doing was to popularize
Communism instead of discrediting it and thereby
helping to prepare the way for his own final eclipse
in the elections of 1935.

When the campaign for this election started ali
the boys were highly confident and ready to take
on anything. Jock McArthur had been elected on
to the Buckhaven Town Council and from that
body was sent as representative to the Fife County
Council. Mrs. Stewart of Methilhill, an untiring
vigorous fighter for the working class, had been
elected to the District Council. Jimmy Stewart was
standing for re-election for the Lochgelly Council in
the November Municipal Elections, while Bob Selkirk
and a young comrade named Fairlie were standing as
Municipal candidates in Cowdenbeath.

Andrew Jarvie of Dunfermline, Jock Sutherland
of Bowhill and Bob Eadie of Methilhill and Jimmy
Hope of East Wemyss were all nominated for the
County Council elections in December.

All this contributed to making the election cam-
paign one of the most lively ever carried out in any
constituency. Many comrades came in from outside
to help and every one of them was an asset. Eight
or nine cars were brought in by friends from outside,
without which we would have been at a terrible
disadvantage. Actually we could have utilized
dozens more. There are about fifty villages in the
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constitueney which is very scattered, and demands a
most efficient transport service if it is to be covered as
it should be on such occasions.

On November 3, the local elections took place.
Jimmy Stewart came out on top in Lochgelly with a
record vote of over 1,800. In Cowdenbeath where
Selkirk and Fairlie were standing against two Labour
men, two Moderates and two I. L. Pers (the latter
refused to come to an understanding with us on the
grcunds that the ward was an I. L. P. ward) Selkirk
and Fairlie came out on top, easy winners, with the
two 1, L. P.’ers at the bottom, the Moderates and
Labour men in the middle.l

This was a good augury for my election and gave
new encouragement and strength to the campaign.
Wherever we went, even in what were considered the
“backward” places, we found a hearty reception
waiting for us and an eager desire to hear and under-
stand our case. So by the time the campaign ended,
everyone was confident of the resuit. In the sheriff’s
office in Dufermline where the votes were being
counted, there was consternation when it became
obvious that 1 was in. Adamson’s agent went out tc
the corridor to break the news to the old man.

“It’s not possible,” Adamson exclaimed. “De-
mand a recount.” The agent tried to persuade him
against this course, but he would not be persuaded.
It wasn’t possible that he could be defeated. When
he at last realized the truth, that the constituency

1 In the County Council elections which took place in
December we had two further victories. Andrew Jarvie won
the Culross division, which embraces his own stronghold,
Valleyfield, and Blairhill.

In Bowhill young John Southerland, who stood for the
first sime, thoroughly defeated a renegade Communist.
Although youthful, he had deservedly won the confidence of
the Bowhill miners, and has done a great service in putting &
finish to the career of his opponent.
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didn’t belong to him any longer, he disappeared from
the scene.

But he wasn’t the only one to be dispieased at my
victorv. When the sheriff’s clerk had the final
figures, the sheriff was brought in and the figures
were handed over to him. In the two previous
elections with Adamson the victor in one case and
Mr. Chas. Milpe (Conservative) in the other, the
sheriff on receipt of the figures had shaken hands
with the victor and congratulated him con his election
He then Invited the victor to accompany him whilst
he read cut the figures and whilst votes of thanks
were given and short spzeches made.

But on this occasion the sheriff lecked ar the
figures, but he didn’t loock at me. No.

Without a word or a glance, he walked out to
make the public declaration of the poll. I followed.
He got on the platform, read out the figures, turned,
and walked off, leaving me standing there alone.
Alone cn the platform, bat not alome otherwise.
There in front of me was a dense mass of workers,
in the forefront of which was Peter Kerrigan and
Aitken Ferguson, cheering again and again in the
wild enthusiasm of victory.

One of the most important factors in the election
campaign had been the strike of the Valleyfield
miners and the feeling that was aroused around this
strike.l In the middle of October the Valleyfield

-

1. The strike lasted for thirteen weeks, and was one of the
rnost c0l.d and longest pit strikes in the history of Fife. The
men were Sghting to return on the basis of the status quo,
The Pife Coal Co. declared that there would be no negobiations
t111 the men returned to work and that they must return on
the basis of a D11t Scale.

After the election I wrose to the Scottish Execubive of the
Miners and the M.F.G.B Ezxecutive. They were prepared to
intervene but they could only do so if they were invited to
participate by the County Union. This invitation was mnot
fortheoming. Adamson blocked fhe road to any reinforcements
for the strikers. I then went o the Ministry of Mines and gob
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miners had struck against an attempt of the Fife
Coal Co. to intreduce a *‘Dirt Scale’” of 44 Ibs.
per hutch. This affected about 90 strippers and
meant an actual reduction in their wages ; when they
stopped work it meant that the whole pit, about
600 men and boys, were out. Practically all of
these men were in Adamson’s union, but instead of
getting support from him they found that he was
for acceptance of the Dirt Scale. The men at once
angrily repudiated this.

Then the union law agent paid a visit to Valley-
field for the purpose of informing the strikers thazt
the company were legally entitled to enforce a Dirt
Scale. This only increased the anger of the men.
L.ater on the County Union executive met and
decided not to support the strike. By this time the
strikers had invited Abe Jlloffat and the other
leaders of U.M.S. to assist them with the strike.

Abe and the cothers made a campaign arcund the
company's other pits, and week by week groups of
strikers were allocated for collections at these pits.
A ready response was given to the collections and
soon a communal feeding centre was in full swing
in Valleyfield.

the officials there interesteds I followed this up by putting
down a question on the matter. When this gquestion appeared
I had a further meeting with the officials of the DMines Depart-
ment and agreed to withdraw my question pending furihex
negotiations of which they would take charge.

Early in January an official of the Department went to
Fife to meet the representative of the Fife Coal Jo., and the
County Union. As a resalt of this meeling a formula was
submibted and agreed to which provided for a refurn tc work on
she basis of the status quo, with the understanding that the
negotiations would immediately start on the question at issue.
The men being prepared to put forward proposals to eliminate
the need for Dirt Scale. Having accepted the proposals the
men returned to werk on 18th January. They returned fo work
as solid as they were when they first came out on strike, and
more than ever determined to fight against any abttempt fic
impose a Dirt Beale on the pit.
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During the election campaign, Valleyfield became
one of the outstanding issues at all our meetings.
The Labour Party policy in International affairs
had declared for sanctions against the aggressor.
The reactionary forces were for a free hand for the
aggressor. Yet here in Fife the Labour candidate
instead of fighting 1o defend the unions against the
glaring aggression of the Fife Coal Co., was actually
pursuing the line of open reaction, a free hand for
the agressor against his own union members.

Adamson’s conduct in connection with the Val-
levfield dispute was the decisive factor in the Waest
Fife electoral contest.

The election resulted in & great victory for the
Communist Party, a victory that had only been
rendered possible by years of hard work on the part
of a devoted band of comrades, sparing neither time
nor energy in the fight to advance the cause of the
working class. It was an expression of confidence
in the Communist Party and in myself as its repre-
sentative, confidence that we will at all times put
the interests of the workers before all else.



APPENDIX

‘#M. GALLACHER’S MAIDEN SPEECH IN THE HOUSE OF
SOMMONS DELIVERED ON WEDNESDAY, 4TH DEC., 1935
(REPRINTED FROM Hansard)

AS a new Member, I have been given advice by
many older Members of the House, and I will
endeavour to avail myself of it In so far as itis
consistent with what I am supposed to do as the
representative of a great working-class constituency.
1 have been advised that, on rising to address the
House, one should make at least a reference to the
preceding speech. I am sorry that in this case I
cannot accept that advice., I cannot tolerate such
fdippancy, coming from a constituency where the
medical officer last year could issue a report that 50
per cent of the children attending the schools were
suffering from disease or defects. I have seen the
harrowing effects of the most terrible poverty and
suffering in the homes of the people, and I am not
of the temper that takes these things lightly.

In the King’s Speech are many questions that
must be dealt with frankly. There is the conflict in
Abyssinia. 1 want to bring out clearly the issue
that is involved, for some of my hon. Friends for
whom I have great regard have won applause from
the other side of the House on this question. I hope
I may never see the day when I win applause from
the opposite side of the House, I am concerned with
the fact that confusion is being created on this
vital question, and is being used by supporters of
the Government. The great Labour movement in this
country stands for rigid opposition to robber aggression
on principle. These benches represent support for the
Abyssinians, a colonial people, in the fight they are
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making to maintain their independence. That is the
vital difference between this side of the House and the
other. Questions of sanctions and the application
of sanctions cannot be allowed to confuse this
difference.

The leader of the Liberal party yesterday gave ar
exhibition of the most deliberate self—deceptxon on this
point. 1 do not mind his deceiving himself, but :
object to his trying to deceive others. He said that
the Foreign Secretary’s speech at Geneva represented
a change of policy. It represented nothing of the
sort, but cnly a continuation of a policy that has been
pursued by the National Government, adapted to =z
new situation. It represented the brazen hypocrisy
that has appeared time and time again in the utter-
ances of representatives of the Nataonal Government,
How any man could make such a speech, | do no*
know, with a National Government imposing its
military control over Egypt, with the iron heel of
British Imperialism crushing down the Indians. I°
there is to be independence for Abyssinia, for whick
we stand, then there must be independence for Egypt,
for India, for all colonial peoples, and the right of the
colonial peoples to work out their own destiny associ-
ated with and assisted by the more advanced Western:
peoples,

Is the National Governmeént co-operating with the
League of Nations ? Reference was made by the
Leader of the Opposition to dualism, but that word is
being used now to create an entirely wrong impression.
You can easily have an immediate programme and an
ultimate aim. The National Government are pursumc*
not a dual policy but are playmg a double game, and
are preparing, if the opportunity presents 1tself for
what the Americans call a ‘“double cross.”” The
National Government are ready at any moment to
double cross the League of Nations and to double
cross Abyssinia if it can make a deal with Italy. The
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Foreign Secretary when he made his speech was
pursuing exactly the same policy as the previous
Foreign Secretary when he was handling the Japanese
affair. .
Never uatil this situation arose did we see in the
National Government any passionate desire for the
League of Nations. When Japan invaded Manchuria,
the then Foreign Secretary did not support the League
of Nations against Japan ; he became the spokesmagx
for Japan against the League of Nations. Why?
Because he told you that he was trying to get a deal
with Japan that would guarantee British railway
interests in Manchuria and China. The passion for
the I.eague of Nations only arose when British
Imperial and financial interests were threatened in
the North of Africa The attitude of the Nutiona!
Government towards the L.eague of Nations is to utilize
it as tar as it can in order to force [taly to make a
dear for the safeguarding of British interests in the
Sudan and Egypt.

When the right hon. Gentleman the Member for
Warwick and Leamington (Mr. Eden) was in Moscow
last year, he was in a real atmosphere of peace.
iLnterruption | Yes, war does not come from the heart
of human beings, 1t comes as a consequence of the
greed for territory and trading profits. Take away
the incentive of the element of profit and you take
away the incentive for war. In Soviet Russia there
is no desire for any territory outside their own. Stalin
bas said that they do not covet an inch of anybody
else’s territory, but will not give up an inch of their
own. For the building of Socialism they must have
peace, and so a peace policy is being pursued. While
the right hon. Member for Warwick and Leamington
was there in what he himself declared to be a real
peace atmosphere, the Foreign Secretary  was
grovelling before the butcher of Berlin. The door
was slammed shut and you had the spectacle of the

16
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British Foreign Secretary wsziting until he was
given permission to enter. Did that produce peace or
peace discussions ? It produced the German Naval
Pact, drove France away from Britain into the arms
of Italy, and gave [taly the opportunity, as a result
of the unsettling of the whole European situation,
to make an attack upon Abyssinia.

1 challenge anyone to deny that nad there been
no pro-German policy there would have been no war
against Abjyssinia. The German Naval Pact was the
coping stone on the remilitarization of Germany.
There is a Cenotaph in Whitehall, erected to a million
voung Britishers done to death in Flanders and oz
other fronts. There are a million more broken men.
I will take you round some of the asylums, I will take
vou to the hospitals. They were sent to die to destroy
German militarism, which was menacing civilization.
But now German militarism is erected stronger than
sver before. Wil hon. Gentlemen take down the
Cenotaph ? The rearming ot Germany is a serious
guestion, and has brought a menace to the whoie
of civilization.

Now the scene has chapnged. The one-time
Foreign Secretary, Hitler’s Man Friday, is now at the
Home Oiiice. Ve are getting a German invasion of
Lo~cdon. Is any hon. Member prepared to say that
*k’s hLas nothing tc ¢o with bonafide foottall ana
sport ¥ [Inzerrepition.] Hon. Gentlemen may laugh,
but do not let them forget that this invasion may be
tne forerunmner of a different invasion. Whatever
animates the German militarist, whoever they would
desire to crush at the moment, there is one thing will
always stand before them, and that is the hope
that the day may come when they may crush the
Imperialists of Britain and invade London. An hon.
Member with a touch of humour said that if you put
men on to making armaments, 16s. in the .4 will go in
wages. If you put men to dig holes in the sand, 20s.
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in the £ will go in wages. If hon. Members are so
engaged about armaments, why not get men and bcys
piling up metal on each side of the House and we
can settle our quarrels by throwing scrap-iron at
each other.

You canrot ever hope to combat the war spirit
ttat has remramed in Germany by building up arma-
ments. That .can only be done by denouncing the
German Naval Treaty, and then, asscciated with that
greatest peace power in the world, the Soviet Union,
:<~ociated with and supporting the Franco-Soviet
orrce pact, and around this building all the peace
aations of Europe. If you have fifty nations co-
orerating for peace 2nd carryirg forward a steady
oolicy of peace and disarmament, through their
eccncmic and financial power you can force the otker
nat.ons to disarm also. If you use your ecoacmic and
financial power Germany and japan will Te forced
to disarm. The Naticnal Government, compcsed
of Tory die-hards with the discredited remmnants of
other parties thrown in, w!l never lead tlze Sgh:
for peace.

VWhat of defence? Have scu <deended the
niners’ famines in VWales, Lancashire, cn the Neortk:
East Coast znd in Scotland ? Have 3 é
these places—go and lcck at trem—-which give
appearance of a ccuntry that has teen devastated by
the enemy ? Have you defended thke miners ? There
were over 1,000 men killed in the pits last year ancd
nearly 200,000 injured. Have ycu defended them ?
Come with me to the mining villages, and, day after
day, you can see the terrible tragedy of the pit, and
the tragedy of the miners’ homes. Have you
defended the unempiocyed ? We have heard about
the means test. Yesterday the hon. Member for
Bridgeton (Mr. Maxton) drew attention to the
gyrations of hon. Gentlemen opposite in connection
with the means test during the Election. There

SRS I
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was not one Member on the other side prepared
to stand up for the means test as it was
being operated in any industrial constituency in the
country. Why ? Because of the terrible effects tne
means test was having upon men, women and children
in the country. Not one of them would defend 1t or
stand for it. VWhen pressure is brought to bear upon
the matter, we hear some flippant talk-about going to
change it. You are going to change it, but are you
going to compensate in any way for the evil you have
done during the past four years ?

1 have heard of hundreds of cases, but one of the
most outstanding in my miad at the moment is tha:
of one of the heroes who came back trom the war
paralysed. He has lain in bed since the end of tne
war and has never moved. Do you remember the
promise we made as to the treatment thal these
heroces were to receive ? Do you remember how the
duke and the worker were to walk along the road
hand-in-hand, with roses on every side znd happiness
lying close at hand? Here is a paralysed man
lving in bed. His boy grows to manhood—he 1s
twenty-one years of age—and gets a job  The meaas
test is operated in that home Ile is persuaded to
lrave home and live with relatives so that the family
iacome shali not be iuterfered with. He leaves his
bed-ridden tather and weeping mother and goes to his
new home. Hecannot eat ; he cannot sleep. Despair
ssttles upon him, and in a week cumes the end—
suicide. He is driven to death by the means test, as
thousands of others have been done to death. Were
vou anxious for them ? Are you going to change it
because you have seen the ghastly work which you
have done? 1 have seen it, and I cannot forget it.
You have not defended the unemployed and the
mothers and the children. It is all very well for the
Prime Minister, in his introductory speech, to say
that on the question of maternity and midwifery there
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will not be any need 1or political opposition. Itisa
very serious problem and one which is dear to his
heart. The Chiet Medical Officer in his report last
vear drew atteption to the fact that we were making
no headway against msaternal mortality Where does
the trouble come from ? It comes from Jow wages
and low unemployment relief. The mothers and
children have to suffer. You may pay tribute to. or
worship, the Madonra and Chiid, but day after day
you are doing the Madonna and Child to death.

On this side of the House we represent and speak
for the workers of this country, the men who toil and
sweat. [ Hox MEeMBERS: “So do we'’] Ch, you de
speak for the workers, do you? |HoxN. MEMBEPS :
“Ves.”] Allnght We shall see. The leader of the
miners says that theirs is the hardest, most dangerous
and poorest paid job in the couotry. Is there anybody
wto will deny it ? The miners make a demand. They
ballot for it, and the ballot is a record, and we who
speak for and on kehzlf of the miners demand an
increase of 2s. a day for the miners. That is
how we speak for the miners. Now it is your turn.
Speak now. Two shillings a day for the miners.
Speak. you who claim to represent the miners. We
say not a pcnny for armaments It is a crime against
the people of this country to spend another penny on
armaments. Every penny we can get should be on
wages for the miners, towards the health and well-
being of the mothers and the children and adequate
pensions for the aged and infirm. Ten shillings a
week. I would like the Noble Lady to receive only
10s. and then she would change her tune. Last
night the Chancelior of the Exchequer was meeting
some friends, and they were having a dinner, the cost
of which was 33s. per head. Thirty-five shillings per
head for a dinner, and 10s. a week for an aged man
or woman who has given real service to this country
and has worked in factory or mine, We require every
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pennv we can get in order to malke life better for the
working class. If the £7,000.000,000 which we spent
during the war in ruin and destruction had been spent
in making life brighter and better for the people of
this country what a difference it would have made.

1 would make an earnest appeal to hon. Members
of the House who have not vet become case-hardened
in iniquity. The National Government are travelling
the road of 1914, which will surely lead to another
and more terrible war., and to the destruction of
civilization. Are hon. Members going to follow them
down that road ? The party which is represented on
these benches, from which, at the present moment,
I am an outcast, has set itself a task of an entirely
different character, that of travelling along the road
of peace and progress and of spending all that can be
spent in making life higher and better for all. We
invite those of you who are prepared to put service to
a great cause before blind leadership of miserable
pygmies who are giving a pitiful exhibition by mas-
querading as giants, to put first service not to a
National Government such as is presented before us,
but to a Labour Govegnment drawing towards itself
all the very best and most active and progressive
elements from all parties and constituting itself, as a
consequence. a real people’s Government concerned
with the complete reconstruction of this country, with
genuine co-operation with the other peace nations for
preserving world peace, a Government that follows the
road of peace and progress I make an appeal even
while I give a warning. Do not try to stop us on
the road along which we are travelling. Do not try
to block the road by the meshes of legal entangle-
ments or by Fascist gangs. Do not try it, lest an
evil day come upon you and you have to pay a price
far beyond any present reckoning.
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